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TO THE MANAGEMENT OF DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch ("the Branch"), which 
comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at December 31 , 2019, and the Income Statement, Statement of 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summaiy of significant accounting 
policies set out on pages 03 to 85. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Branch as at December 3 I, 2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibililiesfor the Audit of the Financial Stateinents 
section of our report. We are independent of the Branch in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by CA 
Sri Lanka (Code of Ethics) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code 
of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any fonn 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
re port that fact. We have nothing to repo1t in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Branch's ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management e ither intends to liquidate the Branch or to cease operations or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Branch ' s financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that inc ludes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with SLAuSs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of the auditor' s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at Sri 
Lanka Accounting and Auditing Standards website at: ht tp://slaasc .com/aud iti rrn./aucl ito rsrcsponsibil itv.nhµ . 
This description forms part of our auditor' s report 

Chartered Accountants 
Colombo, Sri Lanka 
3 I March 2020 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 

INCOME STATEMENT 

For the year ended 3 !st December 

Gross income 

Interest income 

Interest expenses 

Net interest income 

Fee and commission income 
Fee and commission expenses 

Net fee and commission income 

Net gain from trading 
Net other operating income 

Total operating income 

Impairment ( charge )/reversal 

Net operating income 

Operating expenses 
Personnel expenses 
Depreciation 
Other expenses 

Operating profit before Value Added Tax (VAT) & Nationa Building Tax 
(NBT) on financial services 

Value Added Tax (VAT) on financial services 
Nation Building Tax (NBT) on financial services 

Operating profit after Value Added Tax (VAT) & Nationa Building Tax 
(NBT) on financial services 

Income tax (reversal)/expense 

Profit for the year 

Note 

6 

7 

8 

9 
IO 

11 

12 
24 
13 

14 

2019 
Rs. 

3,867,234,503 

2,876,692, 11 I 
756,311, 156 

2,120,380,955 

353,721 ,773 
23,479,438 

330,242,335 

601, 140,684 
35,679,935 

3,087,443,909 

(44,848,549) 

3,042,595,360 

441,929,640 

69,784,9 15 
1,35 I ,205, 769 

1,179,675,036 

210,647,889 
26,045,233 

942,981,914 

(284,955,995) 

1.227.937,909 

The annexed notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 

3 

2018 
Rs. 

3,634,875,940 

2,283,201,845 
53 I ,083, I 02 

1,752,118,743 

562,491,617 
15,236,938 

547,254,678 

720,427,812 
68,754,666 

3,088,555,899 

409,053 

3,088,964,952 

425,405,159 

26,041,113 
1,427,320, 74 I 

1,210,197,939 

185,513,32 1 
24,854,612 

999,830,006 

56 I ,659,537 

438.170.468 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended 31st December 

Profit for the year 

Items that will be reclassified to income statement 

Net gains/(losses) on investments in debt instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 
Impairment charge/(reversal) relating to Sri Lanka Development Bonds (Note 22.c.) 

Less: Tax expense relating to items that will be reclassified to income statement 

Items that will not be reclassified to income statement 

(Loss)/ Gains on translating the financial statement of FCBU 
Change in fair value on investments in equity instruments designated at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 
Related tax 

Re-measurement of post-employment benefit obligations 
Related tax 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of taxes 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of taxes 

4 

2019 

Rs. 

1,227,937,909 

47,781,531 

47,781,531 

(15,972,352) 

40,738,984 

(11,406,916) 

2018 

Rs. 

438,170,468 

(66,842,592) 

(2,503,404) 

5,174,919 

(64,171,077) 

359,841 ,647 

17,264,106 (1,729,943) 
(4,833,950) 484,384 

------
25,789,872 358,596,088 

73,571,403 294,425,011 

1,301,509,312 732,595,479 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

As at 31st December 2019 2018 

Note Rs. Rs. 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 115,867,718 67,662,700 

Balances with Central Bank 16 7,676,645,448 2,607,526,990 

Placements with banks 17 751,258,420 3,200,611 ,741 

Placements with branches 3,875,053,739 3,659,242,958 

Derivative financial instruments 18 37,878,127 7,553,987 

Group balances receivables 19 1,706,880,2 10 2,382,315,191 

Financial assets measured at fai r value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 20 6,799,440, 126 

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances to customers 21 14,639,695,090 11,977,224,364 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 22 13,740,777,8 11 15,299,739,626 
(FVOCI) 

Property, plant and equipment 23 172,235,260 50,388,409 

Deferred tax assets 24 24,824,126 

Other assets 25 665,587,186 1,838,959,597 

Total assets 50,181!319,135 411116,0491689 

Liabilities 
Due to branches 26 17,816, I 92,003 11 ,773,090,094 

Derivative financial instruments 27 40,243,365 5,582,806 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to depositors 28 16,714,490,579 15,33 1,658,192 

Employee benefit 29 65,170,00 1 113,989,06 I 

Current tax liabilities 30 138,763, 183 586,02 1,807 

Deferred tax liabil ities 24 28,956,365 

Other liabilities 31 217,334,264 422,929,062 

Group balance payable 32 3,157,722,201 2,181,840,805 

Total lia bilitics 38,178,871 ,961 30,415,lll,827 

Equity 
Assigned capital 33 4,410,46 I ,270 4,4 10,46 1,270 

Statutory reserve fund 34 702,905,584 641,508,689 

Retained earnings 35 2,305,422,853 I, 126,451 ,683 

Other reserves 36 4,583,657,467 4,522,5 16,220 

Total shareholders' equ ity 12,002,447,174 10,700,937,862 

Total equity and liabilities 50ll81,319,135 411 ll 6,0491689 

Contingent liabilities and commitments 37 28,435,995,682 22,663,852,082 

The annexed notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 

The Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements. / 

Apprnved aod signed focand on behalfofthe ManagemenL ( ~ / 

... ·~·~···~······· ···· ···················: ········( ·················· Chief Country Officer and GTB Head Sri Lanka Head of Finance 

Vikas Arora 

3 I March 2020 

Colombo 

Somasuriyasingham Janarthanan 
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DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For theyenr e11tfetf 31st December 2019 

Balance as at 1st ,January 2018 

Adjustment on initial application of SLFRS 09 
Re-instatement ofOCI reserve in FCBU financial statements 

Reversal of impairment provision as per LKi\S 39 

Recognition of ECL provision as per SLFRS 09 

Adjusted halancc as of 1st .January 2018 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Profit for the year (net of tax) 

Changes in fair value of FVOCI 

Impairment of l'VOCI Investments 

Actuarial loss in defined benefits plan 

Tax on other comprehensive income 

Gain translating the financial statements of the FCBU 

Total comprehensive income for the yea r 

Transactions with equity holders, recognized directly in equity 

Transfers to reserves during the year 

Profit transferred to Head Office 

Total transactions with equity holders 

Balance as at 31st Decemher 2018 

B:ilance as or 1st .January 2019 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
Profit for the year (net of tax) 

Changes in fair value of rVOCI 

Impairment or rVOCI Investments 

Actuarial gain in defined benefits plan 

Tax on other comprehensive income 

Loss translating the financial statement of the FCBU 

Total comprehensive income for the year 

Transactions with equity holders, recognized directly in eq uity 

Transfers to reserves during lhc year 

Total transactions with equity holders 

~~~ Balance as at 3 1st December2019 

Assigned Capital 

Rs. 

4,4 I 0,46 I ,270 

4,410,46 I ,270 

4,410,461,270 

4,410,461,270 

4,4_10,461,270 

St:itutory Fair Value 
Reserve Fund Resen•e 

Rs. Rs. 

619,600,166 11,964,863 

6,712.755 

35,010,757 

619,600,166 53,688,375 

(66,842,592) 

(2,503,404) 

5, 174,919 

(64,171,077) 

21 ,908,523 

21,908,523 

641,508,689 (I 0,4 82,702) 

641,508,689 ( I 0,482,702) 

40,738,984 

47,781 ,531 

(11,406,916) 

77,113,599 

61,396,895 

61,396,895 

702,905,584 66,630,897 

6 

Reserves 

Retained 
Exchange Exchange Reserve through Total equity 

Earnings 
equalization of equalization of contrihuted assets 

capita l reserve 

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. 

2,152,607,128 309,406,775 122,963,677 3,743,212,907 11,370,216,786 

(6,7 12,755) 

94,021,878 94,021,878 

(43,183,055) (2,426,085) (10,598,383) 

2,196,733,196 309,406,775 120,537,592 3,743,212,907 11,453,640,281 

438,170,468 438,170,468 

(66,842,592) 

(2,503,404) 

(1 ,729,943) ( 1,729,943) 

484,384 5,659,303 

214,227,630 145,614,0 17 359.84 1,64 7 

436,924,909 214,227,630 145,614,017 732,595,479 

(21,908,523) 

(1,485,297,899) (1 ,485,297.899) 

(1,507,206,422) (1,485,297,899) 

I, 126,451,683 523,634,406 266, IS 1,609 3,743,212,907 10,700,937,861 

1,126,451,683 523,634,406 266,151,609 3,743,212,907 10,700,937,862 

1,227,937,909 1,227,937,909 

40,738,984 

47,781 ,53 1 

17,264,106 17,264,106 

(4,833,950) ( 16,240,866) 

(11,236,982) (4,735,370) ( 15,972,352) 

1,240,368,065 (1 1,236,982) (4,735,370) 1,301,509,312 

(61 ,396,895) 

(61,396,895) 

2,305,422,853 512,397,424 261,416,239 3,743,212,907 12,002,447.174 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG-COLOM BO BRANCH 

STATEMENT CASH FLOW 

For the year ended 31st December 2019 2018 
Note Rs. Rs. 

Cash nows from operating activities 

Profit before taxation 942,98 1,914 999,830,006 
Adjustment for: 
Non-cash items included in profits before tax 43 1,227,773,4 17 943, 168,909 
Change in operating assets 44 (8,632,968,621) (7,229,252,482) 

Change in operating liabilities 45 7, I 12,229,530 6,843,284,648 
Dividend income (3,046,550) (2,515,500) 
Net unrealised gain/(loss) from translation of financial statement of foreign 

(15,972,352) 357,415,563 
operation 

Cash generated from operating activities 630,997,338 1,911,931,144 

Contribution paid to defined benefit plans (48,803,762) (10,747,460) 
Income tax paid (373,787,314) (517,450,589) 
Net cash generated from operating activ ities 208,406,262 1,383,733,095 

Cash nows from investing activities 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (163,247,794) (I I ,666,49 I) 
Dividend received from investment 3,046,550 2,515,500 
Net cash used in investing activities (160,201,244) (9,150,991) 

Cash nows from financing activities 
Profit transfer to head office (1,485,297,899) 
Net cash used in financing activities (1,485,297,899) 

Net decrease in cash & cash equivalents 48,205,018 ( 110,715,795) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 67,662,700 178,378,495 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 115,867,718 67,662,700 

Figures in brackets indicate deductions 

The annexed notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. REPORTING ENTITY 

1.1 Reporting entity 

Deutsche Bank AG ("Group'') is a public quoted company incorporated in Germany w ith limited liability, 

which carries out banking activities in Sri Lanka through Deutsche Bank AG, Colombo Branch 

("Branch"). The registered office of Deutsche Bank AG, Colombo Branch and the principle place of 

business are both located at No 86, Galle Road, Colombo 03, Sri Lanka. 

1.2 Principal activities 

The principal activities of the Branch continued to be banking and related activities such as accepting 

deposits, corporate banking, offshore banking, foreign currency operations, trade services, Trust & 

Domestic Custody services, Investment Banking etc. 

1.3 Number of employees 

The permanent staff strength of the Branch as at 31 December 2019 is 66 while the total headcount stood 

at 90. (2018 - 66-pennanent staff) 

1.4 Management Responsibility on Financial Statements 

The Management of the Branch is responsible for preparing and presenting these financial statements in 

accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standard and with the requirements of the Banking Act No 30 of 

1988 and amendments thereto. 

1.5 Approval of Financial Statements by the Management 

These Financial Statements were authorized for issue by the Management on 3 1 March 2020. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

2.1 Statement of compliance 

The financial statements of the Branch have been prepared in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting 

Standards (LKAS) prefixed both SLFRS and LKAS, promulgated by the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of Sri Lanka (ICASL) and comply with the requirements of the Banking Act No 30 of 1988 

and amendments thereto. 

This is the first set of the Branch 's annual financial statements in which SLFRS 16 on "Leases" has been 
applied. The related changes to significant accounting policies are described in Note 5. 

These Financial Statements include the following components: 

• an Income Statement and Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income providing 
the infonnation on the financial performance of the Branch for the year; 

• a Statement of Financial Position providing the information on the financial position of the Branch 
as at the year-end ; 

• a Statement of Changes in Equity depicting all changes in shareholders ' funds during the year;~~ 

~ ~ ~ 

/(\, /;.d 
~ ·1'{/ 1-;,,1.. ~_... 
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DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

• a Statement of Cash Flows providing the information to the users, on the abi lity of the Branch to 

generate cash and cash equivalents and the needs of entities to util ize those cash flows; 

• Notes to the Financial Statements comprising Accounting Policies and other explanatory 

information. 

Going concern assessment of the B.-anch 

The management has made an assessment of its abi lity to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that 

it has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. 

Furthermore, the Management is not aware of any material unce,tainties that may cast significant doubt 

upon the Branch's abil ity to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements of the Branch 

continue to be prepared on a going concern. 

2.2 Functional and presentation currency 

These financial statements are presented in Sri Lankan Rupees (LKR), which is the Branch's functional 

currency. 

There was no change in the Branch's presentation and functiona l currency during the year under review. 

2.3 Basis of measurement 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following material 
items in the statement of financial position: 

Item Basis of Measurement Note Page 

Financial assets measured at fa ir Fair Value 3.3.1.1.5 15 
value through profit or loss 

Derivative assets and derivative Fair Value 3.3.1.1.5 & 15 & 22 
liabil ities held for risk management 3.3.3.2.2 

Financial Assets measured at fair Fair Value 3.3. 1. 1.4 15 
value through other comprehensive 
mcome 

Non-financial assets/liabilities 

Employee benefits Present value of the defined 3.7.3 31 
benefit pension obligation less 
the net total of the pension 
assets 

The Branch maintains separate books for Domestic Banking Unit (DBU) and Foreign Currency Banking 

Unit (FCBU). Accompanying financial statements have been prepared by amalgamating the financial 

statements of the Domestic Banking Unit and Foreign Currency Banking Unit. 

9 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL ST A TEMENTS 

2.4 Basis of amalgamation 

The Branch's Financial Statements comprise the amalgamation of the Financial Statements of the 

Domestic Banking Unit (DBU), the Off-Shore Banking Unit (FCBU). Both units have a common 

financial year which ends on December 31. 

2.5 Presentation of Financial Statements 

The assets and liabilities of the Branch presented in the Statement of Financial Position are grouped by 

nature and listed in an order that reflects their relative liquidity and maturity pattern. 

No adjustments have been made for inflationary factors affecting the Financial Statements. 

Financial assets and financ ial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of 

Financial Position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and 

there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabi Ii ties s imultaneous ly. 

Income and expenses are not offset in the Statement of Profit o r Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

unless required or permitted by an Accounting Standard or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in 

the Accounting Policies of the Branch. 

2.6 Materiality and Agg1·egation 

Each material c lass of s imilar items is presented separately in the financial statements . Items of dissimilar 

nature or function are presented separately unless they are immaterial as permitted by Sri Lanka 

Accounting Standard - LKAS 1 on ' Presentation of Financial Statements'. 

2.7 Comparative Information 

The comparative information is reclassified wherever necessary to conform with the current year' s 
presentation in order to provide better presentation. 

The Branch applied SLFRS 16 - "Leases" usi ng the modified retrospective approach, under which no 

cumulative effect of initial application is recognized in retained earnings as at I January 2019. 

Accordingly, the comparative infonnation presented for 20 18 is not restated - i.e. it is presented, as 

previously reported, under LKAS 17 and related interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting 

policies are disclosed in Note 3. Additionally, the disclosure requirements in SLFRS 16 have not 

generally been applied to comparative information. 

2.8 Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with LKAS/SLFRS requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting polic ies and the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Judgments and estimates are based on historical 

experience and other factors, including expectations that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. Hence actual resu lts may differ from those estimates and judgmenta l decisions. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affec.ted. 
~~ 

IO 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL ST A TEMENTS 

2.8.1 Judgments 

Information about judgments made in apply ing accounting policies that have the most significant effects 
on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the following notes. 

Note 3 .3. l.2 classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the 
assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial assets are Solely 
Payment of Principal and Interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding 

- Note 3.3.2.l establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset has 
increased sign ificantly since initial recognition, determining methodology for incorporating 
forward-looking information into measurement of Expected Credit Loss (ECL) and selection and 
approval models used to measure ECL 

- Going Concern: the Management has made an assessment of the Branch's ability to continue as a 
going concern and are satisfied that it has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future 

2.8.2 Assumptions and estimation uncertainties 

Information about assumptions and estimation certainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a 
material adjustment included in the following notes: 

Note 3.3.2 :impairment of financial instruments: determining inputs into the ECL measurement 
model, including incorporation of forward looking information. 

Note 3.3.4 :detennination of the fair value of financial instruments with significant unobservable 
inputs. 

Note 3 . 7 .3 : measurement of defined benefit obi igations: key actuarial assumptions . 

Note 3 .2.1.b : recognition of deferred tax assets: availabi lity of future taxable profit against which cany 
forward tax losses can be utilized . 

Note 3.8 : recognition and measurement of contingencies: key assumptions about the likelihood and 
magnitude of an outflow of resources. 

2.9 Off-setting 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards (SLFRSs/LKASs), or for gains and losses arising from a FCBU of simi lar transactions such as 
in the FCBU's trading activity. 

2.10 Changes in Accounting Policies 

The Branch has consistently applied the accounting policies as set out in Notes 03 on pages 12 to 36 to 
all periods presented in these financial statements 

I I 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The Branch has consistently applied the accounting po licies set out below to all period presented in these 

Financial Statements. 

3.1 Foreign cunency transactions 

3.1.1 Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign cuiTencies are trans lated to the respective functional currencies of the Branch at 

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilit ies denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 

retranslated to the fu nctional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fai r value was determined. 

Foreign currency d ifferences arising on retranslation are recognized in profit or loss, Non-monetary items 

that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate 

at the date of the transaction. 

3.1.2 Translation of Measurement Currency 

The Branch uses Sri Lankan Rupees as their measurement currency for Domestic Banking Unit and 

Un ited State Dollars as their measurement currency for Foreign C urrency Banking Unit books. 

For amalgamation purposes accompa ny ing Financial Statements have been prepared in Sri Lankan 

Rupees after convert ing the Foreign Currency Banking Un it financial statements into Sri Lankan Rupees . 

The trans lation is perfonned based on the guidelines in LKAS 2 1 "The Effects of Changes in Foreign 

Exchange Rates" stated below: 

• All assets and liabilities ( i.e. including comparatives) are translated at the closing rate of each 

reporting date 

• Income and expense items for all periods (i.e. including comparatives) are translated at average 

exchange rates pertaining to each period 

• Equity items other than the net profit or loss for the period are translated at the historical rate existing 

at the date of each transaction 

All exchange differences resulting from translation in accordance with the above are recognized in Other 

Comprehensive Income. 

3.2 Taxation 

3.2.1 Income Tax Expenses 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognized in profit o r loss except to the 

extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equi ty or in other comprehe ns ive income. 

Penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain tax treatments, a re accounted for under LKAS 37 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
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a) Current Taxation 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 

and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current 

tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects 

uncettainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted o r substantively enacted 

at the reporting date. 

According to Inland Revenue Act, provision for taxation is made on the basis on the accounting profit for 

the year as adjusted for taxation purpose in accordance with the provision of the applicable Inland Revenue 

Act. In estimating tax computation, the Branch had applied the provisions Inland Revenue Act No. IO of 

2006 and the amendments there to until 31st March 2018 and the provision of the Inland Revenue Act No 
24 of2017 and the amendments thereto, 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

b) Deferred Taxation 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 

purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement 

of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the 
repo1ting date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 

available against which the future asset can be utilized . Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that 
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

3.2.2 Other taxes 

a) Crop Insurance Levy (CIL) 

As per the provision of the section 14 of the finance Act No.12 of 2013 , the CIL was introduced with effect 

from April O I, 2013 and is payable to the Nation Insurance Trust Fund, Currently, the CIL is payable at 
I% of the profit after tax. 

b) Value Added Tax on Financial Services (VAT) 

The value base for the computation of value added tax on financial services is calculated by adjusting the 

depreciation computed on rates prescribed by Depaitment of Inland Revenue to the accounting profit 

before Income tax and emoluments payable. Emoluments payable include benefits in money and not in 

money including contribution or provis ion relating to terminal benefits. 

c) Nation Building Tax on Financial Services (NBT) 

With effect from January O I , 2014 N BT of 2% was introduced on supply on financial services via an 

amendment to the NBT Act No.09, of 2009. NBT is charged on the same basis used for calculation of 

VAT on financial services as explained above. NBT was abolished from December 2019 onwards. -~ - ~ 
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The amount of Value Added Tax and NBT charged in determining the profit or loss for the period is given 

in the profit or loss. 

d) Economic Service Charge (ESC) 

As per provision of the Economic Service Charge (ESC) Act No.13 of2006 and subsequent amendments 

thereto, ESC is payable on aggregate turnover of the Branch at 0.5% and is deductible from Income tax 

payable. This tax was abolished by the government with the effect from I st January 2020. 

e) Debt Repayment Levy (DRL) 

With effect from I October 2018, DRL of 7% was introduced on the value addition attributable to the 

supply of financial services through an amendment to the Finance Act, No. 35 of20 I 8. DRL is chargeable 

on the same base used for calculation of VAT on financial services before deducting the VAT and NBT 

on financial services. This Levy was abolished by the government with the effect from I st January 2020. 

ASSETS AND BASES OF THEffi VALUATION 

3.3 Financial Instruments - Classification, Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement 
Financial Assets and Liabilities 

3.3.1.1 Financial assets 

3.3.1.1.1 Recognition and measurement 

The financial asset is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or 
loss, transaction cost that are directly attributable to its acquisition. Loans and advances are initially 
recognized on the date at which they are originated at fair value which is usually the loan amount granted 
and subsequent measurement is at amortized cost. 

The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective 
interest method of any difference between the initial amount recognized and the maturity amount, minus 
any reduction for impairment. 

All other financial assets are initially recognized on the trade date at which the Branch becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

3.3.1.1.2 Classification 

On initial recognition, the Branch classifies financial assets as measured at: 
Amortized cost, 
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and 
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

3.3.1.1.3 Financial assets measured at amortized costs 

A financial asset is classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost if the financial asset is held in 
a Hold to Collect business model and the contractual cash flows are SPPI. Under this measurement 
category, the financial asset is measured at fair value at initial recognition. Subsequently the cany ing 
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amount is reduced for principal payments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective 
interest method. Financial assets measured at a111011ized cost are recognized on a settlement date basis. 

3.3. 1.1.4 Financial assets at fair value through other· comprehensive income 

A financial asset shall be classified and measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income 
(" FVOCI"), if the financial asset is held in a Hold to Collect and Sell business model and the contractual 
cash flows are SPPI , unless designated under the fair value option. 

Under FVOCI, a financial asset is measured at its fair value with any changes being recognized in Other 
Comprehensive Income ("OCI" ) and is assessed for impairment under the SLFRS 9 expected credit loss 
model where provisions are recorded through profit or loss are recognized based on expectations of 
potential credit losses. The interest component by using the effective interest method. The amortization of 
premiums and accretion of discounts are recorded in net interest income. Realized gains and losses are 
reported in net gains (losses) on financial assets at FVOCI. Generally, the weighted-average cost method 
is used to determine the cost of FVOCI financial assets. 
Financial assets classified as FVOCI are recognized or derecognized on trade date. Trade date is the date 
on which the Branch commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

3.3.1.1.5 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss if they are held in the other business model 
because they are either held for trading or because they do not meet the criteria for Hold to Collect or Hold 
to Collect and Sell. In addition, it includes financial assets that meet the criteria for Hold to Collect or Hold 
to Collect and Sell business model, but the financial asset fails SPPI or where the Branch designated the 
financial assets under the fair value option. Financial assets classified as Financial Assets at fair value 
through profit or loss are measured at fair value with realized and unrealized gains and losses included in 
Net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Interest on interest 
earning assets such as trading loans and debt securities and dividends on equity instruments are presented 
in Interest and Similar Income. 

Financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss are recognized or derecognized on trade date. 
Trade date is the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

3.3.1.2 Business model assessment 

The Branch makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a 
portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to 
the Management. The infonnation considered includes: 

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and repo1ted to the Branch's Management; 
- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 

that business model) and how those risks are managed; 
- how managers of the business are compensated - e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair 

value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and 
- The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its 

expectations about future sales activity. However, info1mation about sales activity is not 
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Branch's stated objective 
for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realized. 

For the purposes of this assessment, "principal" is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 
recognition. "Interest" is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit ri~ 
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associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic 
lending risks and costs, as well as profit margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Branch 
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset 
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it 
would not meet this condition. 

In making the assessment, the Branch considers: 
- contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows; 
- leverage features; 
- prepayment and extension terms; 
- terms that limit the Branch's claim to cash flows from 
- specified assets; and 
- Features that modify consideration of the time value of money. 

3.3.1.3 Reclassification 
--.;:-­

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except and only in those rare 
circumstances when the Branch 's changes its objective of the business model for managing such financial 
assets. Financial Liabilities are not reclassified as such reclassifications are not permitted by SLFRS 9. 

3.3.1.4 De-recognition of financial assets 

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has 
expired; or when Branch has transferred its contractual right to receive the cash flows of the financial 
assets, and either -

- Substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred; or 
- Branch has neither retained nor transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, but has not 

retained control of the financial asset. 

3.3.1.5 Modifications of financial assets 

When the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified and the modification does not result in 
de-recognition, a gain or loss is recognized in the income statement as the difference between the original 
contractual cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The 
modified financial asset will continue to accrue interest at its original EIR. 

Noncredit related or commercial renegotiations where an obliger has not experienced a significant increase 
in credit risk since origination, and has a readily exercisable right to early terminate the financial asset 
results in derecognition of the original agreement and recognition of a new financial asset based on the 
newly negotiated commercial terms. 

For credit re lated modifications (i.e., those modifications due to significant increase in credit risk s ince 
inception) or those where the obliger does not have the readily exercisable right to early terminate, the 
Branch assesses whether the modified terms result in the financ ia l asset being significantly modified and 
therefore derecognized. This assessment includes a quantitative assessment of the impact of the change in 
cash flows from the modification of contractual terms and additionally where necessary a qualitative 
assessment of the impact of the change in the contractual terms. Where these modifications are not 
concluded to be significant, the financial asset is not derecognized and is accounted for as a modification 
as described above. 

If the changes are concluded to be significant, the old instrument is derecognized and a new instrument 
recognized. Where a modification results in a new financial asset being recognized, the date of the 
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modification is the date of initial recognition of the new financial asset. The Branch then recognizes a 
credit loss allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses at each repo1ting date. 

3.3.1.5.1 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins in hand, unrestricted balances held with the Central 

Banks of Sri Lanka and highly liquid financial assets with maturities of three months or less from the 

acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the 

Branch in the management of its short-term commitments. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position. 

3.3.1.6 Statutory deposits with Central Bank 

The Monetary Law Act requires that all commercial banks operating in Sri Lanka to maintain reserves 

against all deposit liabilities denominated in Sri Lankan Rupees. The details of reserve requirements are 

given in Note 16 to the Financial Statements. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position. 

3.3.1.7 Del"ivatives 

Derivatives are used to manage exposures to interest rate, foreign currency, credit and other market price 

risks, including exposures arising from forecast transactions. All freestanding contracts that are considered 

derivatives for accounting purposes are carried at fair value on the statement of financial position 

regardless of whether they are held for trading or non-trading purposes. 

Changes in fair value on derivatives held for trading are included in net gains/ (losses) from financial 

instruments at fair value through profit or loss on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss. 

3.3.2 Identification and measurement of impairment 

3.3.2.l Recognition of impairment of financial assets 

The determination of impairment losses an expected credit loss (" ECL") model under SLFRS 9, where 

allowances are taken upon initial recognition of the Financial Asset, based on expectations of potential 

credit losses at the time of initial recognition. 

Staged approach to the determination of expected credit losses 

SLFRS 9 introduces a three-stage approach to impairment for Financial Assets that are not credit impa ired 

at the date of origination or purchase. This approach is summarized as follows: 

- Stage l: The Branch recognizes a credit loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit 

losses. This represents the portion of lifetime expected credit losses from default events that are expected 

within 12 months of the reporting date, assuming that credit risk has not increased significantly after initial 

recognition. 
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- Stage 2: The Branch recognizes a credit loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 

losses for those Financial Assets which are considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition. This requires the computation of ECL based on lifetime probability of default, 

lifetime loss given default and lifetime exposure at default that represents the probability of default 

occurring over the remaining lifetime of the Financial Asset. Allowance for credit losses are higher in this 

stage because of an increase in credit risk and the impact of a longer time horizon being considered 

compared to 12 months in Stage I. 

- Stage 3: The Branch recognizes a loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses, 

reflecting a Probability of Default of I 00 %, via the expected recoverable cash flows for the asset, for 

those Financial Assets that are credit-impaired. The Branch's definition of default is aligned with the 

regulatory definition. Financial Assets that are credit impaired upon initial recognition are categorized 

within Stage 3 with a carrying value already reflecting the lifetime expected credit losses. The accounting 

treatment for these purchased or originated credit-impaired ("POCI") assets is discussed further below. 

Significant increase in credit risk 

Under SLFRS 9, when determining whether the credit risk (i.e., risk of default) of a Financial Asset has 

increased significantly since initial recognition, the Branch considers reasonable and supp01table 

information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes quantitative and 

qualitative infonnation based on the Branch's historical experience, credit risk assessment and forward­

looking information (including macro-economic factors). The assessment of significant credit 

deterioration is key in determining when to move from measuring an allowance based on 12-month ECLs 

to one that is based on lifetime ECLs (i.e., transfer from Stage I to Stage 2). 

Credit impaired financial assets in Stage 3 

The Branch has aligned its definition of credit impaired under SLFRS 9 to when a Financial Asset has 

defaulted for regulatory purposes, However the Branch does not have any Assets coming under Stage 3 

category. 

The determination of whether a Financial Asset is credit impaired and therefore in Stage 3 focusses 

exclusively on default risk, without taking into consideration the effects of credit risk mitigate such as 

collateral or guarantees. Specifically, a Financial Asset is credit impaired and in Stage 3 when: 

- The Branch considers the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Branch. Determination 

may include forbearance actions, where a concession has been granted to the borrower or economic or 

legal reasons that are qualitative indicators of credit impairment; or 

- Contractual payments of either principal or interest by the obliger are past due by more than 90 days. 

For Financial Assets considered to be credit impaired, the ECL allowance covers the amount of loss the 

Branch is expected to suffer. The estimation ofECLs is done on a case-by-case basis for non-homogeneous 

portfolios, or by applying portfolio based parameters to individual Financial Assets in these portfolios via 

the Branch' s ECL model for homogeneous pottfolios. This estimate includes the use of discounted cash 

flows that are adjusted for scenarios. 
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Forecasts of future economic conditions when calculating ECLs are considered. The lifetime expected 

losses are estimated based on the probability-weighted present value of the difference between the 

contractual cash flows that are due to the Branch under the contract; and the cash flows that the Branch 

expects to receive. 

A Financial Asset can be classified as credit impaired in Stage 3 but without an allowance for credit losses 

(i.e., no impairment loss is expected). This may be due to the value of collateral. The Branch's engine 

based ECL calculation is conducted on a monthly basis, whereas the case-by-case assessment of ECL in 

Stage 3 for non-homogeneous po1tfolio has to be performed at least on a quaiterly basis. 

Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets in Stage 3 

A Financial Asset is considered purchased or originated credit-impaired if there is objective evidence of 

impairment at the time of initial recognition. Such credit impaired Financial Assets are termed POCI 

Financial Assets. POCI Financial Assets are measured to reflect lifetime expected credit losses, and all 

subsequent changes in lifetime expected credit losses, whether positive or negative, are recognized in the 

income statement as a component of the provision for credit losses. POCI Financial Assets can only be 
classified in Stage 3 over the life of the Financial Asset. 

Collateral for financial assets considered in the impairment analysis 

SLFRS 9 requires cash flows expected from collateral and other credit enhancement to be reflected in 
the ECL calculation. The following are key aspects with respect to collateral and guarantees: 

Eligibility of collateral, i.e. which collateral should be considered in the ECL calculation; 
Collateral evaluation, i.e. what collateral (liquidation) value should be used; and 
Projection of the available collateral amount over the life of a transaction. 

The Branch recognizes loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on the following financial 
instruments that are not measured at FVTPL: 

Financial assets that are debt instruments; 
Financial guarantee contracts issued; and 
Loan commitments issued 

No impairment loss is recognized on equity investments. 

The Branch measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for 
which they are measured as 12-month ECL: 

Debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
Other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not increased 
significantly since their initial recognition. 

The Branch considers a debt security to have low credit risk when their credit risk rating is equivalent to 
the globally understood definition of " investment grade'. 12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result 
from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the repmting 
date. 

The Branch recognizes loss allowance using Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on loans and receivables to 
customers and other financial assets measured at amortized cost model using dual measurement approach 
which the loss allowance is measured as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit 
losses. 12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that 
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are possible within the 12 months after the repmting date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month 
ECL is recognized are referred to as "stage 1 Financial Instruments" . 

Life-time ECL are the ECL that result from a ll possible default events over the expected life of the financial 
instrument. Financial instruments for which a life-time ECL is recognized but which are not credit­
impaired are referred to as "stage 2 Financial Instruments", and credit impaired are referred to as "stage 3 
Financial Instruments. 

Measurement of impairment of financial assets 

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows: 
Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash 
sho1tfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract 
and the cash flows that the Branch expects to receive); 
Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows; 
Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows 
that are due to the Branch if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Branch expects 
to receive; and 
Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that 
the Branch expects to recover. 

Collective assessment: 

This includes all loans and advances of smaller value where there is no evidence of impairment and those 
individually assessed for which no evidence of impainnent has been specifically identified on an individual 
basis. 

These loans and advances are grouped together as per Basel Guidelines and product level according to 
their credit risk characteristics for the purpose of calculating an estimated collective impainnent. 

- In making an assessment of whether an investment in debt instrument is credit-impaired, the 
Branch considers the following factors: 

- The market's assessment of creditw01thiness as reflected in the bond yields. 
- The rating agencies' assessments of creditworthiness. 
- The count,y's ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance. 
- The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through volunta1y 

or mandatory debt forgiveness. 
- The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as " lender of last 

resort" to that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments 
and agencies to use those mechanisms. This includes an assessment of the depth of those 
mechanisms and, irrespective of the political intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfi l the 
required criteria. 

Restructured financial assets 

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with 
a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial 
asset should be derecognized and ECL are measured as follows: 

- If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the_ 
expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the -cash~ 
sho1tfalls from the existing asset. 

1 
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- ]fthe expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected 
fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the 
time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash sho1tfalls from the 
existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the 
reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset. 

3.3.2.2 Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

Financial assets measured at amo1tized cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of 
the assets; 
Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision; 

- Where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Branch 
cannot identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn 
component: the Branch presents a combined loss allowance for both components: The combined 
amount is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. 
Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as 
a provision; and 
Debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognized in the statement of 
financial position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the 
loss allowance is disclosed and is recognized in the fair value reserve. 

3.3.2.3 Write-off of financial assets 

The Branch reduces the gross carrying amount of a Financial Asset when there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovery. 

Write-offs can relate to a Financial Asset in its entirety, or to a portion of it, and constitute a derecognition 
event. The Branch considers all relevant information in making this determination, including but not 
limited to: 

Foreclosure actions taken by the Branch which have not been successful or have a high 
probability of not being successful 
Collateral liquidation which has not, or will not lead to further considerable recoveries 
Situations where no further recoveries are reasonably expected 

Write-offs can take place before legal actions against the borrower to recover the debt have been 
concluded, and a write-off does not involve the Branch forfeiting its legal right to recover the debt. 

3.3.3 Financial liabilities 

3.3.3.1 Recognition and measurement of financial liabilities 

On initial recognition, the Branch classifies financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan 
commitments, into one of the following categories: 

Financial liabilities at amo1tized cost; and 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 

3.3.3 .2 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification. 
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3.3.3.2.1 Financial liabilities at amortized cost 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include long-term and sho1t-tenn debt issued which are 
initially measured at fair value, which is the cons ideration received, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Repurchases of issued debt in the market are treated as extinguishments and any related gain or loss is 
recorded in the Income Statement. A subsequent sale of own bonds in the market is treated as a re issuance 
of debt. Financial liabilities measured at amo1tized cost are recognized on a settlement date basis. 

3.3.3.2.2 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include Trading Liabilities, Financial Liabilities 
Designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss and Non-Participating Investment Contracts ("Investment 
Contracts"). They are carried at fair value with realized and unrealized gains and losses included in net 
gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. However under SLFRS 
9, for financial liabilit ies designated at fair value through profit and loss the fa ir value movements 
attributable to the Branch's own credit component for fair value movements is recognized in Other 
Comprehensive Income rather than in the Statement oflncome. 
Financial liabi lities classified at fair value through profit or loss are recognized or derecognized on trade 
date. Trade date is the date on which the Branch commits to issue or repurchase the financial liability. 

Interest on interest paying liabilities are presented in interest expense for financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

Trading Liabilities - Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they have been originated or 
incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing them in the near term. Trading liabilities consist 
primarily of derivative liabilities (including ce11ain loan commitments) and short positions. This also 
includes loan commitments that are a llocated to the other business model and that are classified as 
derivatives held for trading. 

Financial Liabilities Designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss - Certain financial liabilities that do 
not meet the definition of trading liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair 
value option. To be designated at fair value through profit or loss, financial liabi lities must meet one of 
the following c riteria: (I) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency; (2) a group of financial liabilities is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair 
value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or (3) the instrument 
contains one or more embedded derivatives unless: (a) the embedded derivative does not significantly 
modify the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the contract; or (b) it is c lear with little or no 
analysis that separation is prohibited. 

3.3.3.3 Deposits 

Depos its are the Branch's sources of debt funding. 

Deposits include non-interest-bearing deposits, savings deposits, term deposits and deposits redeemable 

at cal l. Borrowings include repurchase borrowings, call and time deposits, Vostro balances and borrowings 

from financial institutions. 

Subsequent to initial recognition deposits are measured at their amo1tized cost using the effective interest 

method, except where the Branch designates liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

3.3.3.4 De-recognition of Financial Liabilities 

Branch derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancel led or 
expired. 
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3.3.4 Determination of Fair Value 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

arm's length transaction (orderly transaction) between market participants at the measurement date. The 

fair value of instruments that are quoted in active markets is determined using the quoted prices where 

they represent those at which regularly and recently occurTing transactions take place. The Branch 

measures certain portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of their net risk 

exposures when the following criteria are met: 

- the group of financial assets and liabilities is managed on the basis of its net exposure to a particular 

market risk (or risks) or to the credit risk of a particular counterpaity, in accordance with a documented 

risk management strategy, 

- the fair values are provided to key management personnel, and 

- the financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

This portfolio valuation approach is consistent with how the Branch manages its net exposures to market 

and counterparty credit risks. 

Critical Accounting Estimates - The Branch uses valuation techniques to establish the fair value of 

instruments where prices quoted in active markets are not available. Therefore, where possible, parameter 

inputs to the valuation techniques are based on observable data derived from prices ofrelevant instruments 

traded in an active market. These valuation techniques involve some level of management estimation and 

judgment, the degree of which will depend on the price transparency for the instrument or market and the 

instrument's complexity. 

In reaching estimates of fair value management judgment needs to be exercised. The areas requiring 

significant management judgment are identified, documented and reported to senior management. The 

specialist model validation and valuation control groups focus attention on the areas of subjectivity and 

judgment. 

The level of management judgment required in establishing fair value of financial instruments for which 

there is a quoted price in an active market is usually minimal. Similarly there is little subjectivity or 

judgment required for instruments valued using valuation models which are standard across the industry 

and where all parameter inputs are quoted in active markets. 

The level of subjectivity and degree of management judgment required is more significant for those 

instruments valued using specialized and sophisticated models and where some or all of the parameter 

inputs are less liquid or less observable. Management judgment is required in the selection and application 

of appropriate parameters, assumptions and modelling techniques. In particular, where data are obtained 

from infrequent market transactions then extrapolation and interpolation techniques must be applied. 

Where no market data are available for a particular instrument then pricing inputs are determined by 

assessing other relevant sources of information such as historical data, fundamental analysis of the 

economics of the transaction and proxy information from similar transactions, and making appropriate 

adjustment to reflect the actual instrument being valued and current market conditions. Where different 

valuation techniques indicate a range of possible fair values for an instrument then management has to 

decide what point within the range of estimates appropriately represents the fair value. Further, some 

valuation adjustments may require the exercise of management judgment to achieve fair value. 
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Under SLFRS, the financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are required to be disclosed according 

to the inputs to the valuation method that are used to determine their fair value. Specifically, segmentation 

is required between those valued using quoted market prices in an active market ( level I), valuation 

techniques based on observable parameters (level 2) and valuation techniques using significant 

unobservable parameters (level 3). Management judgment is required in determining the category to which 

certain instruments should be allocated. This specifical ly arises when the valuation is determined by a 

number of parameters, some of which are observable and others are not. Fu11her, the c lassification of an 

instrument can change over time to reflect changes in market liquidity and therefore price transparency. 

3.3.4.1 Fair Value Hierarchy 

The financial instruments carried at fair value have been categorized under the three levels of the SLFRS 

fair value hierarchy as follows : 

Level 1 - Instruments valued using quoted prices in active markets are instruments where the fair value 

can be determined directly from prices which are quoted in active, liquid markets and where the instrument 

observed in the market is representative of that being priced in the Branch's inventory. 

Level 2 - Instruments valued with valuation techniques using observable market data are instruments 

where the fair value can be determined by reference to similar instruments trading in active markets, or 

where a technique is used to derive the valuation but where all inputs to that technique are observable. 

Level 3 - Instruments valued using valuation techniques using market data which is not directly observable 

are instruments where the fair value cannot be detennined directly by reference to market-observable 

information, and some other pricing technique must be employed. fns truments classified in this category 

have an e lement which is unobservable and which has a significant impact on the fair value. 

3.3.5 Recognition of Trade Date Profit 

If there are significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation technique, the financial instrument is 

recognized at the transaction price and any profit implied from the valuation technique at trade date is 

deferred. 

Us ing systematic methods, the deferred amount is recognized over the period between trade date and the 

date when the market is expected to become observable, or over the life of the trade (whichever is shorter). 

Such methodology is used because it reflects the changing economic and risk profi le of the instrument as 

the market develops or as the instrument itself progresses to maturity. Any remaining trade date deferred 

profit is recognized in the profit or loss when the transaction becomes observable or the Branch enters into 

off-setting transactions that substantially e liminate the instrument's risk. In the rare circumstances that a 

trade date loss arises, it would be recognized at inceptio n of the transaction to the extent that it is probable 

that a loss has been incurred and a reliable estimate of the loss amount can be made. 

Critica l Accounting Estimates - Management judgment is required in determining whether there exist 

significant unobservable inputs in the valuation technique. Once deferred, the decision to subsequently 

recognize the trade date profit requires a care ful assessment of the then current facts and circumstances 

suppo11ing observabi lity of parameters and/or risk mitigation. 

As of the reporting date, the Branch does not have any trade date profit repo1ied . 
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3.3.6 Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Branch's non-financial assets are reviewed at each rep011ing date to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable 

amount is estimated. For intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for 

use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable 

amount. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre­

tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 

to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 

together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows of other assets. 

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

3.4 Property, plant and equipment 

3.4.1 Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses if any. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self­

constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to 

bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing 

the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and capitalised borrowing costs. Cost also may 

include transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency 

purchases of property and equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related 

equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 

When parts of an item of property, plant or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 

as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of prope1ty, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the 

proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the item of property, plant and equipment, and is 

recognised in other operating income/other overhead expenses in the profit or loss. 

3.4.2 Subsequent costs 

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 

amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the pa11 will flow 

to the Branch and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced pat1 is 

derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in tife - '\-. 
profit or loss as incurred. , 
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3.4.3 Depreciation 

Depreciation is recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 

each part of an item of property, plant and equipment since this most closely reflects the expected pattern 

of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows: 

Item Useful life (years) 

Computer equipment 3 - 5 

Office equipment, furniture & fittings, fixtures 5 

Safes 5 - 20 
Telephone/Tele printer, Air-conditioners 8 - 8 

Others 3 - I 0 
Depreciation ofan asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at the earlier of the dates on which 

the asset is classified as held for sale or is derecognized. 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each repo1ting date and adjusted 

if appropriate. 

3.4.4 Valuation of Immovable Property kept as collateral on staff loans 

The Branch will request the borrower to obtain a valuation report from a ce1tified valuer acceptable to the 

Branch of immovable properties held by the Branch as collateral in support of staff loans to its employees. 

Credit decisions of the Branch shall be based upon suitable documents, obtained through valid sources as 

below; 

a) A corporate member of the Institute of Valuers of Sri Lanka (IVSL) 

b) A fellow member of the Royal Institute of Chattered Surveyors of the United Kingdom (RICS). 

c) Any other member of RICS with 3 years' experience in such grade of membership. 

d) Valuers eligible as per the qualifications set out in section 3.8 a), b) and c) above should acquire 

Continuous Professional Development as approved/recommended by the respective professional body 

The Branch has prescribed the necessity of revaluations during below mentioned circumstance; 

a) In respect of non-performing loans, to adhere with the conditions stipulated in the Banking Act 

Directions No. 3 of 2008 on Classification of Loans and Advances, Income Recognition and 

Provisioning, i.e. facility/ies where the Branch shall obtain an external valuation report once in every 3 

years if capital outstanding amount is equal or more than Rs. 5,000,000 or 0.1 % of the Branch' s capital 

base, whichever is less . 

b) Cost of revaluation shall be borne by the Branch. 

In respect of credit facilities granted against residential property which is occupied by the borrower for 

residential purposes, the Branch shall accept valuation reports not older than 4 years provided the report 
is originating from a certified valuer acceptable to the Branch. 
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3.5 Leases 

The Branch has applied SLFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the 

comparative information has not been restated and continues to be repo1ted under LKAS 17 and IFRIC 4. 

The details of accounting policies under LKAS 17 and IFRIC 4 are disclosed separately . 

The Branch enters into lease contracts, predominantly for land and buildings, as a lessee. Other categories 
are company cars and technical/IT equipment. 

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 
At inception of a contract, the Branch assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 

time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an 

identified asset, the Branch uses the definition of a lease in SLFRS 16. 

This policy is applied to contracts entered into (or changed) on or after l January 20 I 9. 

3.5.1 As a lessee 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Branch allocates 

consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone price. However, 

for leases of prope1ty the Branch has elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for the 

lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. 

The Branch recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right­

of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted 

for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred 

and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or 

the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 

date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Branch 

by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Branch wi ll exercise a 

purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful I ife of the underlying 

asset, which is detennined on the same basis as those of prope1ty, plant and equipment. In addition, the 

right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for ce1tain 

remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 

determined, the Branch's incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Branch uses its incremental 

borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

The Branch determines its incremental borrowing rate by analysing its borrowings from various external 

sources and makes ce1tain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased. 

Accordingly, Branch discounted its lease payments at the 12 months SLIBOR rate of 11 .81 % as at 

January 2019. 
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Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

as at the commencement date; 

- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 

- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Branch is reasonably ce1tain to exercise, lease 

payments in an optional renewal period if the Branch is reasonably certain to exercise an extension 

option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Branch is reasonably certain not to 

terminate early. 

The lease liability is measured at amottised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when 

there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in 

the Branch' s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Branch 

changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there 

is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 

amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 

asset has been reduced to zero. 

The Branch presents right-of-use assets 111 'prope1ty and equipment' and lease liabilities in 'other 

liabilities' in the statement of financial position. 

3.5.2 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Branch has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value 

assets and sho1t-term leases. The Branch recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an 

expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

3.5.3 As a lessor 

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Branch allocates the 

consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative standalone prices. 

When the Branch acts as a lessor, it detenn ines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or 

an operating lease. 

To classify each lease, the Branch makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially 

all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the 

lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As pait of this assessment, the Branch considers 

ce1tain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major pait of the economic life of the asset. 

When the Branch is an inte rmediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease 

separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising 

from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to 

which the Branch applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating 
lease. 
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If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Branch applies SLFRS 15 to allocate 

the consideration in the contract. The Branch applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in 

SLFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease. The Branch fu1ther regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed 

residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease. 

The Branch recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term as part of "other revenue" . 

Generally, the accounting policies applicable to the Branch as a lessor in the comparative period were not 

different from SLFRS 16. 

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019 

3.5.4 Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease 

At inception of an arrangement, the Branch determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease. 

At inception or on reassessment of an arrangement that contains a lease, the Branch separates payments 

and other consideration required by the arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements 

on the basis of their relative fair values. If the Branch concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable 

to separate the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair 

value of the underlying asset; subsequently, the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed 

finance cost on the liability is recognised using the Branch's incremental borrowing rate. 

3.5.S Leased Assets 

Leases ofprope1ty, plant and equipment that transfer to the Branch substantially all of the risks and rewards 

of ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased assets are measured initially at an amount equal 

to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, the assets are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognised in the Branch' s 

statement of financial pos ition . 

3.5.6 Lease Payments 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 

of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral pa1t of the total lease expense, over 

the term of the lease. Contingent rents, if any, are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are 

earned. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are appo1tioned between the finance expense and the 

reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
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3.6 PROVISIONS 

A provision is recognized in the Financial Position when the Branch has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 

the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the net estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation as of the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 

obi igation. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted and measured at the present 

value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation, using a pre-tax rate that reflects 

the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The 

increase in the provision due to the passage ohime is recognized as interest expense. 

When some or all of all the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 

from a third pa1ty (for example, because the obligation is covered by an insurance policy), an asset is 

recognized if it is vi1tually ce1tain that reimbursement will be received . 

Critical Accounting Estimates - The use of estimates is important in determining provisions for potential 

losses that may arise from litigation, regulatory proceedings and uncertain income tax positions. The 

Branch estimates and provides for potential losses that may arise out of litigation, regulatory proceedings 

and uncertain income tax positions to the extent that such losses are probable and can be estimated. 

3.6.1 Financial guarantees 

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse 

the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance 

with the tenns of a debt instrument. 

The Branch has chosen to apply the fair value option to certain written financial guarantees that are 

managed on a fair value basis. Financial guarantees that the Branch has not des ignated at fair value are 

recognized initially in the financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee is given. Subsequent 

to initial recognition, the Branch's liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the 

amount initially recognized, less cumulative amortization, and the best estimate of the expenditure 

required to settle any financial obligation as of the reporting date. These estimates are detenn ined based 

on experience with similar transactions and history of past losses, and management's determination of the 

best estimate. 

Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees would be recorded in the profit or loss in provision for 

credit losses. 

3.7 Employee benefits 

3.7.1 Short-term benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the 

related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under sho1t-term 

cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Branch has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this 

amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. - -, 
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3.7.2 Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 

contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obi igation to pay further amounts. 

Obligations for such contributions covering all employees are recognised as an expense in profit and loss 
when incurred. 

3.7.3 Defined benefit plan 

a) Retiring Gratuity 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. 

Gratuity is a defined benefit plan. The Branch accounts for the provision for Defined Benefit Plan -

Gratuity in conformity with LKAS 19 - Employee Benefits. However, under the payment of Gratuity Act 

No. 12 of 1983, the liability to an employee arises only on completion of five years of continued service. 

The Branch measures the present value of promised retirement benefits of gratuity using the actuarial 

valuation method as recommended by LKAS 19- Employee Benefits, with the advice of a Consultant 
Actuary. 

The Gratuity liability is not externally funded . 

3.7.3.1 Recognition of actuarial gain/ (losses) 

The Branch recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans 111 other 
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 

b) Share based payment transactions 

Restricted Equity Award (REA) 

Branch' s compensation structures are designed to provide mechanisms that promote and support long­

term performance of its employees and the bank. Whilst a portion of Variable Compensation (VC) is paid 

upfront, these structures require that an appropriate portion is deferred to ensure alignment to the 
sustainable performance of the Group. 

At the same time, the Branch believes that the use of shares or share-based instruments for deferred VC is 

an effective way to align compensation with Deutsche Bank's sustainable performance and the interests 

of shareholders. By using Deutsche Bank shares, the value of the individual's VC is linked to Deutsche 
Bank' s share price over the deferral and retention period. 

Whilst ensuring lower compensated employees are not subject to deferrals, the bank' s compensation 

structure ensures an appropriate amount of deferred VC for higher earners. The portion ofVC, awarded in 

Deutsche Bank Group shares, is deferred over a defined period of time and subject to performance 

conditions and forfeiture provisions. Employees receiving share based deferred compensation awards i.e. 

Restricted Equity Award (REA) are communicated at the end of the bank' s annual compensation review 

process in March. The employees compensation statement will state the initial value of their REA, 

typically denominated in local currency. The equity award, is converted into a number of DB Share Units 

with reference to the relevant year-end exchanger~~ and DB share price (the "grant price", as ~S) 
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by the bank). This process occurs centrally, and the accrual is assigned to the relevant entity. This amount 

is charged to the profit or loss as an expense. 

3.8 Commitments and Contingencies 

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 

economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by 

the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Branch. 

The Branch does not recognise contingent assets but discloses its existence where inflows of economic 
benefits are probable, but not vi1tually certain. 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

3.9 Interest income/ expense 

Effective interest rate 

Interest income and expense are recognised in income statement using the effective interest method. The 

"effective interest rate" is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through 

the expected life of the financial instrument to: 

the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or 

the amo1tised cost of the financial liability. 

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or originated 

credit impaired assets, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual tenns of the 

financial instrument, but not ECL. For purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets, a credit­

adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including ECL. The 

calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that 

are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 

Amortised cost and gross carrying amount 

The "amortised cost" of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or 

financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the 

cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount 

and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. The 

"gross carrying amount of a financial asset" is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for 
any expected credit loss allowance. 
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Calculation of interest income and expense 

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a 

financial asset or a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate 

is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit impaired) or to the 

amortised cost of the liability :·The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-~stimation of 

cash nows of floating-rate instruments to reflect movenients in market rates of interest. The effective 

interest rate is also revised for fair value hedge adjustments at the date on which amo1tisation of the hedge 

adjustment begins. 

From I January 2018, with the adoption of Sri Lanka Accounting Standard - SLFRS 9 on "Financial 

Instruments" the Bank has aligned its interest recognition policy with internal risk management practices. 

As per the internal risk management policies of the Bank, the facilities are considered to be credit impaired 

when three or more instalments are in arrears and the Bank has estimated that the probability of 

recoverability of the interest income from such loan facilities are low. Accordingly the Bank discontinues 

recognition of interest income on such loan facilities and cash flows are assessed based on the amortised 

cost net of interest. If the asset is no longer credit impaired the calculation of interest income reverts to the 

gross basis. 

3.10 Fee and Commission income/ expense 

Five-step revenue recognition model to the recognition of Commissions and Fee Income, under which 

income must be recognized when control of goods and services is transferred, hence the contractual 

performance obligations to the customer has been satisfied. 

Accordingly, after a contract with a customer has been identified in the first step, the second step is to 
identify the perfonnance obligation - or a series of distinct perfonnance obligations - provided to the 

customer. The Branch must examine whether the service is capable of being distinct and is actually distinct 

within the context of the contract. A promised service is distinct if the customer can benefit from the 

service either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available to the customer, and 

the promise to transfer the service to the customer is separately identifiable from otlier promises in the 

contract. The amount of income is measured on the basis of the contractually agreed transaction price for 

the perfonnance obligation defined in the contract. If a contract includes variable consideration, the Branch 

estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised 

goods or services to a customer. Income is recognized in profit and loss when the identified performance 

obligation has been satisfied. 

Expenses that are directly related and incremental to the generation of Commissions and Fee Income are 

presented net in Commissions and Fee Income. This includes income and associated expense where the 

Branch contractually owns the performance obligation (i.e. as Principal) in relation to the service that gives 

rise to the revenue and associated expense. 

3.11 Dividends 

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive income is established. Usually this is the ex­

dividend date for equity where the Branch receives on its mandatory investments in Lanka Clear (Pvt). 

Ltd and Credit Information Bureau of Sri Lanka. These are accounted for in other operating income in the 

profit or loss. 
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3.12 Net trading income 

Net trading income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets and liabilities and includes all 

realized and unrealized fair value changes and foreign revaluation exchange differences. 

3.13 Profit/loss from sale of Property, plant & equipment 

Profit/loss from sale of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the period in which the sale occurred 

and is classified as other operating income. 

3.14 Other expenses 

The expenditure incurred on personal cost, premises, equipment and establishment has been appo1tioned 

between the FCBU and the DBU based on the volume of transactions. 

3.15 Cash Flow Statement 

The cash flow statement has been prepared by using the "Indirect Method" of preparing of cash flow 

statement in accordance with the LKAS 7, Cash Flow Statements. 

Net unrealized gains/ (losses) from translation of Financial Statements of foreign operation are adjusted 

through cash flows from operating activities. 

3.16 Segment Reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Branch that engages in business activities from which it may 

earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of 

the Branch' s other components, whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the Management 

Committee to make decisions about resources allocated to each segment and assess its performance, and 

for which discrete financial info1mation is available. 

These include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable 

basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, Group expenses, and tax assets and liabilities. 

The following business segments represent the Group's organizational structure as reflected in its internal 

management reporting systems as of De.cember 31, 2019. This new repo1ting structure was implemented 

from the third quarter 2019 onwards. 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

Corporate Bank (CB) 

Investment Bank (18) 

Private Bank (PB) 

Asset Management (AM) 

Capital Release Unit (CRU) 

Corporate & Other (C&O) 

Of the above, only Corporate Bank & Investment Bank businesses are represented in Sri Lanka as at 31st 

December 2019. 
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3.16.1 Corporate Bank (CB) 

The Corporate Bank (CB) combines Deutsche Bank' s Corporate Finance, Global Transaction Banking, 

Institutional Client Group and Research businesses. This new business division was created in the Branch 

with the aim to ensure greater alignment of products and sales effo11s, enabling the Branch to deliver a 
better service to clients and a more focused resource allocation. 

3.16.2 Investment Bank (ID) 

The Investment Bank (18) combines Deutsche Bank's Fixed Income & Currencies Sales & Trading, which 
includes Global Credit Trading, Foreign Exchange, Rates and Emerging Markets Debt businesses. 

3.16.3 Global Transaction Banking (GTB) 

Main product offerings: Corporate Cash Management, Trade Finance, Securities Services. 

Global Transaction Banking (GTB) is a lea'ding global provider of cash management, trade finance and 

securities services, delivering the full range of commercial banking products and services for both corporates 
and institutions worldwide. 

3.16.4 Corporate Cash Management (CCM) 

CCM provides a wide range of reliable, world-class solutions that help clients improve liquidity and cash 

flow and optimize their treasury and payment businesses. Deutsche Bank's global cash management 

services aims to provide companies with effective ways to generate synergies and realize cost-benefits -
based on advanced technologies and experienced staff around the globe. 

Prima1y services empower clients to optimize receivables and payables processes, integrate more tightly 

with their supply chain, forecast working capital needs more effectively, and prov'ide CFOs and treasurers 

with access to real-time information on the status of their global cash positions and exposures. Drivers of 

the business are the need for especially large corporates to increase transparency around their payments 

procedures, enforce strict controls (in line with regulatory requirements) and increase automation and 
standardization. 

3.16.5 Trade Finance (TF) 

Trade Finance delivers fast, efficient, reliable and comprehensive solutions for eve1y stage of a client's trade 

value chain to suppo11 their foreign trade activities. International trade is highly complex and involves a 

range of risks. Deutsche Bank's Trade Finance teams deliver unparalleled services, innovative solutions 

and superior trade expe11ise that enable clients manage risks and other issues associated with their impo1t 

and expo11 and domestic trade transactions, including international trade products and financial supply chain 
management. 

3.16.6 Securities Services (SeS) 

SeS offers the provision of custodian services for the securities p01tfolios of both cross-border/offshore 

clients (sub-custody) and onshore/resident clients (domestic custody). Services included are safekeeping of 
clients' po11folio, settlement of trades, asset servicing (corporate action notices, income processing, income 

collection, ve1y limited tax services generally restricted to document collation for lower tax treaty rates, 

entitlements procession, redemptions, exchange offers, rights, etc.), cash services related to their cash 
settlement balances including preparation of cash projection repo11s and FX services. 

Complementing the custodian function is the Fund
3
;dministration and Trustee services which iij~LJ~ ~) 
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at the unit trust (mutual funds), insurance and asset management industry. Our proprietary systems are 

capable of generating Net Asset Value (NA V) calculations and financial statements in line with both the 

Sri Lanka Financial Repo1ting Standards (SLFRS) and International Financial Reporting Standards 

(SLFRS). 

3.16.7 Global Capital Markets (GCM) 

On the GCM, the key product profile includes voice and electronic FX sales targeting onshore Corporates 

and Institutional clients. Sourcing of Sri Lanka International Sovereign Bonds for local Commercial Banks 

is a key area of focus. 

4. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE AS AT REPORTING 
DATE 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 
I January 2019 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Branch has not early adopted them in 
preparing these financial statements. 

The following amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Branch' s financial 
statements. 

- Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in SLFRS Standards. 
- Definition of a Business (Amendments to SLFRS 3). 

36 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31st December 

5. Changes in significant accounting policies 

5.1 SLFRS 16- Leases 

The Branch has initially applied SLFRS 16 - Leases from I January 20 I 9. 

The Branch applied SLFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which Right of Use of underlying asset 

(ROU asset) and lease liabi lity were recognised at equal amounts as at I Janua1y 20 19. Accordingly, the comparative 

information presented for 20 18 is not restated. The details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed below. 

Additionally, the disclosure requirements in SLFRS 16 have not been generally applied to comparative information. 

A. Definition of a lease 

Previously, the Branch determined at contract inception whether an arrangement was or contained a lease under IFRIC 4 • 
Determining whether an An·angement contains a Lease. The Branch now assesses whether a contract is or contains a 
lease based on the definition of a lease, as explained in Note 3. 

On transition to SLFRS 16, the Branch elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which 
transactions are leases. The Branch appl ied SLFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. 
Contracts that were not identified as leases under LKAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed for whether there is a lease 
under SLFRS 16. Therefore, the definition of a lease under SLFRS 16 was applied only to contracts entered into or 
changed on or after I Januaiy 20 I 9. 

B. As a lessee 

As a lessee, the Branch has a lease relating to property. The Branch previously classified leases as operating or finance 
leases based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred significantly all of the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the underlying asset to the Branch. Under SLFRS 16, the Branch recognizes right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities for most of these leases - i.e. these leases are on-balance sheet. 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Branch allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price. 

However, for leases of property the Branch has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease 
and associated non-lease components as a single lease component. 

On transition, for these leases, lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, 
discounted at the Branch's incremental borrowing rate as at I January 20 I 9. 

The Branch used a number of practical expedients when applying SLFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating 
leases under LK.AS 17. In particular, the Branch: 

* On its assessment of whether leases are onerous under LKAS 37 on " Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets" immediately before the date of initial application as an alternative to performing an impairment 

* Did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the 
date of initial application; 

* Did not recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases of low-value assets (i.e. IT equipment); 
* Excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application 
* Used hindsight when detennining the lease term; 
* Used main operating building lease term for open ended lease arrangements. 
* Applied a single discount rate to leases with similar characteristics. 

C. As a lessor 

For lease out under finance leases, Branch recognises an asset at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. 
Lease payments received from operating leases are recognised as income on straight-line basis. 

The Branch is not required to make any adjustments on transition to SLFRS 16 for leases in which it acts as a lessor. 
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For the year ended 31st December 

5. Changes in significant accounting policies contd. 

5.1 SLFRS 16 - Leases contd. 

D. Impact on financial statements 

On transition to SLFRS 16, the Branch recognized additional right-of-use assets and additional lease liabilities, 
recognizing the difference in retained earnings. The impact on transition is summarized below. 

As i1t I January 2019 

Right-Of-Use assets - property, plant and equipment - (Note 23 ) 

Lease liabilities - ( Note 31. l) 

Rs. 

28,807,129 

28,807, 129 

When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Bank discounted lease payments 
using its incremental borrowing rate at I January 2019. The weighted average rate applied is 11.81 %. 

5.2 IFRIC Interpretation 23 - Uncertainty over income tax treatment 

The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve unce1tainty that affects the 

application of LKAS 12 Income Taxes. It does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of LKAS 12, nor does it 
specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The 

Interpretation specifically addresses the following: 

* Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately 

* The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities 

* How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates 

* How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances 

The Branch determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more other 
uncertain tax treatments and uses the approach that better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. 

The Branch applies significant judgement in identifying uncertainties over income tax treatments. Since the Branch 
operates in a complex environment, it assessed whether the Interpretation had an impact on its financial statements. 

Upon adoption of the Interpretation, the Branch considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions and Branch 

determined that it is probable that its tax treatments will be accepted by the taxation authorities. The Interpretation did not 
have an impact on the financial statements of the Branch. 
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6. Gross income 

Interest income 

Fee and commission income 
Net gain from trading 

Net other operating income 

7. Net interest income 

Interest income 
Placements with banks 
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

Total interest income 

Interest expenses 
Due to banks 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to depositors 
Total interest expenses 

Net interest income 

2019 
Rs. 

2,876,692, 111 

353,721 ,773 

60 l , 140,684 
35,679,935 

3,867,234,503 

439,43 1,171 

504,846,909 

1,076,868,009 

855,546,022 

2,876,692,1 11 

383,982,298 

372,328,858 
756,311,156 

2,120,380,955 

2018 

Rs. 

2,283,201,845 

562,491,6 17 
720,427,812 

68,754,666 

3,634,875,940 

403,267,308 

723,802, I 00 

1,156,132,438 

2,283,201 ,845 

267,474,566 

263,608,536 
53 1,083,102 

1,752,1 18,743 

The amounts reported above include the interest income and expense, calculated using the effective interest method, that relate to 
the following financial assets and financial liabi lities. 

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances to customers 
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
Total 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to depositors 

7 a. Net interest income from Sri Lanka Government securities 

Interest Income 

Net interest income from Sri Lanka Government Securities 

8. Net fee and commission income 

Fee and commission income (Note 8.1) 
Fee and commission expenses 

Net fee and commission income 

8.1 Fee and commission income 
Trade and remittances 
Guarantees 
Other banking services 

14,639,695,090 11,977,224,364 
6,799,440,126 

13,740,777,811 15,299,739,626 
35,179,913,027 27,276,963,990 

I 6,7 14,490,579 I 5,331,658, 192 

1,360,392,931 1,156,132,497 

1,360,392,93 I 1,156,132,497 

353,721 ,773 562,491,6 17 
23,479,438 15,236,938 

330,242,335 547,254,678 

80,559,407 124,696,246 
34,728,253 34,285,002 

238,434, 113 403,5 10,369 
353,721,773 562,491,617 

Fee and commission income from other banking services includes fees and commissions collected from customers by providing 
global cash management services, custody fees, trustee fees and fund transfer facilities. 

8.2 Performance obligations ancl revenue recognition policy 

Fee and Commission income from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration specified in the contract with 
customers. Branch recognizes revenue when it transfers control over service to a customer. 

The following table provides information aboul the nature and liming of lhe satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with 
customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition policies. 

Type of service 
Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations, Revenue recognition under 

including significant payment terms SLFRS IS 

The Branch provides lending services to retail and corporate customers, Income is recognized in profit and 
Retai l and including provision other loan faci lities. Transaction-based fees for loss when the identi tied 
Corporate finance interchange and loans are charged to the customer's account when the performance obligation has been 
Service transaction takes place. satisfied. 
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For the year ended 31st December 

9. Net gain from trading 

Foreign Exchange 
From Banks 

From customers 

Net unrealized forward (losses)/gains 
Fixed income securities 

Net loss from Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 
Total 

10. Net other operating income 
Dividend income 

Intergroup recoveries (Note IO a.) 
Cost recoveries from customers 

Total 

Note 1 O.a. Intergroup recoveries 

2019 

Rs. 

509,961 ,504 
36,679,684 
(4,340,6 12) 

53,376,458 
5,463,650 

601,140,684 

3,046,550 
2 1,696,209 
10,937,1'76 

35,679,935 

2018 

Rs. 

664,746,206 
52,6 17,699 

3,063,906 

720,427,812 

2,5 15,500 
56,093,539 
10, 145,628 

68,754,666 

Deutsche Bank Colombo Branch provides services to the Financial Institutions Sales Desk, as pit of Global Transaction 
Banking (GTB) within the Corporate Banking Investment Division of the Deutsche Bank Group. Revenue resulting from 
such services provided are included in the Intergroup recoveries income. 

11. Impairment charges 

Financial assets at amortised cost - Loans and advances (Note2 l (c)) 
Stage I 
Stage 2 
Stage 3 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (Note 22(c)) 
Stage I 
Stage 2 

Stage 3 

Contingent liabilities & commitments (Note 37 (a)) 
Stage I 
Stage 2 

Stage 3 

Placements with banks (Note 17) 

Provision for count1y risk (Note 31.4) 
Total Impairment charges 

12. Personnel expenses 

Salary and bonus 

Contributions to defined contribution plans 
Provision for defined benefit obligations (Note 29) 

Others/Other allowances and Staff re lated expenses 

Total personnel expenses 

40 

( 1,470,534) 
(204,840) 

47,78 1,531 

(1 ,440,333) 
(45,844) 

24,975 

203,594 
44,848,549 

203,474,05 I 
50,4 18,669 
17,248,808 

170,788, 112 

441,929,640 

763,501 
(441,870) 

(2,503,404) 

(365,828) 
(649,769) 

28,52 1 

2,759,797 
(409,053) 

233,979,023 
60,293,070 
18,858,62 I 

I 12,274,445 
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For the year eutletl 31st December 

13. Other expenses 
Directors' emoluments 

Auditors' remuneratio ns 

Audit fees and expenses 

Audit related fees and expenses 
Non-audit fees to auditors 

Professional and legal expenses (Note 13.1) 
Inter-entity Expenses (Note 13.2) 

Head Office related expenses 
Inter-entity other expenses 

Office administration a nd establishment expenses 
Provision/ Reversal for penalty 

Normal NBT related to Non Banking 
Debt Repayment Levy (Note 13.3) 
Crop Insurance Levy 

Finance expense on lease liabi lity 

Total o\ther expenses 

Note 13.1 Professional and legal expenses 

2019 
Rs. 

1,1 90,025 
650,033 

1,578.047 

6,504,314 

182,733,691 

908.393,686 
322,971 ,616 

(209, 171 ,297) 

3,515,691 

117,396,841 
11,787,485 

3,655,637 
1,351,205,769 

2018 
Rs. 

900,065 
650,229 
656,532 

3,937,017 

195,279,382 
746,333,295 

445,484,709 

7,161.670 
23,036,761 

3,88 I ,080 

1,427,320,741 

Professional fees includes the fees paid for tax consultants and other valuation specialists employed by the Branch. From current year 
onwards, income tax related consultations and tax disputes prior to 2019 will be handled by two consultation firms. Branch has employed 
two legal fi rms on the pending litigations. 

Note 13.2 Inter-entity Expenses 

Deutsche Bank Co lombo Branch receives Head Office related expenses such as Asia Pacific Head Office which provides infrastructure 

support functions and Global O verheads for costs re lating to centralized steering, co-ord ina tion and monitoring functions performed for 
the DBAG Group. 

In addition, Duetsche Bank Colombo Branch receives Inter-Entity other expenses such as services from the coverage team and regional 

support from DBAG Singapore Branch, as part of Global Transaction Banking (GTB) within the Corporate Banking Division of the 

Deutsche Bank Group, Group audit, I-IR and global technology and Operations Charges relating to IT infrastructure to support all of the 

Bank's business and operational services in ensuring control and processes of transactions. 

These costs arc shared between branches and subsidiaries of the Group and Branch recognises these costs under Inter-Entity expenses. 

Note 13.3 Debt Repayment Levy (DRL) on Financial Services 

With effect from I October 20 I 8, DRL of 7% was introduced on the value add ition attributable to the supply of financia l services 
through an amendment to the f-inance Act, No. 35 of 2018. DRL is chargeable on the same base used for calculation of VAT on 
financial services before deducting the VAT and NBT on financial services. This levy has been removed with effect from I January 

14. Tax expenses 

14.1 Amount recognised in profit or loss 
Current tax expense 

Current year 

(Over)/under provision for prior years 
Prior year income tax refund claim 

Deferred tax expense 

Deferred tax asset origina ted during the year (Note 24. 1) 
Deferred tax liability originated during the year (Note 24.2) 

Total tax expenses 

218,734.440 
(292,205,750) 

(249,024,3 10) 

(322,495,620) 

9,667,70 1 
27,871 ,924 

37,539,625 

(284,955,995) 

535,832,7 17 

27,742.440 

563,575,157 

2.996,057 
(4,91 1,677) 

(1 ,915,620) 

56 I ,659 ,53 7 

The Branch has considered the re levant provisions of the Inland Revenue Act. No. 24 of 20 17 which came into effect from I April 2018, 
when computing the current and deferred tax assets/I iabi I ities. 

4,833,950 (5.659.303) 

(11 ,406,916) ----­

(6,572,966) =~(5~,6=5~9~,30=3:fa) 
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14. Tax expenses cont. 

14.3 Reconciliation of effective tax rate with income tax rate 

Income lax for the year (Accounting profit@ applicable tax rate) 

Add: Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible for tax purposes 

(Less): Tax effect o f expenses that are deductible for tax purposes 
Current tax expense 

15. Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash in hand 

Balances with banks 

Total 

Cash and Cash Equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the Statement of Financial Position. 

16. Balances with Central Banks 
Statutory balance with Central Banks 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka 

Non-statutory balances with Central Banks 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka 

Total balances with Central Banks 

Balances with Central Bank are carried at amortized cost in the starement of financial position. 

Note 16.1 Statutory ba lances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 

2019 

Rs. 

264,034,936 

332,692,636 

(377,993,132) 
218,734,440 

48, 170,515 

67,697,203 

115,867,718 

896,645,448 

6,780,000,000 

7,676,645,448 

2018 

Rs. 

279,952,402 

359,760,6 19 

( I 03,880,303) 

535,832,7 18 

51 ,453,402 

16,209,298 

67,662,700 

2,557,516,00 I 

50,010,989 

2,607,526,990 

As required by the provisions of Section 93 of Monetary Law Act, a minimum cash balance is maintained with the Central Bank of Sri 

Lanka. The minimum cash reserve requirement on rupee deposit liabilities is prescribed as a percentage ofrupee deposit liabilities. The 

percentage is varied from time to time. Applicable minimum rate was 5.00% wi th effect from I March 2019 (minimum rate was 6.00% 

up to I March 2019). Central Bank introduced average I 00% margin requirements against letters of credit for importation of motor 
vehicles and non-essential consumer goods, with effect from 29 September 2018. 

There are no reserve requirement for deposit liabilities of the Foreign Currency Banking Unit and foreign currency deposit liabilities in 
the Domestic Banking Unit. 

17. Placements with banks 

Bank of Ceylon 

National Development Bank 

Hatton National Bank PLC 

Provision for impairment (Note 17.1) 

Total 

Placements with banks are carried at amortized cost in the statement of fi nancial position. 

Note 17.1 Impairment provision for placements w ith banks 
Opening balance at O I st January 

Charge to Income Statement 

Closing balance at 31st December 

18. Derivative financial instruments 

Foreign currency derivatives 

Forward foreign exchange contracts 

Total 

19. Grou1> balance receivable 

Branches (Branches of Deutsche Bank AG-f'rankfurt) 

Subsidiaries (Subsidiaries of Deutsche Bank AG-Frankfurt) 

Other Inter-group receivable from Branches and Head Office 

20. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 

Sri Lanka Government Securities 
Treasury Bi lls 

Treasury Bonds 

42 

75 1,456,928 

2,750,674,3 15 

450,11 0,959 

751,456,928 3,-200, 785,274 

( 198,508) (173,533) ---.:.......-=----"-
751,258,420 3,200,611,741 

173,533 

24,975 

198,508 

37,878,127 
37,878,127 

944,5 15,205 

660,39 1,284 
10 1,973,721 

1,706,880,2 10 

1,450,416,7 10 

5,349,023,4 16 

6,799,440,126 

145,013 

28,521 

173,533 

7,553,987 

7,553,987 

1,255,752,846 

1,034,449,360 

92, 11 2,985 

2,382,315,191 
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21. Financial assets at amortised cost - Loans and advances 

Financial assets at amortised cost - Loans and receivables to customers 
Gross loans and advances 

Provision for impairment (Note 21 c) 

Net loans and advances 

21.a. Gross loans and advances 

Stage 1 

Stage 2 

Less: Accumulated impairment 
Stage I 

Stage 2 

Net loans and advances 

21.b. Analysis 

By product 
Overdrafts 

Trade finance 
Staff loans 
Supplier Finance 

Gross total 

By currency 
Sri Lankan Rupee 
United States Dollar 
Euro 

Gross total 

By industry 
Agriculture and fishing 
Manufacturing 
Tourism 
Transport 
Construction 
Traders 
New economy 
Financial and Business Services 
Others 

Gross total 

21.c. Movements in impairment during the year 

Stage I 
Opening balance as at O I st January 
(Write back)/Charge to Income Statement 
Closing balance at 31st December 

Stage 2 
Opening balance as at O I st January 
(Write back) to Income Statement 

Closing balance at 31st December 

Total 

43 

2019 
Rs. 

14,643,024,531 

(3,329,441) 

14,639,695,090 

14,643,024,53 1 

14,643,024,531 

(3,326,358) 

(3,083) 
(3,329,441) 

14,639,695,090 

I 1,465,941,412 

2,756,769,037 

190,559,750 
229,754,332 

14,643,024,531 

9,640,045,831 
4,7 13,013,648 

289,965,052 
14,643,024,531 

2,654,989 
5,437,766,996 

552,227,395 
200,465,529 

2,469,307,925 
4,919,601,624 

985,374, 134 

75,625,939 

14,643,024,531 

4,796,892 
( 1,470,534) 
3,326,358 

207,923 
(204,840) 

3,083 

3,329,441 

2018 
Rs. 

11 ,982,229, 178 

(5,004,8 14) 

I I ,977,224,364 

9,723,963,533 

2,258,265,645 
11,982,229, J 78 

(4,796,892) 

(207,923) 
(5,004,814) 

11,977,224,364 

8,281,481,206 

2,589,637,337 

203,929,8 17 
907, 180,8 I 8 

11,982,229,178 

8,087,856,753 
3,573,609,200 

320,763,225 
11 ,982,229,178 

14,410,239 
5,359,883,006 

656,099,716 
198,362,040 

121,656,039 
4,026,707 ,50 I 
1,520,474,084 

2,362,706 
82,273,847 

I J,982,229,178 

4,033,39 1 
763,50 I 

4,796,892 

649,793 
(44 1,870) 
207,923 

5,004,815 
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22. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Sri Lanka Government Securities 
Treasury Bills 

Treasury Bonds 
Sri Lanka Development Bonds 

Equity instruments (Note 22.a.) 

Net financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Note 22.a. Equity instruments 

2019 
Rs. 

4,402,721 ,537 

9,295,7 17,290 
42,338,984 

13,740,777,811 

2018 
Rs. 

6,288,822,700 
1,578,459,245 
7,430,857,681 

1,600,000 

I 5,299,739,626 

At O I January 2018, Branch designated certain investments shown in the below table as equity securities as at fair value through 
other comprehensive income. The fair value through other comprehensive income was made because the investments are 
expected to be held for the long term as per regulations imposed in Sri Lanka. However for these investments, there is no active 
market to ascertain market value as at year end. Although in 20 18 , the Management reported the said investments at cost , the net 
book value was considered to be more appropriate to reflect the fair value in the absence any other valuation techniques. 
Therefore the fair value is determined based on the net assets value of the unquoted equity share in 20 19. 

Equity instruments 

Credit Information Bureau of 
Sri Lanka 
Lanka Clear (Private) Limited 

22.b. Analysis 

By collateralization 
Unencumbered 

Gross Total 

By currency 
Sri Lankan Rupee 
United States Dollar 

Gross total 

2019 

No. of 
Cost 

shares 

1,000 100,000 

150,000 1,500,000 

1,600,000 

22.c. Movements in impairment during the year 
Stage 1 
Opening balance as at O I st January 
Charge/(Write back) to Other Comprehensive income· (Note 11) 

Closing balance at 31st December 

Total 

Fair value 

19,813,819 

22,525, 165 

42,338,984 

No. of 
shares 

1,000 

150,000 

2018 

Cost 

100,000 

1,500,000 

J ,600,000 

13,740,777,8 11 
13,740,777,811 

4,445,060,521 
9,295,717,290 

13,740,777,811 

32,507,353 
47,781,531 
80,288,884 

80,288,884 

Fair value 

100,000 

1,500,000 
1,600,000 

15,299,739,626 
15,299,739,626 

7,868,881,945 
7,430,857,68 1 

15,299,739,626 

35,010,757 
(2,503,404) 

32,507,353 

32,507,353 

As per SLFRS 09, impairment provision (based on the DB group model) on debt instruments classified and measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income required to recognise as an adjustment to the fair value reserve of the same kind of assets. 
Accordingly impairment charge for the year recognised as an expense in the current year (Refer Note 11) and change in provision 
adjusted to the fair value reserve (Refer Statement of Other Comprehensive income) 
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DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
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As at 31st December 

23. Property, plant & equipment - As at 31st December 2019 

Computer EDP Paintings & Telephone & Office Furniture & Right-of-Use 

Equipment Mainframe 
Safes 

Art Objects Telex Equipment F ittings Asset 

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. 

Cost 

Opening balance at 1st January 2019 75,882,068 I 00, 700,080 1,876,527 744,000 41,055,657 25,587,4 19 116,269,628 -

Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial 
application of SLFRS 16 (Note 5) - 28,807,129 

Additions 7,614,497 1,000,697 - 772,577 264,176 153,595,847 

Disposals ( 16,89 1,329) (8,897,868) (9,046, 114) 

Closing balance at 31st December 2019 66,605,236 92,802,909 1,876,527 744,000 41,828,234 16,541,305 116,533,804 182,402,976 

Accumulated depreciation 

Opening balance at 1st Janua ry 2019 64,408,713 85, 130,19 1 1,876,505 743,996 31,389,44 1 23,670,678 I 04,507,447 

Charge for the year 7,798,733 7,8 10, 156 - 2,054,787 742,268 3,948,587 47,430,384 

Disposals (16,890,412) (8,897,862) (8,623,881) 

Closing balance at 31st December 201 9 55,317,035 84,042,485 1,876,505 743,996 33,444,228 15,789,065 108,456,034 47,430,384 

Carrying value as at 31st December 2019 1 1,288,202 8,760,424 22 4 8,384,006 752,240 8,077,770 134,972,592 

Out of the above depreciation charge of Rs. 69,784,915/- for the year, Rs. 3,489,246/- has been apportioned to FCBU. Accordingly Rs. 66,295,669/- was charged to DBU. 

The cost of fully depreciated assets which are sti ll in use is Rs. 2 18, 197,074/- as at reporting date. 

As at 31 December 2019, property and equipment includes right-of-use assets of Rs. 134 .9 Mn related to lease assets. 
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Total 2019 

Rs. 

362, 115,379 

28,807, 129 

163,247,794 

(34,835,3 1 I ) 

519,334,99 I 

31 1,726,971 

69,784,9 15 

(34,4 12, 155) 

347,099,731 

172,235,260 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL ST A TEMENTS 

As at 31st December 

23. Property, plant & equipment - As at 31st December 2018 

Computer EDP 
Safes 

Paintings & Telephone & Office Furniture & 
Tota l 2018 Equipment Mainframe Art Objects Telex Eq uipment Fittings 

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. 
Cost 

Opening balance at 1st January 2018 64,742,5 19 I 00, 700,080 1,876,527 744,000 4 1,118,648 25 ,587,419 116,350,028 351,119,22 1 
Additions 11,512,391 154, 100 11,666,491 
Disposals (372,842) (62,991) - (234,500) (670,333) 

Closing balance at 31st December 2018 75,882,068 I 00, 700,080 . 1,876,527 744,000 41,055,657 25,587,419 116,269,628 362,115,379 

Accumulated depreciation 

Opening balance at 1st Jan uary 2018 57,493,7 13 75,646,541 1.876,505 743,996 27,656,843 22, 137,587 100,788,535 286,343,720 
Charge for the year 7,287,839 9,483,650 3,783, 122 1,533,091 3,953,41 1 26,04 1, 113 
Disposals (372,840) (50,524) (234,499) (657,863) 
Closing balance at 31st December 2018 64,408,7 13 85,130,191 1,876,505 743,996 31,389,441 23,670,678 I 04,507,447 31 1,726,970 

Carrying value as at 3 1st December 2018 11 ,473,356 15,569,889 22 4 9,666,216 1,916,741 11 ,762,181 50,388,409 

Out of the above depreciation charge of Rs. 26,04 1, 11 3/- for the year, Rs. 1,04 1,645/- has been apportioned to FCBU . Accordingly Rs. 24,999,469/- was charged to DBU. 

The cost of fully deprec iated assets which are still in use is Rs. 247,598, 779/- as at reporting date. 
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As at 31st December 

24. Deferred tax (Liabilities)/Assets 

Deferred tax assets (Note 24. I) 
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 24.2) 

The movements on the deferred tax account is as follows: 

24.1 Deferred tax assets 
Balance as at the beginning of the year 
Reversed during the year - recognized in profit or loss 
(Reversed)/originated during the year - recognized in other comprehensive income 

Balance as at the end of the year 

24.2 Deferred tax liabilities 
Balance as at the beginning of the year 
Originated/(Reversed) during the year through profit or loss 
Originated during the year through other comprehensive income 

Balance as at the end of the year 

24.3 Recognized deferred tax assets and 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

Deferred tax assets 
Employee benefits 
Fair value loss of FVOCI 
Provision for restricted equity 
Provision for cash retention payment 

Deferred tax liabilities 
Property, plant and equipment 
Fair value gain ofFVOCI 

Provision for restricted equity 
Right of use asset 

Lease liability 

2019 
Temporary 
difference 

65,170,001 

230,358 

65,400,359 

21,773,894 
40,738,984 

526,670 
134,972,592 

(29,196,197) 

168,815,943 
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Tax effect 

18,247,600 

64,500 

18,312,100 

6,096,690 
I 1,406,9 16 

147,468 

37,792,326 
(8, 174,935) 

47,268,465 

2019 
Rs. 

18,3 12, 100 
(47,268,465) 

(28,956.365) 

32,813,751 
(9,667,70 I) 
(4,833,950) 

18,312,100 

7,989,625 
27,871,924 
11,406,916 

47,268,465 

2018 
Temporary 
difference 

113,989,062 
1,864,067 

111,3 I 8 
1,227,521 

117,191,968 

28,534,376 

28,534,376 

2018 
Rs. 

32,813,751 
(7,989,625) 

24,824,126 

30,150,506 
(2,996,057) 

5,659,303 
32.813,751 

12,901,302 
(4,9 11 ,677) 

7,989,625 

Tax effect 

31,916,937 
521 ,939 

3 \, 169 
343,706 

32,813,751 

7,989,625 

7,989,625 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

As {If 31st December 

25. Other assets 

Finacial assets 
Clearing account balances (Note 25.1) 

Non-finacial asset_s 
Deposits and prepayments 
Tax receivable (Note 25.2) 
Others 

Total 

Note 25.J - Clearing account balances 

2019 
Rs. 

343,385,450 

343,385,450 

38,402,344 
276,6 14,855 

7,184,537 
322,201,736 

665,587,186 

2018 

Rs. 

I, 745,658,444 

I, 745,658,444 

27,103,167 
18,016,205 
48,181,781 
93,301,153 

l ,8381959,597 

Clearing account balance represents· the balance to be received from the other Banks on behalf of the outward cheque 

clearing and clearing receivable balance from Sampath Bank PLC being the receivable for foreign exchanges transactions. 

Receivable from Lanka Clear for cheque c learing 
FX clearing receivable from Sampath Bank PLC 

Note 25.2 - Tax receivable 

Income tax refunds 
WHT receivable 
ESC receivable 
Other 

26. Due to branches 
Borrowings from Deutsche Singapore 

Total 

27. Derivative financial instruments 

Foreign exchange derivatives 

Forward foreign exchange contracts 

Total 

28. Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to depositors 

Due to depositors 

Total 

28 a. Analysis of amount due to depositors 
By product 
Demand deposits (current accounts) 
Savings deposits 
Margin deposits 
Fixed deposits 
Total 

By currency 
Sri Lanka Rupee 
United States Dollar 
Great Britain Pound 
Euro 
Swiss Frank 
Others* 
Total 

319,514,755 
23,870,695 

343,385,450 

249,652,487 
I 1,962,021 
14,407,257 

593,090 
276,614,855 

17,816,192,003 

17,816,192,003 

40,243,365 

40,243,365 

16,714,490,579 

16,714,490,579 

I 0,934, 799,232 
2,837,310,623 

118,567,000 
2,823,813,724 

16,714,490,579 

12,730,977,232 
2,185,196,453 

17,723,063 
1,721,762,895 

40,440,770 
18,390,166 

16,714,490,579 

1,735,803,954 
9,854,490 

1,745,658,444 

18,016,205 

18,016,205 

I 1,773,090,094 

11,773,090,094 

5,582,806 

5,582,806 

15,33 1,658,192 

15,331,658,192 

8,203,973,876 
2,449,471,403 
1,903,244,000 
2,774,968,9 13 

15,331,658,192 

12,076,725,363 
2,869,081,540 

18,571 ,784 
36 1,740,759 

1,84 I ,5 I 9 
3,697,227 

15,33 l ,658, I 92 

* Other currencies includes Singapore Dollar, Australian Dollar, Canadian Dollar, Hong Kong Dollar and Janapenese Yen. 

48 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG-COLOMBO BRANCH 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

As at 31st December 

29. Employee benefit 

29.1 Defined contribution plans 

2019 
Rs. 

2018 
Rs. 

Following contributions have been made to Employees' Provident Fund and Employees' Trust Fund during the year. 

Employees' Provident Fund 
Employers' Contribution 
Employees' Contribution 

Employees' Trust Fund 

29.2 Defined benefit plan - gratuity 
Opening balance as at O I st Janua,y 
Provision for the Year (Note 29.a) 

Actuarial (gain)/ loss during the Year (Note 29.b) 
Gratuity paid during the Year 

Closing balance as at 31st December 

29.a. Provision recognized in the Profit or Loss 
Current Service Cost 
Interest on Obligation 

29.b. Provision recognized in other comprehensive income 
Actuarial (gain)/ loss during the year 

29.c. Actuarial valuation 

45,224,771 54,383,917 
25,969,489 29,545,767 

5, 193,898 5,909, 153 

113,989,06 1 I 04, 147,958 
17,248,808 18,858,621 

(17,264, I 06) 1,729,943 
(48,803,762) (10,747,460) 

65,170,001 I 13,989,061 

4,140,066 12,497,755 
13,108,742 6,360,866 
17,248,808 18,858,621 

(17,264,106) 1,729,943 ------
(17,264,106) 1,729,943 

========= 

LKAS 19 requires the use of actuarial techniques to make a reliable estimate of the amount of retirement benefit using the 
Projected Unit Credit Method in order to determine the present value of the retirement benefit obligation. An actuarial 
valuation was performed on December 20 19 by Mr. M. Poopalanathan, AIA, Messrs. Actuarial and Management Consultants 
(Pvt) Ltd. The following principal assumptions were made in arriving at the retirement obligation as at 3 I st December 20 I 9. 

Discount Rate % 

Future salary increment rate % 

29.d. Sensitivity ananlysis - Employee benefits 

11.5% 
5% 

11.5% 
8% 

The Following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the key assumptions used with a ll other 
variables held constant in the employment benefit liability measurement. The effect to the statement of financial position with 
the assumed changes in the discount rates and salary increment rate is given be low: 

Discount Rate 

Salary Escalation Rate 

30. Current tax liabilities 
Opening balance as at O I st January 
Charge for the year 

Over/under provision adjustment in respect of prior years 
Payments 
Tax credits 

Closing balance as at 31st December 

31 December 2019 
Present Value of Defined 

Benefit Obligation 

31 December 2018 
Present Value of Defined 

Benefit Oblioation 

1% Increase 1% Decrease 1% Increase 1 % Decrease 
116,896,549 

110,925,624 

63,361,4 13 
67,412,786 
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67,105,6 11 
63,047,460 

11 1,281,568 

117,230,441 

586,021,807 
2 18,734,440 

(292,205,750) 

(373,787,3 14) 

138,763,)83 

580,598,357 
535,832, 71 7 

27,742,440 

(517,450,589) 

(40,701,118) 

586,021,807 
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As at 31st December 

31. Other liabilities 

Financial liabilities 
Lease liability (Note 31.1) 
Clearing account balance (Note 25. I) 

Non-financial liabilities 
Accrued expenditure 

Tax Penalty provision (Note 3 1.2) 

Provision for Impairment of Commitments and Contingencies (Note 31.3) 
Country risk (Note 31.4) 

Other tax liability 

Staff EPF reserve 

Other payables 

Total 

31.1 Lease liability 

Balance at O I January (Note 05) 
Additions 

Charge for the year 
Payment during the year 

Balance at 31 December 

Lease liability within one year 

Lease liability after one year 

There are no lease liabilities which goes beyond 5 years. 

31.2 Tax penalty provision 

2019 
Rs. 

29,196, 197 
35,218,592 
64,414,789 

51,420,498 

842,328 
5,528,901 

48,155,937 
44,560,754 

2,411,057 
152,919,475 

2 I 7,334,264 

28,807,129 
10,766,207 
3,655,637 

(14,032,776) 

29,196,197 

12,412,320 
16,783,877 
29,196,197 

2018 
Rs. 

56,553,731 
56,553,731 

57,816,960 
209,175,157 

2,328,505 
5,325,307 

42,888,497 
43,191,866 

5,649,039 
366,375,331 

422,929,062 

The provision made was on an assessment notice for the year of assessment 2014/ 15 to Branch pertaining to an additional tax 

liability on Income Tax due to disallowable head office expenses payable. The assessment is for a value of Rs. 685.3 mn 

(which included a penalty of Rs. 228.4 mn). A provision of Rs. 490.9 mn is made in the financial statements in 2017, which 

included tax penalty provision of Rs. 209 .2 mn. However due to the time bar expired, Branch reversed the penalty provision 
in the current year after concultation in the Branch employed tax consultants 

31.3 a. Provision for impair ment commitments and contingencies 

This provision relates to impairment for undrawn commitments and Off balance sheet facilities computed using the relevant 

credit conversion factors. The impainnent relating to Day one adjustment has been reported under retained earnings as at 
0 I st January 20 I 8. 

31.3 b. Movements in impairment during the year 

Stage 1 
Opening balance as at O I st January 

Write back to Income Statement 

Closing balance at 31st December 

Stage 2 
Opening balance as at O I st January 

Write back to Income Statement 

Closing balance at 31st December 

Total 

50 

2,282,661 
(1 ,440,333) 

842,328 

45,844 
(45,844) 

842,328 

2,648,489 
(365,828) 

2,282,661 

695,613 
(649,769) 

45,844 

2,328,505 
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As at 31st December 

31. Other Liabilities Contd. 

31.4 Provision for country risk 

2019 

Rs. 

2018 

Rs. 

Country Risk is defined as the risk that Deutsche Bank AG-Colombo Branch may suffer a loss due to possible deterioration 
of economic conditions; political and social upheaval; nationalization and expropriation of assets; government repudiation of 
external indebtness; exchange controls or currency depreciation or devaluation in any given country. 

Balance as at O I January 

During the year charge/ write back 

Balance as at 31st December 

32. Group balance payable 

Inter-entity expenses payable to HO and branches 

Branches (Branches of Deutsche Bank AG-Frankfurt) 
Total 

5,325,307 

203,594 

5,528,901 

3, I 07, 770,642 

49,951,559 

3,157,722,201 

2,565,510 
2,759,797 

5,325,307 

2,143,976,870 

37,863,935 

2,181,840,805 

Deutsche Bank Colombo branch is supported by the Asia Pacific Head office and other entities within Deutsche Bank 

Group. The charges for such services are re-imbursed by Deutsche Bank Colombo, based on invoices issued by the supplier. 

However due to the remittance ceiling imposed by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka, the Branch is unable to fully settle its 

obligation in a given financial year. In order to avoid significant build up of liabilities to head office, part of unremitted 

liabilities were transfeJTed to equity as "Contributed Assets". Prior to such transfer a confiimation from head office was 

obtained stating that head office will not demand payment of such liabilities, and the approval of CBSL was also obtained. 

As "I 31st December 

33. Assigned capital 

Balance as of O I st January 

Balance as of 31st December 

34. Statutory reserve fund 

Opening balance at O I st January 
Transfers during the period 

Closing balance at 31st December 

2019 
Rs. 

4,410,461,270 

4,410,461,270 

641,508,689 
61,396,895 

702,905,584 

2018 
Rs. 

4,410,461,270 

4,410,461,270 

619,600,166 
21,908,523 

641,508,689 

34 a. Five percentage (5%) of the profit after tax is transferred to the reserve fund as per Direction issued by the Central 

Bank of Sri Lanka under section 76 G) (I) of the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988 as amended by Banking (Amendment) Act 
No. 33 of 1995. 

35. Retained earnings 

Opening balance at O I st January 
Adjustments relating to adoption ofSLFRS 09 
Profit for the year 

Net actuarial gain/loss on defied benefit plan 
Tax on other comprehensive income 
Transfer to/from other reserves 
Profit transfeJTed to Head Office 

Closing balance at 31st December 
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I, 126,451 ,683 

1,227,937,909 
17,264, 106 
(4,833,950) 

(61,396,895) 

2,305,422,853 

2, 152,607, 128 
44,126,068 

438,170,468 
(1,729,943) 

484,384 
(21 ,908,523) 

(1,485,297,899) 

I, 126,451,683 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

36. Other reserves 

As at 31st December 2019 

Exchange equalisation of capital (Note 36.a) 
Foreign currency translation reserve (Note 36.b) 
Fair value OCI reserve 

Reserve through Contributed Assets (Note 36.c) 

Total 

As at 31st December 2018 

Opening 
balance at 01st 

January 

Exchange equalisation of capital (Note 
36.a) 309,406,775 
Foreign currency translation reserve (Note 
36.b) 122,963,677 
OCJ reserve 11 ,964,863 
Rese1ve through Contributed Assets (Note 
36.a) 3,743,212,907 

Total 4,187,548,222 

36.a. Exchange equalisation of capital 

Initial 
application 

ofSLFRS 09 

(2,426,085) 

(2,426,085) 

Opening balance Movement/ 
Closing balance 

at 31st at 01st January transfers 
December 

523,634,406 ( I 1,236,982) 512,397,424 
266, 151,609 (4,735,370) 261,416,239 
( I 0,482, 702) 77, 113,599 66,630,897 

3,743,212,907 3,743,212,907 

4,522,516,220 61,141,247 4,583,657,467 

Adjusted 
Movement/ 

Closing balance 
opening balance 

transfers 
at 31st 

at 01st January December 

309,406,775 214,227,63 1 523,634,406 

120,537,592 143, 187,932 266, 151,609 
11,964,863 (22,447,565) ( l0,482,702) 

3,743,212,907 3,743,212,907 

4,185,122,137 334,967,998 4,522,516,220 

Exchange equalisation of capital represents the appreciation /depreciation of capital maintained in foreign currency due to excha.nge 
rate fluctuation. The exchange rate fluctuation is being accounted under exchange equalisation of capital. 

36.b. Exchange equalisation of reserve 
Exchange equalisation of reserve represents the effect of currency translation of Income Statement and Reserve Fund. 

36.c. Reserve through contributed assets 

As explained in Note I I. I This is the un remittable head office expenses reported upto end of financial year 201 l and 2015, 
converted to equity during the financial year 2013 and 20 16 wi th the prior written approval of Central Bank of Sri Lanka. 

37. Contingent liabilities and commitments 

Guarantees 

Letters of credit 
Forward exchange contracts 
Usance Import Bills 

Core accepteance 
Undrawn loan commitments 
Total 

37.a. Movements in impairment during 

Opening balance as at O I January 
Write back to Income Statement 
Closing balance as at 3 1 December 
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2019 

7,930,3 12,010 
3,7 15, 104,64 I 

(59,172,388) 
707,537,295 
365,940,107 

15,776,274,017 
28,435,995,682 

2,328,505 
(1,486,177) 

842,328 

2018 

8,342,955,134 
1,054,286,060 

1,125,714 
832,209,929 
776,842,290 

11,656,432,956 
22,663,852,082 

3,344,102 
(1,015,597) 
2,328,505 
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DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl. STATEMENTS 

38. Related party transactions 

The Branch carried out transactions in the ordinary course of business on an arm's length basis at commercial rates with parties who 
are defined as Related Parties as per the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard - LKAS 24 - 'Related Party Disclosures'. 

38.1 Transactions with Key Management Personnel (KMP) 

Key Management Personnel are those having authority and responsibil ity for planning, directing and control ling the activities or the 

entity. The branch considered the members of its Branch Management Board as KMP with effect from, 0 I st January 20 11 since they 
have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Branch. 

The members of the Branch Management Board of Deutsche Bank AG have been classified as KMP or the Branch as al 31 st 
December 20 19. 

Immediate family me mber is defined as spouse or dependent. Dependent is defined as anyone who depends on the respective KMP 
for more than 50% if his/her financial needs. 

For the year e11ded 31 December 

38.1.1 Compensation to KMP 

Short term employee benefits 
Post employment benefits 

Termination benefits 
Share based payments 

38. 1.2 Transactions, arrangements and agreements involving l<MP 

Lending facilities granted to l<MP 

Lending faci lities granted to KMP 

There were no interest charged on ba lances outstanding from KMP during the year (20 18: Nil). 

There were no Commitments and Contingencies against KMP as al the reporting date (201 8: Nil). 

2019 

Rs. 

201 ,1 07,749 
43,989,396 

300,370,252 
304,091 

50, 11 9,747 

38.1.3 Transactions, arrangements and agreements involving the C lose Family Members (CFM) of KMP 

2018 

Rs. 

193, 155,305 

70,8 17, 179 
9 13,548 

65,461,076 

CFM of a KMP are those family members who may be expected lo influence, or be influenced by, that KMP in their dealings with 
the Branch. They may include KM P's domestic partner and children, chi ldren of the KMP domestic partner and dependants of the 
KMP or the KMP domestic partner. CFM are related parties to the Branch. 

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances related to close family members were as follows: 

As al December 

Deposits received 

Loans and advances granted 

2019 
Balance 

outstanding 
Rs. 

2018 
Balance 

outstanding 
Rs. 

38. 1.4 No impairment losses have been recorded against balances outstanding during the period with key management personnel, 

and no specific allowance has been made for impairment losses on balances w ith key management personnel at the reporting date. 

38.2 Transactions and balances with Group entities 

38.2.a. Transactions with Deutsche Bank Group 

The Branch engages in Inter-group borrowings and !endings, derivative financial instruments with group enlites, tranfer pricing lee 
receivable from group entity, sale or purchase of investment securities in between group entities, Deutsche Bank AG-Colombo 
Branch provident fund. 

Amount receivable and payable from/to Group entities disclosed in Notes 19 and 32. 
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DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 
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38. Related party transactions (Cont.) 

38.2.a. Transactions with Deutsche Bank Group Contd. 

As at December 

Statement of financial position 

Placement with branches 
Derivative financial instruments - assets 
Group balance receivable 

Branches (Branches of Deutsche Bank AG-Frankfurt) 
Subsidiaries (Subsidiaries of Deutsche Bank A G-Frankfz1rt) 

Other Inter-group receivab/eji-0111 Branches and Head Office 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at amortised cost - Loans and advances 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Due to branches 
Derivative financial instruments - liabi lities 
Financial liabi lities at amortized cost - Due to depositors 
Group balance payable 

Inter-entity expenses payable to HO and branches 
Branches (Branches of Deutsche Bank AG-Frankfi1rt) 

Contingent liabilities and commitments 

For tJ,eyear ended 31 December 

Income statement 

Interest income 
Interest expense 
Other income 
Other operating expenses 

38.2.b. Balances with the Employee's provident fund 

2019 

Rs. 

3,875,053,739 
3,979,934 

944,515,205 
660,391 ,284 
101,973,721 

17,816,192,003 
11,606,070 

3, I 07,770,642 
49,95 1,559 

4,968,522,917 

2019 
Rs. 

79,498,759 
369,726, 186 
21,696,163 

1,091 ,127,333 

2018 
Rs. 

3,659,242,958 
380,863 

1,255,752,846 
1,034,449,360 

92,112,985 

11,773,090,094 
456,361 

2, 143,976,870 
37,863,935 

4,370,488,804 

2018 
Rs. 

63,580,663 
263,7 15,972 

56,093,524 
941 ,612,681 

According to Sri Lanka Accounting Standard LKAS 24 "Related Pa1ty Disclosures", a party is related to the entity if, 
the party is a post- employment benefits plan for the benefits of employees of the entity. 

As at December 2019 2018 
Rs. Rs. 

Statement of financial position 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to depositors 37,226,4 17 19,443,448 

For tJ,eye"r ended 31 December 2019 2018 
Rs. Rs. 

Income statement 
Other operating expenses 171 ,000 171 ,000 
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39. Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial liabili ties 

The follow ing tables set out the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabi lities and financial assets of the Branch. 

As at 31 December 2019 

Financial assets by type 

Non-derivative assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Balances with Central Bank 

Placements with banks 

Placements with branches 

Financial assets measured at fai r value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans to and receivables from 
other customers 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

Group balances receivables 

Other assets 

Derivative assets 

Derivative financial instruments 

Financial liabilities by type 

Non-derivative liabilities 

Due to branches 

Financial liabilities at amo11ized cost - Due to depositors 

Other liabilities 

Group balance payable 

Derivative liabilities 

Derivative financial instruments 

Can-ying 
Amount 

Rs. 

11 5,867,718 

7,676,645,448 

751,456,928 

3,875,053,739 

6,799,440, 126 

14,643,024,53 I 

13,740,777,8 11 

I, 706,880,210 

343,385,450 

37,878,127 

17,8 16,192,003 

16,714,490,579 

Up to 
3 months 

Rs. 

115,867,718 

7,676,645,448 

75 1,456,928 

3,875,053,739 

14,467,90 1,333 

5,800,126,307 

1,604,906,210 

343,385,450 

37,878, 127 

12,290,978,885 

16,71 1,340,579 

64,414,789 64,414,789 

3, 157,722,201 3,157,722,20 1 

40,243,365 40,243,365 
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3 to 
12 months 

Rs. 

1,551,807,866 

22,187,3 83 

2,316,476,888 

101 ,974,000 

3, 150,000 

1 to 3 years 

Rs. 

5,247,632,260 

88,190,385 

5,581,835,632 

5,525,21 3,118 

3 to 5 years 

Rs. 

26,744,8 12 

More than 
5 years 

Rs. 

38,000,618 

42,338,984 

Total 

Rs. 

115,867,7 18 

7,676,645,448 

751,456,928 

3,875,053,739 

6,799,440, 126 

14,643,024,53 I 

13,740,777,8 11 

1,706,880,210 

343,385,450 

37,878,127 

17,8 16,192,003 

16,714,490,579 

64,414,789 

3, 157,722,20 I 

40,243,365 



DEUTSCHE BANK AG - COLOMBO BRANCH 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

39. Matu ri ty analysis for financial liabilities and fi nancial assets (Cont.) 

The following tables set out the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabi lities and financial assets of the Branch. 

As at 31 December 2018 

Financia l assets by type 

Non-derivative assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Balances with Central Bank 

Placements with banks 

Placements with branches 

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans to and receivables 
from other customers 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

Group balances receivables 

Other assets 

Derivative assets 

Derivative financial instruments 

Financial liabilities by type 

Non-derivative liabilities 

Due to branches 

Financial liabi lities at amortized cost - Due to depositors 

Other liabil ities 

Group balance payable 

Derivative liabilities 

Derivative financial instruments 

Carrying 
Amount 

Rs. 

67,662,700 

2,607,526,990 

3,200,785,274 

3,659,242,958 

11,982,229,178 

15,299,739,626 

2,382,3 I 5, 19 1 

1,745,658,444 

7,553,987 

11 ,773,090,094 

15,33 1,658,192 

56,553,73 1 

2,181,840,805 

5,582,806 

Up to 
3 months 

Rs. 

67,662,700 

2,607,526,990 

3,200,785,274 

3,659,242,958 

11,778,496,775 

9,195,715,315 

2,290,202,206 

1,745,658,444 

7,553,987 

8,063,092,000 

15,324,380,789 

56,553,731 

37,863,935 

5,582,806 

56 

3 to 
12 months 

Rs. 

2,207,449 

2,386,137,000 

92, 112,985 

I to 3 years 

Rs. 

6,960,576 

3,716,287,3 11 

3,709,998,094 

2,143,976,870 

3 to 5 years 

Rs. 

51,821,076 

7,277,403 

More than 
5 years 

Rs. 

-

142,743,302 

1,600,000 

Total 

Rs. 

67,662,700 

2,607,526,990 

3,200,785,274 

3,659,242,958 

I 1,982,229,178 

15,299,739,626 

2,382.315, 191 

1,745,658,444 

7,553,987 

11,773,090,094 

15 ,331,658,192 

56,553,731 

2,181 ,840,805 

5,582,806 
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40. Analysis of financial instruments by measurement basis 

Note 40. 1 Analysis of financial instruments by measurement basis 

The following table provides a reconciliat ion between line items in the statement of financial position and categories of 

financial instruments of the Branch. 

As at 31st December 2019 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Balances with Central Bank 

Placements with banks 

Placements with branches 
Derivative financial instruments 

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL) 

AC 
Rs. 

115,867,718 
7,676,645,448 

751 ,456,928 
3,875,053,739 

FVTPL 
Rs. 

37,878,127 

FVOCI 
Rs. 

Total 
Rs. 

115,867,718 
7,676,645,448 

751 ,456,928 
3,875,053,739 

37,878,127 

6,799,440, 126 6,799,440,126 

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and 
Advances 

14,639,695,090 14,639,695,090 

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

Group balances receivables 

Other assets 

Total financial assets 

Financial liabilities 
Due to branches 

Derivative financial instruments 
Financia l liabilities at amortized cost 

Group ba lance payable 
Other liabilities 

Total inancial liabi lities 

As at 31st December 2018 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Balances with Central Bank 

Placements with banks 

Placements with branches 

Derivative financial instruments 

Loans and Rece ivables to customers 

Financ ial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

Group balances receivables 

Other assets 

Total financial assets 

Financial liabilities 
Due to branches 

I, 706,880,2 10 
343,385,450 

29, I 08,984,583 

AC 
Rs. 

67,662,700 
2,607,526,990 
3,200,785,274 
3,659,242,958 

11 ,977,224,364 

2,382,3 15, 191 
1,745,658,444 

25,640,415,921 

Derivative financ ia l instruments 

Due to other customers 

Group balance payable 

Other liabilities 

Total financial liabilities 
D L 

AC - Financial assets/liabi lities measured at amortized cost 

13,740,777,811 13,740,777,811 

I , 706,880,2 10 
343,385,450 

6,837,3 18,253 13,740,777,811 49,687,080,647 

AC 
Rs. 

17,816, 192,003 

16,714,490,579 
3,157,722,201 

64,414,789 
37,752,819,572 

FVTPL 
Rs. 

FVTPL 
Rs. 

Total 
Rs. 

17,816,192,003 
40,243,365 40,243,365 

16,714,490,579 
3,157,722,20 1 

64,414,789 
40,243,365 37,793,062,937 

FVOCI 
Rs. 

Total 
Rs. 

67,662,700 
2,607,526,990 
3,200,785,274 
3,659,242,958 

7,553,987 7,553,987 
11 ,977,224,364 

15,299,739,626 15,299,739,626 

2,382,315,191 
1,745,658,444 

7,553,987 15,299,739,626 40,947,709,534 

AC 
Rs. 

I I, 773,090,094 

15,33 1,658, 192 
2,18 1,840,805 

56,553,73 1 
29,343,142,822 

FVTPL Total 

Rs. Rs. 

11 ,773,090,094 
5,582,806 5,582,806 

15,33 1,658, 192 
2, 181,840,805 

56,553,731 
5,582,806 29,348,725,628 

FVTPL - Financia l assets/ liabi lities measured at fair value through profit or loss 

FVOCI - Financial assets measured at fair value through,<¥her comprehensive income 
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40. Analysis of financial instruments by measurement basis (Cont.) 

Valuatio n framework 

The Branch has an established control framework for the measurement of fair values. This framework includes a Product 
Control function , which is independent of front office management and reports to the Senior Management Forum, and which 
has overall responsibility for independently verifying the results ofoperations and all significant fair value measurements. 

40.2.a Assets and liabilities measured at fair value and fair value hierarchy 

The following table provides an analysis of assets and liabilities measured at fair value as at the Reporting date, by the level 
in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised. These amounts were based on the values 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 

As (If 31st Decemebr 2019 

Financial assets 

Derivative financial instruments 

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss 

Treasury Bills 
Treasu1y Bonds 

Financial assets measured at fa ir value through 
other comprehensive income 
Treasury Bills 
Sri Lanka Development Bond 
Equity securities 

Total financial assets 

Financial liabilities 
Derivative financial instruments 
Total financial liabilities 

As (If 31st Decemebr 2018 

Financial assets 

Derivative financia l instruments 

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 
Treasury Bills 
Treasury Bonds 
Sri Lanka Development Bond 
Equity securities 

Total financial assets 

Financial liabilities 

Derivative financial instruments 
Total financial liabilities 

Levell 
Rs. 

1,450,4 16,7 10 
5,349,023,416 

4,402,721 ,537 

11 ,202,161,663 

Level I 
Rs. 

6,288,822,700 
1,578,459,245 

Level2 
Rs. 

37,878,127 

9,295,7 I 7,290 

9,333,595,417 

40,243,365 
40,243,365 

Level2 
Rs. 

7,553,987 

7,430,857,68 I 

7,867,281,945 7,438,411,668 

5,582,806 
5,582,806 
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Level3 
Rs. 

42,338,984 

42,338,984 

Level 3 
Rs. 

1,600,000 

1,600,000 

Total 
Rs. 

37,878,127 

1,450,416,710 
5,349,023,416 

4,402,72 I ,537 
9,295,717,290 

42,338,984 

20,578,096,064 

40,243,365 
40,243,365 

Total 
Rs. 

7,553,987 

6,288,822,700 

7,430,857,681 
1,600,000 

13,728,834,368 

5,582,806 
5,582,806 
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For t/Jeyear ended 31 December 2019 

40. Analysis of financial instruments by measurement basis (Cont.) 

40.2.b Financial instruments not measured at fair value and fair value hierarchy 

Methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair value of financial instruments which are not already recorded at 
fair value in the Statement of Financial Position are as follows. 

Fixed rate financial instruments 

The fair value of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost (eg. fixed rate loans and Advances, due 
to other customers, subordinate liabilities) are estimated based on the Discounted Cash Flow approach. This approach 

employs the current market interest rates of similar financial instruments as a significant unobservable input in measuring 
the fair value and hence it is categorised under Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 

Sensitivity of significant unobservable inputs used to measure fair value of fixed rate financial instruments. 

A significant increase/(decrease) in the market interest rate would result in lower/(higher) fair value being disclosed. 

Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value 

For financial assets and liabilities with short term maturities or with short term re-pricing intervals, it is assumed that the 

carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits and savings deposits 
which do not have a specific maturity. 

The table in the next page sets out the fair values of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value and related 
fair value hierarchy: 
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40. Analysis of financial instruments by measurement basis (Cont.) 

40.2.b Financial instruments not measured at fair va lue and fa ir value hierarchy (Cont.) 

Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value 
For financial assets and liabil ities with short term maturities or with short term re-pricing intervals, it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This assumption is also 
applied to demand deposits and savings deposits which do not have a specific maturity. 

The following table sets out the fair values of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value and related fai r value hierarchy: 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 
Balances with Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka 

Placements with Banks 
Placements with 
Branches 
Group Balances 
Receivables 

fi nancial assets at 
amortized cost - Loans 
and Advances 

Other Assets 

Financial Liabilities 
Due to Branches 

Level I 

Rs. 

Levet2 

Rs. 

11 5,867,7 18 

7,676.645,448 

75 1,456,928 

3,875.053, 739 

I, 706,880,2 10 

14,125,904,043 

17,8 16, 192,003 

49,95 1,559 

J 7,866,143,562 

As at 31 D ecember 2019 

Total Fair 
Lcvel3 

Value 

Rs. Rs. 

11 5,867,7 18 

7,676,645,448 

- 75 1,456,928 

3.875.053, 739 

1.706,880,210 

14,639,695,090 14,639.695.090 

343,385,450 343,385,450 

14,983,080,540 291108,984,583 

17,8 16, 192,003 

16,7 14,490,579 16,714,490,579 

3, 107,770,642 3, 157,722,20 1 

64,41 4,789 64,4 14,789 

19,886,676,010 37,752,819,572 

Total Carrying 
Level 2 

Amount 
Level I 

Rs. Rs. Rs. 

11 5,867,7 18 67,662.700 

7 .6 76,645,448 2,607,526.990 

75 1,456,928 3,200.785,274 

3.875,053,739 3.659,242,958 

1. 706,880,210 2,382,3 15. I 9 1 

14.639,695,090 

343,385,450 

29,108,984,583 1 I ,91 7,533,113 

17.8 I 6, 192,003 I 1,773,090,094 

16,714,490,579 

3,157.722,201 - 37,863,935 

64.4 14,789 

37,752,819,572 11 ,810,954,029 
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As al 3 1 December 2018 

Level3 
Total Fair Total Carrying 

Value Amount 

Rs. Rs. Rs. 

67.662.700 67.662.700 

2.607,526.990 2.607 .526. 990 

3.200.785,274 3,200,785,274 

3.659.242.958 3,659,242.958 

2.382.3 I 5. 19 1 2,382,3 15,191 

11,977.224.364 11 ,977,224.364 11,977,224,364 

1,745.658,444 1,745,658,444 1,745,658,444 

13,722,882,808 25,640,415,921 25,640,415,921 

11, 773.090,094 11 ,773,090,094 

15,331,658.192 15,33 1,658,192 15.331,658.192 

2, 143.976.870 2, 18 1,840,805 2, 181,840,805 

56,553,73 1 56,553,731 56,553,731 

17,532,188,793 29,343,J 42,822 __ 29,343,.142,822 
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 

40. Analysis of Financial Instruments by Measurement Basis (Cont.) 

40.3 Valuation Techniques and Inputs in Measuring Fair Values 

Table below provides information on the valuation techniques and inputs used in measuring the fair values of Derivative 
Financial assets and liabilities in the Level 2 and unquoted shares in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as given in Note 
40.2a above. 

Type of Financial 
Instruments 

Fair Value as at 
31 December 

Rs. 

Valuation Technique 
Significant 
Valuation Inputs 

Derivative Financial Assets 37,878,127 Adjusted Forward Rate Approach -Spot exchange rate 

-Interest rate 

This approach considers the present value differentials between 

Derivative Financial Liabilities 40,243,365 of projected forward exchange rate as at currencies under 
the Reporting date as the fair value. The consideration 
said forward rate is projected based on the 
spot exchange rate and the forward 
premium/discount calculated using 
extrapolated interest rates of the currency 
pairs under consideration. In computing 
the present value, interest rate differential 
between two currencies under 
consideration is used as the discount rate. 

Unquoted Shares 42,338,984 Net book value per 

The unquoted shares, which are held for share 
regulatory purposes, are valued based on 
internal management information derived 
from the audited financial statements 
based on the net asset value of the 
investee, which is a significant 
unobservable input in measuring the fair 
value and hence it is categorized under 
level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 

Note 40.4 Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value 

The following table shows a reconciliation form the opening balances to the closing balances for Level 3 fair values. 

Balance as at 1 January 2018 
Gain included in OCI 
- Net change in fair value (unrealized) 

Balanceasat31 Decembcr2018 

Balance as at I January 2019 

Gain included in OCI 
- Net change in fair value (unrealized) 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 
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Unquoted Equity 
Securities 

Rs. 
1,600,000 

1,600,000 

1,600,000 

40,738,984 

42,338,984 
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For tlteyear ended 31st December 2019 

41. Financial risk review 

This note presents information about the Branch's exposure to financial risks and the Branch's management of capital. 

41.1 Risk management approach 

The scope of the risk management framework is the foundation of the internal capital adequacy assessment process 

(ICAAP) which is embedded in all risk processes and risk decisions of DB Colombo across businesses and infrastructure 
functions. DB Colombo's ICAAP framework follows the general ICAAP framework of DB Group. 

The risk appetite expresses the aggregate level of risk that DB Colombo is wi lling to assume within its risk capacity to 

achieve strategic objectives and business plan as defined by a set of minimum quantitative and qualitative statements. 

Risk capacity is defined as the maximum level of risk DB Colombo can assume given the capital and liquidity base, risk 
management and control capabilities, and regulatory constraints. The thresholds for key risk appetite metrics are fully 

integrated into DB Colombo's risk management processes: the thresholds are considered in the planning process, and are 
subjected to stress testing. 

As part of the planning process, long-term targets of DB Colombo are a11iculated, its business lines, for the next 5 years. 

These targets are defined in key performance indicators (KP!) which, besides others, also cover the key risk appetite 
metrics. 

The Strategic and Capital Plan translates DB Colombo's long-term strategy into measurable short to mid-tenn financial 

targets and enables intra-year performance management. The Strategic and Capital Plan ensures alignment of earnings, 

balance sheet and capital targets including risk appetite with the strategy of DB Colombo and provides the basis for 
ongoing Performance Management. 

Liquidity Risk Management (LRM) is a governance function of LRM team and Branch Treasury manages liquidity risk 
within LRM set parameters and within ALCO framework. 

41.2 Organizational set up of risk management 

Branch Management Board (BMB) 

The Branch Management Board (BMB), exercises strategic control and supervision of DB Colombo. It monitors DB 

Colombo's risk and capital profile regularly. BmB is responsible for defining and implementing comprehensive and 

al igned business and risk strategies, as well as ensuring well defined risk management functions recommended by the 

relevant Risk Groups and operating processes are in place to ensure that DB Colombo's overall performance is aligned 
to its business and risk strategy. 

For risk-related topics, the risk management committees directly established by the Branch are in particular the Branch 
Management Board (BMB) and Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO). 

Committee Structure 

Branch Management Board (8MB) Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) 

Chair Frequency Chair Frequency 

Chief Country Officer Monthly Treasurer Eight meetings per annum 

Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) 

The Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) has responsibility for the alignment of risk appetite, capitalisation 

requirements and funding needs of DB Colombo with Group-wide, divisional and sub-divisional business strategies. It 
steers efficient capital consumption by determining capital ava ilability in support of divisional business portfolios, 
capital eam,arked for fresh investments, as well as other uses. 

41.3 Risk identification & assessment 

The primary purpose of the risk identification and assessment process is to identify and assess all risks that DB Colombo 

is exposed to according to their relevance and adequacy of the risk management framework in place. The underly ing risk 
inventory is essentially structured into three key elements: 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.3 Risk identification & assessment (Cont.) 

* identification and assessment of all the risks 

* approval of the risk inventory 

* embedding of these risks into the risk management practices 

The process is canied out on an annual or an ad-hoc basis if required by the Branch Management Board (BmB) which 

then involves the respective I st and 2nd Line of Defence (LoD) in the identification and assessment. 

The risk identification and assessment process is an integral part of DB Colombo's risk management. Particularly, it is 

aligned with the risk appetite framework as follows: The risk appetite is articulated on a universal level in terms of 

capital and liquidity ratios and supplemented by risk type specific risk appetites. 

41.4 DB Colombo risk appetite 

DB Colombo's risk appetite consists o( minimum quantitative metrics (key risk appetite metrics incl. per risk type) and 

qualitative statements, monitored and reported regularly, these components are fundamental components of the Bank's 
risk management. 

Key risk appetite metrics 

DB Colombo assigns seven key risk appetite metrics that are sensitive to its material risks. 
These metrics are: 

- Common Equity Tier I (CETl) ratio 

- Total capital adequacy ratio 

- Economic Capital Adequacy (ECA) ratio 

- Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) 

- Stressed Net Liquidity Position (sNLP) 

- Funding Matrix (FM) 

- Net Stable funding ratio (NSFR) 

Monitoring of risk appetite 

Ongoing tracking and monitoring of the actual risk profile vs. risk appetite for all risk appetite metrics in DB Colombo 

are captured in the quarterly 'Risk, Capital and Profile (RCP)' report. The RCP is presented to the Branch Management 
Board (BMB). 

Escalation mechanism 

In the event that the Bank's desired risk appetite is breached under either normal or stress scenarios, an escalation 

governance matrix as predefined locally is applied so these breaches are highlighted to the Branch Management Board 

(BMB). As such, the Branch Management Board (BMB) has to review and decide if fu1iher escalation to the Group and/ 

or mitigating actions are required to bring the risk profile back to the desired risk appetite. The risk appetite framework 

is approved by the Branch Management Board (BMB). 

Risk culture 

Branch promotes a strong risk culture where employees at all levels are responsible for the management and escalation 

of risks. Branch expects employees to exhibit behaviors that support a strong risk culture in line with our Code of 
Business Conduct and Ethics. 

Branch has a principles-based assessment of risk culture, in particular focusing on risk awareness, risk ownership and 

management of risk within risk appetite. Assessment results are incorporated into existing risk reporting, reinforcing the 

message that risk culture is an integral part of effective day-to-day risk management. 

Three Lines of Defence (3LoD) 

We operate a Three Lines of Defense ("3LoD") risk management model, in which risk, control and reporting 
responsibilities are defined. 

- The 1st Line of Defense ("1st LoD") refers to those roles in the Branch whose activities generate risks, wheth1 
financial or non-financ ial. 

- The 2nd Line of Defense (' '2nd LoD" ) refers to the risk type controller roles in the Branch who faci litate ti· 

implementation ofa sound risk management framework throughout the organization 

- The 3rd Line of Defense ("3 rd LoD") is Group Audit, which is accountable for providing independent and objecti, 

assurance on the adequacy of the design and effectiveness of the systems of internal control and risk management. 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.5 Risk measurement 

Besides the standardized approach used to fulfil pillar I requirement, and in consistence with DB Group's approach, DB 

Colombo takes into account a comprehensive variety of risks that result of the Branch's business activities, respecting a more 
economical approach (Pillar 2 Framework) on top of the regulatory approach. 

DB Colombo considers the pillar 2 model framework to be more adequate for risk management and steering of the Branch 

given the respective Economic Capital (EC) captures the portfolio specifics and risk management practices vs. the minimum 
requirements of the generically applicable regulatory models. 

DB Colombo's internal risk measures are based on DB Group economic risk quantification methodologies and governance. DB 

Group uses different methodologies for the assessment of risks that provides qualitative as well as quantitative assessments. 

Accountability for proper measurement approaches is lying with DB global Heads of the respective risk type who are also 
members of DB Group Risk Committee (GRC). 

41.6 Risk Reporting and Monitoring 

DB Colombo's risk reporting is aligned throughout the organisation to support DB Colombo's risk management framework 

and in particular the risk management processes and activities. The DB Colombo Risk & Capital Profile Report is presented to 

the Branch Management Board (8MB) on a quarterly basis. It comprises an overview of the current profit and loss, risk, 
capital and liquidity status of DB Colombo, also incorporating information on regulatory capital and economic capital 
adequacy. Relevant stress testing results are also included in this report on a regular basis. 

Senior DB Colombo risk/executive committees also receive supplemental regular reporting (as well as ad-hoc reporting as 

required), if deemed relevant by the CRO/Treasurer of DB Colombo or if required due to Group policies. Repo11ing as such 
includes but is not limited to 

- The quarterly Risk & Capital Profile (RCP) report; 

- The monthly standard MIS containing credit portfolio information 

- The daily risk performance status report on market risk; and 

- The ALCO report on capital, funding and liquidity of the Branch, as well as liquidity stress testing (where relevant). 

41.7 Stress Testing governance and processes 

Benchmark stress tests 

Benchmark stress tests are generally based on severe macroeconomic downturn scenarios calibrated to an approximately 20% 

likelihood of occurrence over a period of twelve months. Although the scenario probability is expected to stay constant, the 

actual assumptions used in the scenario depend on the macroeconomic and financial conditions and outlook at the time of 
running it. 

The regular group-wide macro benchmark stress tests are performed on the quarter-end portfolios 

As part of the Legal Entity ICAAP Program DB Colombo receives on a qua11erly basis the results of the stress tests based on 
the benchmark scenario applied on group level. 

41.8 Risk tra nsfcrs 

Risk transfers to third parties form a key part of the overall risk management process and are executed in various forms, 

including outright sales, single name and portfolio hedging, and securitizations. Risk transfers are conducted by the respective 
business units, in accordance with specifically approved mandates. 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9 Key types of Risks 

The Branch has exposure to the following key risks from financia l instruments: 

Credit Risk 

Liquidity risk 

Market risk 

Operational Risk 

41.9.1 Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from all transactions where actual, contingent or potential c laims against any counterparty, borrower or 

obligor (which is referred to collectively as "counterparties") exist, including those claims that DB Colombo plans to 
distribute 

The below dimensions are the key drivers for credit risk: 

Risk 

Cunterparty risk 

Country risk 

Industry risk 

Product risk 

HRisk definition 

Risk that cocunterparties fail to meet contractual obligations 

Risk that Deutsch Bank Colombo Branch may suffer a loss due to possible deterioration of 

economic conditions; political and social upheaval; nationalization and expropriation of assets; 
govei·nment repudiation of external debt indebtedness; exchange controls or currency depreciation 
of devaluation in any given country. 

Risk of adverse developments in the operating environment for a specific industry segment leading 

to a deterioration in the financia l profile of counterparties operating in that segment and resulting in 
increased CR across this portfolio of counterparties. 

Risk driven by the underlying structure and economic dependencies of the product in question and 

can include factors such as tenor, recovery expectations and likelihood of having and exposure at 

the time of a default. Also includes "settlement risk" arising from the non-simultaneous transfer of 

cash or securities due to the settlement or clearance of trades. 

4 l.9.1.J Credit risk stress testing 

Credit risk stress tests of economic capital and also local regulatory demand are based on ·Group Credit Risk Stress Test 

methodology (Global Downturn or another macroeconomic stress scenario). The results are provided by Group on a 

quarterly basis in a standard template. In general, legal entity stress test can be perfonned using the group-allocated view or 

the standalone view. In the Fonner case, one considers transactions of the legal entity towards DB group as risk free, 

whereas in the latter case, only transactions within the legal entity are considered as risk free. Deviations from the provided 

credit risk stress tests required to reflect local specifics or local regulatory requirements have to be approved by the Group. 

The stress on local credit risk regulatory capital is calculated locally. For this purpose, the specifically calculated rating 

migration matrix (based on the Global Downturn Scenario or another macroeconomic stress scenario) provided by Group is 

applied to the local rated portfolio. The migration matrix is an output from the Group Credit Stress Test (GCST) which is 

the macroeconomic downturn (as mentioned above) applied on the Branch's credit portfolio using the internal EC model to 

calculate rating downgrade impact. By applying regulatory risk weights to the exposure of the derived portfolio, stressed 
R WA are calculated. 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.1 Credit risk (Cont.) 

41.9.1.2 Maximum Exposure 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period without taking into consideration of any collateral 
held or other credit enhancements is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the Statement of 
Financial Position after deducting any impa_irment a llowance. A summary of the maximum exposure is as follows: 

Total gross credit risk exposures broken down by major types of credit exposure 

As at 3 I December 

On-balance sheet items 

Balances with Banks & Financial Institutions 

Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
Placements with Banks 
Placements with Branches 

Group balances receivable 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and Advances 

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
Other assets 
Total on-balance sheet items 

Off-balance sheet items 
Guarantees 

Letters of credit 

Forward exchange contracts 
Usance Import Bills 
Core accepteance 

Undrawn loan commitments 
Total off-balance sheet items 
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2019 
Rs. 

67,697,203 
7,676,645,448 

751,456,928 
3,875,053,739 
1,706,880,2 I 0 
6,799,440, 126 

14,643,024,531 
13,740,777,8 11 

343,385,450 
49,260,975,996 

7,930,3 12,010 
3,7 15, 104,641 

(59,172,388) 
707,537,295 
365,940,107 

15,776,274,0 17 
28,435,995,682 

2018 
Rs. 

16,209,298 
2,607,526,990 
3,200,785,274 
3,659,242,958 
2,382,315, 19 1 

I l ,982,229,178 
15,299,739,626 

1,745,658,444 
39,148,048,515 

8,342,955,134 
1,054,286,060 

1,125,7 14 
832,209,929 
776,842,290 

11 ,656,432,956 
22,663,852,082 
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41. F inancia l r isk review (cont.) 

41.9.1 Cred it risk (Cont.) 

41.9.1.3 Geographic d ist ribut ion of exposures, broken downs in significant a reas by types of credit exposu re 

As at 31 December 2019 

On-balance sheet items 

Balances with Banks & Financial Institutions 
Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
Placements with Banks 
Placements with Branches 
Group balances receivable 
Financial investments in Government securities 
Financial investments in Equity securities 
Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and Advances 
Other assets 

Total on-balance sheet items 

Off-balance sheet items 

Guarantees 
Letters of credit 
Forward exchange contracts 
Usance Import Bills 
Core acceptances 
Undrawn loan commitments 

Total off-balance sheet items 

Sri Lanka 

Rs. 

7,676,645,448 

75 1,456,928 

20,497,878,953 

42,338,984 

14,643,024,531 

343,385,450 

43,954,730,294 

1, 168,529,718 

3,7 15, 104,64 1 

(59, 172,388) 

707,537,295 

365,940, I 07 

15,776,274,0 I 7 

21,674,213,390 
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Asia Pacific (excl North & Latin 
Sri Lanka) America 

Rs. Rs. 

24,532,500 1,557,349 

3,875,053,739 

132,669,293 660,39 1,358 

4,032,255,532 661,948,707 

4,343,665,428 

-

-

4,343,665,428 -

Europe Total 

Rs. Rs. 

4 1,607,354 67,697,203 

7,676,645,448 

75 1,456,928 

3,875,053,739 

9 13,8 19,559 1,706,880,2 10 

20,497,878,953 

42,338,984 

14,643,024,531 

343,385,450 

955,426,913 49,604,361,446 

2,418, 11 6,864 7,930,312,010 

3,715, 104,641 

(59, 172,388) 

707,537,295 

365,940, I 07 

15,776,274,0 17 

2,4 t 8,116,864 28,435,995,682 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.1 Credit risk (Cont.) 

41.9.1.3 Geographic distribution of exposures, broken downs in significant a reas by types of credit exposure (Cont.) 

As at 31 December 2018 Sri Lanka 
Asia Pacific (excl 

Sri Lanka) 

Rs. Rs. 
On-balance sheet items 
Balances with Banks & Financial Institutions 7,730,4 10 
Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 2,607,526,990 
Placements with Banks 3,200,785,274 
Placements with Branches 3,659,242,958 
Group balances receivable 93,905,568 
Financial investments in Government securities 15,298,139,626 
Financial investments in Equity securities 1,600,000 
Financial assets at amo11ized cost - Loans and Advances I 1,982,229, 178 
Other assets 1,745,658,444 
Total on-balance sheet items 34,835,939,512 3,760,878,936 

Off-balance sheet items 
Guarantees I ,4 I 8,228,513 3834656059 
Letters of credit I ,054,286,060 
Forward exchange contracts 1, 125,714 
Usance Import Bi lls 832,209,929 
Core acceptances 776,842,290 
Undrawn loan commitments I 1,656,432,956 
Total off-balance sheet items 15,739, 125,46 I 3,834,656,059 
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North & Latin 
America 

Europe Total 

Rs. Rs. Rs. 

1,068,634 7,410,254 16,209,298 
2,607,526,990 
3,200,785,274 
3,659,242,958 

I ,033,369,334 1,255,040,289 2,382,315, 19 1 
15,298, I 39,626 

1,600,000 
I 1,982,229, I 78 
I , 745,658,444 

1,034,437,968 1,262,450,543 40,893,706,959 

64032500 3026038062 8,342,955, I 34 
1,054,286,060 

1,125,7 14 
- 832,209,929 

776,842,290 
11 ,656,432,956 

64,032,500 3,026,038,062 22,663,852,082 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.1 Credit risk (Cont.) 

41.9.1.4 Concentrations of Credit Risk 

By setting various concentration limits under different criteria within the established risk appetite framework (i.e., single borrower/ group, industry sectors, product, counterparty and 
country etc.), the Branch ensures that an acceptable level of risk diversification is maintained on an ongoing basis. These limits are continuously monitored and periodically reviewed by 
the 8MB and Branch Compliance team to capture the developments in market, political and economical environment both locally and internationally to strengthen the dynamic portfolio 
management practices and to provide an early warning on possible credit concentrations. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk to the components of financial assets in the Statement of Financial Position as at December 31 , broken down by industry sector and of financial 
assets are given below: 

Financial Assets 

As at 31 December 2019 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Balances with Central bank of Sri Lanka 
Placements with Banks 
Placements with Branches 
Group balances receivable 
Investments in Government securities 
Investments in Equity securities 
Loans and Advances 
Other assets 

Agriculture 

Rs. 

2,654,989 

2,654,989 

Manufacturing Construction Trading 

Rs. Rs. Rs. 

5,437,766,996 2,469,307,925 4,919,601 ,624 

5,437,766,996 2,469,307,925 4,919,601,624 
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Finance, 
Insurance and Other Total 

business services 

Rs. Rs. Rs. 

115,867,7 I 8 115,867,7 18 
7,676,645,448 - 7 ,676,645,448 

751 ,258,420 - 751,258,420 
3,875,053,739 3,875,053 ,739 
1,706,880,210 1,706,880,2 10 

20,497,878,953 20,497,878,953 
42,338,984 42,338,984 

1,813,692,997 14,643,024,531 
343,385,450 343,385,450 

35,009,308,922 1,813,692,997 49,652,333,453 

(~ *' ~ i( V) 

~:?b~~ 'I) 
~ 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9. 1 Credit risk (Cont.) 

41.9. I .4 Concentrations of Credit Risk (Cont.) 

Financial Assets 

As (If 31 December 20 I 8 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
Placements with Banks 
Placements with Branches 
Group balances receivable 
Investments in Government securities 
Investments in Equity securities 
Loans and Advances 
Other assets 

Agriculture Manufacturing Construction Trading 

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. 

14,410,239 5,3 59,883,006 12 1,656,039 4,026, 707,50 I 

14,410,239 5,359,883,006 121,656,039 4,026,707,501 

41.9. 1.5 Residual contractual maturity breakdown of the whole credit portfolio, by major types of credit exposure 

As at December 31 2019 

Type 
Utilisation / 
Exposure 

Rs. 
< I year On-balance sheet 38,602,459 

Off-Balance Sheet I 0,392,80 I 
I year- 5 years On-balance sheet 10,594, 159 

Off-Balance Sheet 1,567,466 
> 5 years On-balance sheet ~ 64,159 

Off-Balance Sheet 16,475,729 . 

Finance, 
Insurance and Other Total 

business services 

Rs. Rs. Rs. 

67,662,700 67,662,700 

2,607,526,990 2,607,526,990 
3,200,611 ,741 3,200,611 ,74 1 

3,659,242,958 3,659,242,958 

2,382,3 15, 19 1 - 2,382,315,191 

15,298,139,626 - 15,298, 139,626 

1,600,000 1,600,000 
2,362,706 2,457,209,687 11 ,982,229,178 

1,745,658,444 1,745,658,444 

28,965,120,356 2,457,209,687 40,944,986,828 

2018 

Total 
Utilisation / 

Total 
Exposure 

Rs. Rs. Rs. 
35,318,683 

48,995,260 17,890,659 53,209,342 
3,742,980 

12, 161,625 3,502, 189 7,245, 169 
86,213 

16,539,888 1,271,004 1,357,2 17 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.1 Credit risk (Cont.) 

41.9.1.6 Amount Arising from ECL 

Loss Allowance 
The following table shows reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of 
financial instrument. 

2018 For t/Jeyear eutled 31st Decembe _______ 20_l_9 _ _ ______________ _ 

Stage 1 
Rs. 

Placements with Banks at Amortised Cost 

Balance at I January 
Charge during the year 
Balance at 3 I December 

173,533 
24,975 

198,508 

Stage 2 
Rs. 

Total Stage 1 
Rs. Rs. 

173,533 145,013 
24,975 28,52 1 

198,508 173,533 

Placements with Branches and Balances with Central Bank at Amortised Cost 

Stage 2 Total 
Rs. Rs. 

145,013 
28,521 

173,533 

No impairment provision was recognised on Balances with Central Bank and Placements with Branches at Amortised 
Cost. 

For t!teyear ended 31st Decembe 2019 2018 
Stage I Stage 2 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Total 

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. 

Loans and Advances to Customers at Amortised Cost 

Balance at I January 4,796,892 207,923 5,004,8 15 4,033,391 649,793 4,683,184 

(Reversal)/Charge during the year ( 1,470,534) (204,840) ( 1,675,374) 763,50 1 (441 ,870) 321,630 

Balance at 3 1 December 3 326,358 3,083 3,329,441 4,796,892 207,923 5,004,815 

Financial investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Balance at I January 32,507,353 32,507,353 35,010,757 35,0 10,757 

Charge/(reversal) during the year 47,781,531 47,781,531 (2,503,404) (2,503,404) 

Balance at 3 I December 80,288,884 80,288,884 32,507,353 32,507,353 

Commitments and Contingencies 

Balance at I January 2,282,66 1 45,844 2,328,505 2,648,489 695,6 13 3,344, 102 
(Reversal) during the year (1,440,333) (45,844) (1,486,177) (365,828) (649,769) (1,0 15,597) 
Balance at 3 1 December 842,328 842,328 2,282,661 451844 2,328,505 

41.9.1.7 Credit Exposure Arising from Derivative Transactions 

Credit risk aris ing from derivative financial instruments at any time is limited to those with positive fair values, as 
reported in the Statement of Financial Position. With gross settled derivatives, the Branch is also exposed to a settlement 
risk, being the risk that the counterparty failing to deliver the counter value. 

2019 2018 
Notional 

Fair Value 
Notional 

Amount Amount 
Fair Value 

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. 
Forward Contracts 

Derivative financ ial assets 11,881 ,010,5 12 37,878,127 64,273,5 11 7,553,987 
Derivative financial liabilities 16,754,837,166 40,243,365 229,653,000 5,582,806 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.l Credit risk (Cont.) 

41.9.1.8 Offsetting financial assets andfinancial liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when the Group cuITently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to 
settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

41.9.2 Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk arising from the potential inability to meet all payment obligations when they fal.l due 
or only being able to meet these obligations at excessive costs. The objective of the Branch's liquidity risk management 
framework is to ensure that the Branch can fulfil its payment obligations at all times and can manage liquidity and 
funding risks within its Management-approved risk appetite. The framework considers all relevant and significant 
drivers of liquidity risk, whether on-balance sheet or off-balance sheet. 

41.9.2. l Management of liquidity risk 

The Branch's Management sets the Bank's strategy for managing liquidity risk and oversight of the implementation is 
administered by Assets and Liability Management Committee (ALCO). ALCO approves the Branch's liquidity policies 
and procedures. Treasury manages the Branch's liquidity position on a day-to-day basis and reviews daily reports 
covering the liquidity position of both the Branch. A summary report, including any exceptions and remedial action 
taken, is submitted to ALCO on a monthly basis or ad hoc when predefined thresholds are breached. 

The Branch's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable 
losses or risking damage to the Bank's reputation. The key elements of the Branch's liquidity strategy are as follows: 

- Monitoring maturity mismatches, behavioural characteristics of the Branch's financial assets and financial liabilities, 
and the extent to which the Branch's assets are encumbered and so not available as potential collateral for obtaining 
funding. 

- Monitoring the Branch's liquidity through the Liquid Assets Ratio (statutory minimum is currently 20%) and Liquidity 
Coverage Ratio using a stock approach. 

- Effecting threshold limits relevant for liquidity management as part of the overall risk limits system of the Branch. 

- Carrying a po1tfolio of highly liquid assets, diversified by currency and maturity. 

41.9.2.2 Liquidity risk stress testing 

DB Colombo is fully integrated into the Group's liquidity risk management framework, and as such performs liquidity 
stress tests on a regular basis. The stress test framework is derived from DB's global stress testing framework, and 
adjusted to cover local market peculiarities, where necessary. 

Liquidity stress test results are computed by Liquidity and Treasury Reporting and Analysis (L TRA) team based on the 
standards described in the Group Liquidity Stress Testing Methodology. Stress models and parameters are adjusted to 
cover local market and product specifi cations, which are reviewed and validated by APAC Liquidity Risk Management 
(LRM) in its capacity as an independent risk unit and approved at the local ALCO. 

Stress tests results are discussed regularly in the local ALCO, where local Branch Management Board (BMB) members 
are also members of ALCO. Liquidity stress testing models (including all applicable assumptions) are reviewed at least 
annually to ensure that all stress parameters are sufficiently severe and remain relevant to DB Colombo. Any changes in 
liquidity stress testing models/ assumptions are subject to ALCO and APAC LRM (Liquidity Risk Management) team's 
approval prior to the implementation. 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.2 Liquidity Risk (Cont.) 

41.9.2.3 Exposure to liquidity risk - Regula tory liquidity 

As at 31 December 

Exposure to liquidity risk- Regulatory liquidity 

Statutory Liquid Assets Ratio (SLAR) 
- Domestic Banking unit 

- Off-Shore Banking unit 

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) 
- All Currency 
- Rupee 

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) 

Key measures of liquidity 

Net loans to total assets 
Loans to customer deposits 
Liquid assets to short tern, liabil ities 
Commitments to Liquid assets 

41.9.2.4 Liquidity reserves 

2019 
Rs. 

79% 
81% 

311% 
389% 

140% 

29% 
88% 
118% 
45% 

2018 
Rs. 

105% 
99% 

338% 
725% 

NIA 

29% 
78% 
14 1% 
35% 

As part of the management of liquidity risk arising from financial liabilities, the Branch holds liquid assets comprising 

cash and cash equivalents, and debt securities issued by sovereigns, which can be readi ly sold to meet liquidity 

requirements. In addition, the Branch maintains agreed lines of credit with other banks and holds unencumbered assets 

e ligible for use as collateral with Central Bank (these amounts are referred to as the "Branch's liquidity reserves"). 

The following table sets out the components of the Branch's liquidity reserves 

As at 31 December 2019 

Carrying value Fair value 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Balances with Central Bank 
Placements with Banks 

Placements with Branches 
Unencumbered debt securities issued by 
sovereigns 

Total liquidity reserves 

contractual cash 
flows. The principal differences are as follows: 

Rs. Rs. 

115,867,718 115,867,718 
7,676,645,448 7,676,645,448 

75 1,258,420 75 1,258,420 
3,875,053,739 3,875,053,739 

20,540,2 17,937 20,540,2 17,937 

32,959,043,262 32,959,043,262 

- demand deposits from customers are expected to remain stable or increase; 

2018 

Carrying value Fair value 

Rs. Rs. 

67,662,700 67,662,700 
2,607,526,990 2,607,526,990 
3,200,611,741 3,200,611,741 
3,659,242,958 3,659,242,958 

15,298, 139,626 15,298,139,626 

24,833,184,015 24,833,184,015 

- unrecognised loan commitments are not all expected to be drawn down immediately. 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.2 Liquidity Risk (Cont.) 

41.9.2.5 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities 

The following tables set out the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities of the Branch. 

Carrying Up to 
Amount 3 months 

Rs. Rs. 

As at 31 December 20/9 

Financial liability by type 

Non-derivative liabilities 

Due to Branches 17,816,192,003 12,290,978,885 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to Depositors 16,7 14,490,579 16,7 11 ,340,579 
Other liabilities 64,414,789 64,414,789 
Group Balance Payable 3, 157,722,20 I 3, I 57,722,201 

Derivative liabilities 

Derivative financ ial instrnments 40,243,365 40,243,365 

As at 31 December 2018 

Financial liability by type 

Non-derivative liabilities 

Due to Branches 11 ,773,090,094 8,063,092,000 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to Depositors 15,33 1,658,192 15,324,380,789 
Other liabilities 56,553,731 56,553,73 1 
Group Balance Payable 

-~ 
2, 181,840,805 37,863,935 

Derivative liabilities 

Derivative financial instruments II ·:tt V" \\ 5,582,806 5,582,806 
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3 to 
1 to 3 years 

3 to 5 More than 
Total 12 months years 5 years 

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. 

5,525,2 13, I I 8 - 17,816,192,003 

3, 150,000 16,7 14,490,579 

64,414,789 

- 3, 157,722,20 I 

- 40,243,365 

3,709,998,094 - - 11 ,773,090,094 

7,277,403 15,33 1,658, 192 

56,553,73 1 

2, 143 ,976,870 2, 181 ,840,805 

5,582,806 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.2 Liquidity Risk (Cont.) 

41.9.2.6 Financial Assets Available to Support Future Funding 

The table below sets out the availabi lity of the Branch's financial assets to support future funding: 

As nt 31 December 

Financial Assets 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
Placements with Banks 
Placements with Branches 

Derivative Financial Assets 

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost - Loans and 
Advances 

Financial Assets measured at Fair value through 
other comprehensive income 

Financial Assets measured at FVTPL 

Group balance receivable 

Other Assets 

Total Financial Assets 

Financial Assets Pledged as Collateral 

Encumbered/ 
Pledged as 
Collateral 

Rs. 

2019 
Unencumbered/ 

Available as 
collateral 

Rs. 

115,867,718 
7,676,645,448 

75 1,258,420 
3,875,053,739 

37,878, 127 

14,643,024,53 1 

13,740,777,8 1 I 

6,799,440,126 
1,706,880,2 10 

343,385,450 

49,690,211,580 

No financial assets have been pledged as collateral as at the reporting date (2018: NIL). 

75 

2018 
Encumbered/ Unencumbered/ 

Total Pledged as Available as Total 
Collateral Collateral 

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. 

11 5,867,718 67,662,700 67,662,700 
7,676,645,448 - 2,607,526,990 2,607,526,990 

75 1,258,420 - 3,200,6 11 ,74 1 3,200,6 11 ,74 1 
3,875,053,739 3,659,242,958 3,659,242,958 

37,878,127 - 7,553,987 7,553,987 

14,643,024,531 11,982,229,178 11 ,982,229, 178 

13,740,777,8 11 - 15,299,739.626 15,299,739,626 

6,799,440, 126 
1,706,880,2 10 2,382,3 15, 191 2,382,3 15,1 9 1 

343,385,450 - 1,745,658,444 1,745,658,444 

49,690,211,580 - 40,952,540,815 _J_Qi9_52,S40,8 l 5 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.3 Market Risk 

Market risk arises from the uncertainty concerning changes in market prices and rates (including interest rates, equity 
prices, foreign exchange rates and commodity prices), the correlations among them and their levels of volatility. Four 

different risks are considered by Market Risk management: 

Risk that involves taking positions in debt,equity, foreign exchange, other securities and 
Traded market risk 

commodities as well as in equivalent derivatives. 

Non traded market 
risk 

Traded default risk 

Interest rate risk in 
the branch book 

Risk arising from market movements in the banking book and from offbalance sheet items 

Risk that arises from defaults and rating migrations relating to trading instruments 

Risk to present values arising from adverse movements in underlying interest rates in the banking 
book. 

The market risk for the Branch is managed in accordance with the Investment Policy and Derivatives Policy, which are 

approved by the head office Board. The policies ensure that operations in securities, foreign exchange and derivatives are 

conducted in accordance with sound and acceptable business practices and are as per the extant regulatory guidelines, 

laws governing transactions in financial securities and the financial environment. The policies contain the limit structure 

that governs transactions in financial instruments. The policies are reviewed periodically to incorporate therein, changed 

business requirements, economic environment and revised policy guidelines. 

41.9.3. l Management of market risks 

The Bank separates its exposure to market risks between trading and non-trading portfolios. Trading po1tfolios are 
mainly include positions arising from market making and proprietary position taking, together with financial assets and 
financial liabi lities that are managed on a fair value basis and non-trading portfolios from positions arising from financial 
investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and financial investments at amortised 
cost and from derivatives held for risk management purposes. 

Overall authority for market risk is vested with the Branch Management through the Branch Management Borad (8MB). 

The operational authority for managing market risk is vested with ALCO. Foreign exchange risk is managed within 
approved limits and segregation of reporting responsibilities of Treasury Front Office, Middle Office and Back Office 
and overall review is performed by the group marker risk management team. 

41.9.3.2 Market risk stress testing 

Stress testing is a key risk management technique, which evaluates the potential effects of extreme market events and 
extreme movements in individual risk factors. It is one of the core quantitative tools used to assess the market risk of the 
Bank's positions and its primary application is within the European Commission framework. The scenario-based 
approach in stress testing is complementary to statistical model approaches as for VaR. Group Market Risk Manager 
(MRM) performs several types of stress testing to capture the variety of risks: individua l business-level stress tests, 
MRM portfolio stress testing (e.g. Portfolio Stress Testing (PST), Event Risk Scenarios (ERS), and Group-wide stress 
testing). 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.3 Market Risk (Cont.) 

The Branch employs a range of tools to monitor and limit market risk exposures. These are discussed below, separately 
for trading and non-trading portfolios. 

The following table sets out the allocation of assets and liabilities subject to market risk between trading and non-trading 
portfolios. 

As at 31 December 2019 

Assets subject to market risk 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
Placements with Banks 
Placements with Branches 
Derivative Financial Assets 

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost - Loans and 
Advances 

Financial Assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 
Financial Assets measured at FVTPL 
Group balance receivable 

Liabilities subject to market risk 

Due to Branches 

Derivative financial instruments 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to Depositors 
Group Balance Payable 

As at31 Decembcr2018 

Assets subject to market risk 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
Placements with Banks 
Placements with Branches 

Derivative Financial Assets 

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost - Loans and 
Advances 

Financial Assets measured at FVOCI/ Financial 
Assets - AFS 

Financial Assets measured at FVTPL 
Group balance receivable 

Liabilities subject to market risk 

Due to Branches 
Derivative financial instruments 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to Depositors 
Group Balance Payable 
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Carrying 
amount 

Rs. 

I 15,867,7 18 
7,676,645,448 

751,258,420 
3,875,053,739 

Market risk measure 
Trading Non-trading 
portfolio portfolio 

Rs. Rs. 

115,867,7 18 
7,676,645,448 

751,258,420 
3,875,053,739 

37,878, 127 37,878, 127 

14,643,024,53 I 

13,740,777,8 11 

6,799,440,126 6,799,440,126 
I, 706,880,210 

I 7,816, I 92,003 
40,243,365 

16, 7 I 4,490,579 
3, 157,722,20 I 

67,662,700 
2,607,526,990 
3,200,611,741 
3,659,242,958 

7,553,987 

11,982,229,178 

I 5,298, I 39,626 

2,382,3 I 5, I 9 I 

I 1,773,090,094 
5,582,806 

15,33 1,658, I 92 
2, 181 ,840,805 

40,243,365 

7,553,987 

5,582,806 

14,643,024,531 

13,740,777,8 1 I 

1,706,880,2 10 

17,816, 192,003 

16,714,490,579 
3,157, 722,20 I 

67,662,700 
2,607,526,990 
3,200,611,741 
3,659,242,958 

I 1,982,229, 178 

15,298, 139,626 

2,382,3 15,191 

11 ,773,090,094 

15,33 1,658, 192 
2, 181 ,840,805 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.3 Mar ket Risk (Cont.) 

41.9.3.3 Interest rate r isk 

The fo llowing is a summary of the Branch's interest rate gap position. The interest rate repricing gap table analyses the fu ll-term structure of interest rate mismatches within the Branch' s balance 

sheet based on either (i) the next repricing date or the maturity date if noating rate or (ii) the maturity date if fixed rate. 

As nt 31 December 2019 

Fi11n11cinl Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Balances with Central Bank 

Placements with Banks 

Placements with Branches 

Financial assets measured at fa ir value through profit or loss - Debt instruments 

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans to and receivables from other customers 
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income - Debt 
instruments 

Fill(mcinl Liabilities 
Due to Branches 

Financial liabi lities at amortized cost - Due to Depos itors 

As nt 31 December 2018 

Fi11n11cinl Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Balances with Central Bank 

Placements with Banks 

Placements with Branches 

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans to and receivables from other customers 
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income - Debt 

instruments 

Fi11n11cia/ Liabilities 
Due to Branches 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to Depositors 

Carrying 
Amount 

Rs. 

115,867,7 18 

7,676,645,448 

75 1,258,420 

3,875,053,739 

6,799,440, 126 

14,643,024,531 

13,740,777,8 11 

17,816, 192,003 

16,714.490.579 

67,662,700 

2.607,526,990 

3,200,61 1,741 

3,659,242,958 

11,982,229, 178 

15,299,739,626 

Up to 
3 months 

Rs. 

115,867,7 18 

7,676,645,448 

75 1,258,420 

3,875,053,739 

14,467.90 1,333 

5,800, 126,307 

12,290,978,885 

16, 7 1 1,340,579 

67,662,700 

2,607,526,990 

3,200,6 11,74 1 

3,659,242,958 

11 ,778,496.775 

9, I 95,7 I 5,3 15 

11,773,090,094 8,063,092.000 

15,331 ,658, 192 15,324,380,789 

78 

3 to 
12 months 

Rs. 

1,55 1,807,866 

22. 187,383 

2,3 16.476,888 

3, 150.000 

2,207.449 

2,386, 137.000 

I to 3 years 3 to 5 years 

Rs. Rs. 

-

5,202,632,260 

88, 190,385 26.744.812 

5,58 1,835,632 

5,525,2 13, 118 

6,960.576 5 1.821 ,076 

3,716,287.311 

3. 709.998.094 

7,277,403 

i\'lore than 
5 years 

Rs. 

38,000,6 18 

42.338.984 

142,743.302 

1,600,000 

Total 

Rs. 

231,735.436 

15,353,290,896 

1,502,516,840 

7,750,107,478 

13,553.880,252 

29.286,049.062 

27,481 ,555,622 

142,743,302 

1,600,000 
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41. Financial risk review (cont.) 

41.9.4 Operational risk 

Operational Risk means the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or 
from external events, and includes legal risk. Operational risk excludes business and reputational risk. 

DB Colombo manages Operational Risk (OR) based on a Group-wide consistent framework which enables DB Group to 
determine the OR profile in comparison to the risk tolerance, to systematically identify OR themes and to define 
appropriate risk mitigation measures and priorities. 

Non-Financial Risk Management ("NFRM") is the Risk function for the Non-Financial Risk types of the Branch 
including Operational Risk. It owns the overarching Operational Risk Management Framework (ORMF). 

The Branch's objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the 
Branch's reputation with overall cost effectiveness and innovation. In all cases, Branch's policy requires compliance with 
all applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk lies with 

I RMD whilst implementation is assigned to Senior Management within each business unit. Operational Risk 
Coordinating Officers are appointed within each department/Branch to assist in managing the Operational Risk. This 
responsibility is supported by the development of overall standards for management of operational risk in the following 
areas: 

- Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including independent authorisation of transactions. 
- Requirements for reconciliation and monitoring of transactions. 
- Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements. 
- Documentation of controls and procedures. 

- Requirements for periodic assessment of operational risks faced and the adequacy of controls_J!nd9'lr - edures to 
address the identified risks. ~v.' ~ /ti/ (j 
- Requirements for reporting of operational losses and propose remedial action. *l 7,i-
- Development of contingency plans. 

- Training and professional development to establish ethics and business standards. ~ 
- Insurance covering risk due to threats arising from external and other events. -- _. "'ti - - ~ 

Compliance with the Branch's standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by internal audit. 
The results of internal audit reviews are discussed with the business unit to which they relate, with summaries submitted 
to the Branch Management Committee (BMB). 

41.9.4.1 Operational risk stress testing 

The Branch is fully integrated into the Group's Operational Risk Management Framework, and as such performs 
Operational Risk stress tests on a regular basi_s. The local stress test framework is derived frorn DB's global stress testing 
framework. 

Group Operational Risk translates group operational risk stress impact into DB operational risk factors for EC and 
respective RC which are applied to the Branch's local EC and RC figures. The stressed operational risk factors for EC 
and RC are cal cu lated at least on an Annual basis by translating the macro economic assumptions of the global downturn 

41.9.4.2 Operational risk mitigation techniques 

The Branch mitigates the assessed risks to a level \.vhere the residual risk fits into the defined risk appetite. Issues are 
identified, mitigating actions clearly tracked and are sufficient to reduce the residual risk to within risk appetite. Where 
within appetite, further mitigation can be temporarily delayed following a defined risk acceptance process including the 
review and challenge by the risk control functions who have a veto authority. 

The Group proactively identifies and addresses control deficiencies and gaps through the issue management process. For 

critical issues (and significant optionally), the risk control functions opt-in to review and challenge the mitigation plan 

and may exercise a veto where the planned mitigation is insufficient to bring the residual risk back within risk appetite. 
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42. Capital adequacy 

Capital Adequacy is a measure of a Branch's financial strength expressed as a ratio of its capital to its risk weighted 
assets. The Central Branch of Sri Lanka has specified the minimum capital requirements for Branch's, which operate as a 

limiting factor on creation of risk-associated assets by Branch's. Under this requirement there is a universally accepted 
risk measurement framework and minimum capital levels to be maintained by Branch's. 

Central Bank of Sri Lanka sets and monitors regulatory capital requirement on both consolidated and solo basis. The 
Branch is required to comply with the provisions of the Basel Ill requirements in respect of regulatory capital 
commencing from July 2017. The Branch currently uses the standardised approach for credit risk and market risk and 
basic indicator approach for operational risk. 

The Basel lII capital regulations, which are currently in force, will continue to be based on the three-mutually 

reinforcing Pillars introduced under Basel 11, minimum capital requirement, supervisory review process and market 

discipline. Basel Ill focuses on increasing the quality and quantity of capital especially the Core Capital, through 
redefining the common equity capital and introducing new capital buffers such as the Capital Conservation Buffer and a 
Capital Surcharge on domestic systematically important banks. Branch started reporting capital computations under the 
Basel III requirements from mid 2017 as per the regulatory requirements. 

Regulatory capital comprises Tier I capital and Tier 2 capital. The Branch's policy is to maintain a strong capital base 
so as to ensure investor, creditor, and market confidence to sustain future development of the business. DB Colombo and 
its Group have complied with the minimum capital requirements imposed by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka throughout 
the year. 

42.1 Key regulatory ratios - capital and liquidity 

For tlte year ended 31 December 

Regulatory Capital (Rs. '000) 
Common Equity Tier I , adjusted 
Tier I Capital 
Total Capital 

Regulatory Capital Ratios(%) 

Common Equity Tier I Capital Ratio (Minimum Requirement - 7.00%) 
Tier I Capital Ratio (Minimum Requirement - 8.50%) 

Total Capital Ratio (Minimum Requirement - 12.50%) 
Leverage Ratio (Minimum Requirement - 3%) 

42.2 Basel III computation of capital ratios 

Total Risk Weighted Assets (RWA) (Rs. '000) 

RWAs for Credit Risk (Rs. '000) 

RW As for Market Risk (Rs. ' 000) 
R W As for Operational Risk (Rs. ' 000) 

CETI Capital Ratio (including Capital Conservation Buffer, Countercyclical 
Capital Buffer & Surcharge on D-SIBs) (%) 
of which: Capital Conservation Buffer (%) 

of which: Countercyclical Buffer(%) 
of which: Capital Surcharge on D-SIBs (%) 
Total Tier I Capital Ratio(%) 
Total Capital Ratio (including Capital Conservation Buffer, Countercyclical 
Capital Buffer & Surcharge on D-SIBs) (%) 
of which: Capital Conservation Buffer (%) 
of which: Countercyclical Buffer(%) 

of which: Capital Surcharge on D-SIBs (%) 
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2019 2018 

11,201,930 9,934,623 
11 ,20 1,930 9,934,623 
11 ,205,258 9,934,623 

40% 37% 
40% 37% 
40% 37% 
20% NIA 

28,040,671 27,140,456 
21,109,218 21,274,779 

3,099,688 1,732,8 17 
3,831,765 4 ,132,86 1 

40% 37% 
2% 2% 
NIA NIA 
NIA NIA 
40% 37% 

40% 37% 
2% 2% 
NIA NIA 
NIA NIA 
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42. Capital adequacy (Cont.) 

42.2 Basel Ill computation of capital ratios contd. 

For the year ended 31 December 

Common Equity Tier 1 (CETI) Capital after Adjustments 

Common Equity Tier I (CETI) Capital 

Equity Capital (Stated Capital)/ Assigned Capital 
Reserve Fund 

Published Retained Earnings/(Accumulated Retained Losses) 
Published Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) 
General and other Disclosed Reserves 

Unpublished Current Year's Profit/Loss and Gains reflected in OCI 

Ordinary Shares issued by Consolidated Banking and Financial Subsidiaries of the Branch 
and held by Third Parties 

Total Adjustments to CETI Capital 

Goodwill (net) 
Intangible Assets (net) 

Others (Defe1Ted Tax Assets, Vostro) 

Additional Tier 1 (A Tl) Capital after Adjustments 

Additional Tier 1 (A TI) Capital 

Qualifying Additional Tier I Capital Instruments 
Instruments issued by Consolidated Banking and Financial Subsidiaries of the Branch and 
held by Third Parties 

Total Adjustments to ATI Capital 

Investment in Own Shares 
Others (specify) 

Tier 2 Capital after Adjustments 

Tier 2 Capital 

Qualifying Tier 2 Capita l Instruments 
Revaluation Gains 

2019 

Rs. '000 

11,201,930 

11 ,162,001 

4,410,46 1 
702,905 

2,305,422 

3,743,213 

39,929 

39,929 

3,328 

3,328 

Loan Loss Provisions 3,328 

Instruments issued by Consolidated Banking and Financial Subsidiaries of the Branch and 
held by Third Parties 

Total Adjustments to Tier 2 

Investment in Own Shares 
Others (specify) 

CETI Capital 

Total Tier I Capital 

Total Capital 
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11,201,930 

11,201,930 

11,205,258 

2018 

Rs. '000 

9,934,623 

9,921,584 

4,4 10,46 1 

641,506 
1,126,404 

3,743,2 I 3 

13,039 

13,039 

9,934,623 

9,934,623 

9,934,623 
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43. Non- cash items included in Profit Before Tax 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
Write off of Assets 

Reversal/{charge) of Impairment losses on loans and advances 

(Charge)/reversal of Impairment losses on FVTOCJ 

Off balance sheet impairment 
Reversal oflmpainnent losses on Placements 
Provision for Country risk 

Charge for defined benefit plans 
Tax credits 
Inter-entity Expense 

Notional tax grossed under interest income 

Net Unrealized Forward Exchange Loss 

44. Change in operating assets 

Change in derivative financial instruments 

Change in balance with Central Bank 
Change in placement with banks 
Change in placements with branches 
Change in group balance receivable 
Change in financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
Change in financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and Advances 
Change in financia l assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCl) 
Change in other assets 

45. Change in cperating liabilities 

Change in due to banks 
Change in financ ial liabilities at amortized cost• Due to Depositors 
Change in due to branches 

Change in other liabilities 

Change in due to Group balance 
Derivative financial instruments 

46. Subsequent events after reporting date 

2019 
Rs. 

69,784,915 
423,156 

( 1,675,374) 

47,781,531 
( 1,486, 177) 

24,975 
203,594 

17,248,808 

1,091 , 127,377 

4,340,612 
1,227,773,417 

34,664,752 
5,069, I 18,458 

(2,449,328,346) 
215,810,78 1 

(675,434,98 I) 
6,799,440, 126 
2,660,795,352 

2018 
Rs. 

26,041,1 13 
12,470 

(321,630) 
2,503,404 
1,015,597 

(28,521) 
(2,759,797) 
18,858,621 

(19,516,065) 
941,612,677 
(2 1,185,053) 
(3,063,906) 

943,168,909 

1,311,409 
1,957,606, 135 

35,492,964 
3,062,785,561 
(129,670,595) 

2,402,328,722 

(1 ,599,700,800) (1,048,680,900) 

(1 ,422,396,721) 948,079,186 
8,632,968,621 7,229,252,482 

1,382,832,387 
6,043 , 101 ,909 
{233, 11 9,344) 
(115,245,98 1) 

34,660,559 
7,112,229,530 

(714,546,575) 
3,770,908,527 
3,867,159,053 

17,053,396 
(98,606,599) 

1,316,847 
6,843,284,648 

Subsequent to the reporting date, no circumstances have arisen which would require adjustment to or disclosure in the 
financial statements other than disclosed herewith; 

Capitalization of unremitted Head Office expenses 

Branch has obtained written approval from Central Bank of Sri Lanka to capitalize un-remitted I-lead Office expenses Rs. 

1,875,3 10,946 and transfe1Ted to Reserve through contributed assets in February 2020. Conversion amount included un 
remittable head office expenses reported up to end of financial year 20 16, 2017 and 2018, converted to equity during the 
financial year 2020. This conversion strengthen the Branch's single borrowing limited (SBL). 
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46. Subsequent events after reporting date contd. 

Covid 19 outbreak 

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the Coronavirus COVID-19 outbreak to be a pandemic in 

recognition of its rapid spread across the globe with over 150 countries now affected. Businesses may be negatively 

impacted due to the overall negative economic conditions caused by the pandemic. The financial reporting effects of the 

COVID-19 outbreak have been considered as non-adjusting events because the significant changes in business activities 

and economic conditions occurred as a result of events arising after the reporting date. Branch Management are unable 

to estimate the potential impact the outbreak would have on the Branch's financial position, as of date. Accordingly 

disclosures will be made in the financial statements under Events after Reporting date. 

47 Capital commitments 

There were no material Capital Commitments as at the reporting date, which require disclosures in the Financial 
Statements. 

48 Litigation and claims 

CA (Writ) 166/2018 

This is a writ application filed by a Customer (The Petitioner) against, the Director General of Customs, Deputy Director 

of Customs, Deputy Superintendent of Customs and Deutsche Bank AG seeking, inter alia, a writ of Certiorari, quashing 
the Order dated 06.04.2018 issued by Sri Lanka Customs, a writ of prohibition restraining the Sri Lanka Customs and/or 
its officers from taking any steps or action on the said Order and an order restraining Deutsche Bank AG from making 

any payments on demand to Sri Lanka Customs under the Bank Guarantees issued by Deutsche Bank AG on the 
instructions of the Plaintiff. 

This case which was fixed for argument on 31st March 2020, has been re-fixed due to the prevailing° situation of the 
Country. The next date of the case has not been notified yet by the Registry of Court of Appeal. 

Customs inquiry - CBCU/2008/16 

This inquiry was commenced by Sri Lanka Customs against the Branch and 3 other parties in relation to the importation 
of 72,000 MT of wheat into Sri Lanka. The specific charge against the Branch is in relation to the purportedly fraudulent 
endorsing of commercial invoices for the importation of 29, 042 MT of wheat into Sri Lanka. 

However, by way of letter dated 26th July 2019, Sri Lanka Customs called upon the Branch to show cause as to why the 

above mentioned forfeiture should not be imposed upon the Branch. Branch responded thereto, objecting to the issue of 
the purported show cause letter and the purported appointment of the new inquiring officer, by way of letter dated 26th 
August 2019. 

Sri Lanka Customs has not responded to the said letter dated 26th August 2019 to date and no fmther steps have been 
taken by them in respect of this matter. 

Tax assessments against the Branch 

Corporate income tax 

Year of Assessment 2016/2017 

Penalty notice 

Branch received a penalty notice dated on 13 June 2019 amount in to Rs. 82,6 I 9,849 for the non payment of tax 
payments on time. However, Branch filed an objection on 15 July 20 I 9 stating that payments were settled on time. The 
objection is with Commissioner General Inland revenue level and as at reporting date the objection was pending for 
inquiry. 
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Tax assessments against the Branch (Cont.) 

Tax in default notice 

Branch received a tax in Default Notice on IO September 2019, assessing tax of Rs. 49,865,1 98 and imposing a penalty 
of Rs 82,6 19,849 for non payment of taxes on due date. However, Branch tiled an objection on 23 October 2019 stating 
that payments were settled on time. The objection is with Commissioner General lnland revenue level and as at reporting 
date the objection was pending for inquiry. 

Year of assessment 2017/2018 

Penalty notice 

Branch received a penalty notice dated on 26 July 2019 amount in to Rs. 35,185,796 for the non payment of tax payments 
on time. However, Branch filed an objection on 30 August 2019 stating that payments were settled on time. The objection 
is wi th Commissioner General Inland revenue level and as at reporting date the objection was pending for inquiry. 

Department of Inland Revenue has requested information on the same year of assessments by a way of letter dated 18 
September 2019. Branch submitted information accordingly and had a discussion on 21 January 2020. Further, Branch 
submitted information on 31 January 2020 and the same is with Commissioner General of Inland Revenue for pending 
inquiry as at reporting date. 

Withholding tax 

Period from 01/01/2017 to 31/03/2017 

Branch has received a notice of assessment baring assessments number 420 I 64000 I dated on 15 October 2018 for 
assessed tax of Rs. 15,534 and penalty of Rs. 829,012. However, Branch has appealed on 15 November 2018 and no 
response received as at reporting date. 

Period from 01/04/2017 to 30/06/2017 

Branch has received a notice of assessment baring assessments number 420171000 I dated on I I October 2018 for a 
penalty of Rs. 423,453. However, Branch has appealed on 02 November 2018. A meeting is to be scheduled with 
Commissioner, Corporate Financial Enterprises Compliance & Enforcement Unit 2, in order to reconcile the 
discrepancies between the payments as per the Return and the DIR system. The Branch is to revert with a suitable date 
and time to schedule the meeting. 

Period from 0 I /07/2017 to 30/09/2017 

Branch has received a notice of assessment baring assessments number 42017 1000 I dated on I I October 2018 for a 
penalty of Rs. 663,945. However, Branch has appealed on 13 November 2018 and no response received as at repo1ting 
date. 

Period from 01/01/2018 to 31/03/2018 

Branch has rece ived a penalty notice baring number 420174000 I dated on 15 October 2018 for a penalty of Rs. 423,453 
for non payment of tax payments due dates. However, Branch has submitted an objection on 07 November 2018 and as at 
reporting date, Deputy Commissioner verbally agreed to waive off the penalty. 

Value Adt.led Tax 

Period from 0 1/04/2016 to 30/06/2016 

Branch received both notice of assessment and penalty notice on I I October 20 18 for assessed tax of Rs. 3,803, 198 and 
a penalty of Rs. 1,7 19,608. Branch submitted an appeal on 09 November 2019. 

Funher. Branch received a tax in default notice on 14 November 2018 for assesses tax of Rs. 2,605,466 and penalty of 
Rs. I, 77 1,7 17. Branch submitted valid appeal and an objection on due dates. As at reporting date the same was still being 
resolved and as at reporting date the same was with refund unit for refunds. 

The Management is of the view that the Branch has followed due process and acted in accordance with the prevailing 
laws in its tax submissions for above years of assessment. 
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47. Contingent assets 

There were no material Contingent assets as at the reporting date, which require disclosures in the Financial Statements 
except for disclosed below. 

Year of Assessment 2017/2018 

Refund Mode Instruction Notice 

Branch received a Refund Mode Instruction notice issued on 08 August 2019 and Branch made a Refund claim on 25 
September for refund declared as per year of Assessment 2017/2018 Return of Income. 

Year of Assessment 2018/2019 

Branch received a letter from Department of Inland Revenue dated 30 December 20 I 9. Branch duly submitted refund 
claim for the refund declared in the year of assessment 20I8/2019 Return of Income. 

Prior Year refunds 

Branch has been able to finalized refunds for year of assessments 2011/2012, 2013/2014 and 2014/2015 for a amount of 
Rs. 170,986,83 1 and duly submitted claims on 05 December 2019 and 05 August 2019. 

Further, Branch is in the process of finalizing refunds for year of assessment 2017/2018 for Rs. 150,468, 131 by 
submitting refund claim on 25 September 2019 and Branch lodged a refund claim for year of assessment 2018/2019 for 

48. Comparative information 

The presentation and classification in the financial statements have been amended where appropriate to ensure 
comparability with the current year except for those described in Note 5 to the financial statements relating to first time 
adoption of SLFRS 16. 

49. Management responsibility on financial statements 

The management of the Branch is responsible for preparing and presenting these financial statements in accordance with 
Sri Lanka Accounting Standard and comply with the requirements of the Banking Act No 30 of 1988 and amendments 
thereto. 
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INTRODUCTION 

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Repo1t is to provide Pillar 3 disclosures of DB Colombo Branch as required by 
Banking Act Direction No. I of 20 I 6 issued by the Monetary Board, Central Bank of Sri Lanka, for 
capital requirements under Basel III for Licensed Commercial Banks and Licensed Specialized Banks. 

DB Colombo Branch is a financial institution authorized and regulated by the Central Bank of Sri 
Lanka as a wholly owned branch of Deutsche Bank AG ("DBAG") the main banking subsidiary of 
the Deutsche Bank Group of Germany ("DB Group") located in Frankfu1t am Main, Germany and DB 
Colombo Branch' s accounts are consolidated with the accounts of DB Group. 

DB Group offers a wide variety of investment, financial and related products and services to private 
individuals, corporate entities and institutional clients around the world. In July 20 I 9, DB Group 
announced a material repositioning of DB to refocus on our core strengths and to allow us to improve 
our structural profitability. Our strategic transformation is designed to refocus our Core Bank around 
our core, market-leading businesses which typically operate in growing markets with attractive return 
potential. Our Core Bank comprises our four core operating divisions, namely the Corporate Bank 
(CB), the Investment Bank (IB), the Private Bank (PB), and Asset Management (AM). Aside from 
that, a Capital Release Unit (CRU) and Corporate & Other were created to wind down or dispose non­
strategic positions, low yielding assets, or businesses that no longer fit into the new strategy. CB 
combines Deutsche Bank's Corporate Finance and Global Transaction Banking Businesses with the 
latter providing cash management, trade finance and securities services, delivering the full range of 
commercial banking products and services for both corporates and institutions worldwide. 1B is 
focusing on Origination & Advisory as well as Fixed Income & Currencies. PB corporate division 
combines the bank's expe1tise in private banking and Wealth Management in one corporate division. 
AM offers individuals and institutions traditional and alternative investments across all major asset 
classes. 

DB Colombo Branch offers a comprehensive range of services such as Cash Management, Trade 
Finance, Investor Services, Foreign Exchange (FX) and Debt Capital Markets (DCM) products within 
the Corporate Bank and Investment Bank Business. From 151 January, 20 I 9 onwards, DB Colombo 
Branch recommenced Fixed Income & Currencies (FIC) business under Asia Local Markets (ALM). 

DB Colombo Branch is made up of several suppo1ting local/global infrastructure functions namely; 
risk, finance, compliance, legal, human resources, etc. 

DB Colombo Branch publishes the Pillar 3 disclosure report on a quarterly basis in accordance with 
Banking Act Direction No. I of 2016 issued by the Monetary Board, Central Bank of Sri Lanka and 
posts the disclosure report in accordance with this Direction on its website at www.db.com/srilanka. 

DB Colombo Branch Pillar 3 disclosure is on a stand-alone basis, there are no branches or subsidiaries 
to be consolidated. 

The information provided in this Pillar 3 Disclosure Repo1t is unaudited. 
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REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS ON CAPITAL AND 
LIQUIDITY 

K.ey Regulatory Ratios - Capital and Liquidity 

ltt:m 

Regulator;• Capit al (Ll(P, '000) 

Ccmrncn E;iuil,' - it r I . adjust.;:: 

"Tier 1 Ca~rtal 

,ctal Car- ija l 

Regulato r / Capital Rat ios (',•l 
Common E:;uit:l ~ier 1 Cai:;ital P.stic ,,,,.~.=n.=m~·m 1~f:C4i.1irem:;nt -20~9 - ?.OO?C: 2018 - 6.375~C) 

Tier 1 Capital Ratio ( ,\ ·!inirnutn R-:~·uirer-.~e,~i . 201'3 - 1~_50~;; : 20 •i B - 7.8?5~C) 

Total Capital Ratio (1'1.lln:17~iJr.~ ,C::ec~•;reme,-~t - 2019 - r 2.50~~ : 20·; e - ~ i 875~(! 

Regulatory liquiclit y 

Statutory Li;iuid .Assets (LKR'GOC; 

Domestic BanUng Unit(.~-~:: 

Off-Shere Banf:ing Unit(%) 

Li~uidity Cc·~·erag;: Ra tic e=;C } - Rup::e (1'.!1=0.:.~vm i'=?-;;~•i..1irt-,·-:,e,~: . 20 ;9 - ·:oo~~ 20·: 8 • 90~~.! 

Li~uidrf"/ Coverage Ratio ('%} - All Currency (1',.tir~im;.,•m ,t:?e--:;uire-tr'!ent - 2019 - 100-;'J: 20~8 - S•(HC) 

R~porting P~riod Comparison 

D~c 31, 2019 

1 ·1 .201,930 

·11 ,20 1,930 

·11,20:-,2:.e 

"O or: ru - • .,,, .,,._• I C 

20.02-% 

32,81 :-,712 

389.00% 

310.B:-% 

A':'j:iorting P~rk,d 

?:.~C '\.:, 

:-,.~rn 
1!:'". 

I Cf. 1 ?.';:, 
:: ~ C,'°/) • ............. . ~ 

Total Capital Ratio increased by 3.34% points as a result of increased Total capital. 

Leverage Ratio under Basel lII was implemented w.e.f O 1.01.2019 as per the Banking Act Direction 

No I 2 of 2018. The ratio uses T ier I capital to judge how leveraged a bank is in relation to its 

consolidated assets whereas the Tier I capital adequacy ratio measures the bank's core capital against 

its risk-weighted assets. 

Statutory Liquid Assets Ratio (S LAR) contracted by approximately 19-25% in both Off-Shore 

Banking Unit and Domestic Banking Unit between the two reporting periods owing to larger external 

liability base, in spite of a 16 % growth in Liquid Assets, mainly driven by higher investments in 

Government Securities and placements in Standing Deposit Facility with Central Bank of Sri Lanka 

(CBSL). However, liquidity risk is deemed low as SLAR continue to be at healthy levels and well 

above minimum regulatory requirement. 

Liquidity Coverage Ratios - Rupee decreased in Q4, 20 19 by 46% as a result of increased Net Cash 

O utflows. Driving factors are increased LKR denominated deposit base and Net derivative cash 

outflows. 

Liquidity Coverage Ratios - All Currency decreased in Q4, 20 I 9 as a result of increased cash 

outflows mainly driven by the increased deposit base (current accounts) and increased shott term 

borrowings with maturity less than I month. Despite High-Quality Liquid Assets increasing by 33% 
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between the two reporting periods, the increase in Net Cash Outflows was greater, resulting in a drop 
in Liquidity Coverage Ratios, which nonetheless remain substantial. 

Basel III Computation of Capital Ratios 

inLKF; ·ooo 

lti:-m 

Common Equity T ier 1 (CET1) Capita l after Acljus:ments 

Common Equi ty Tier 1 (CET1) Capital 

Equit:-' Ca~ital (Statec Car.ital).1.'"ssigne::l Capttal 

Res er .. ·e Fund 

PUl:lishec Reiainec Earnings.:,:,:,,ccumulated Retained Lesses: 

Pu.tlislled '".ccurnulaied Other Ccmprehensi·,e lnci:me (QC!; 

General and ether Cisclosed P..i:scr·,·cs 

Unputlishcd Current Y ears Prciit-'Loss an~ Gains reflected 1n OCI 

Ordinary SharF.s issued il,' Consc lidated Banking and Financial SutsidiMies c f tile Bank 
ano held l:y Third F'a1·ties 

To1al Acljustment s rn CET1 Capital 

Good ,•;ill (net} 

lniangitle .Ass;;ts inet:, 

Others ([ief;;rred , a;~ !'-.SSets. Vcstrc} 

Aclclitiona l Tier 1 (AT1) Capital after Adjustments 
Adcli'iional Tier 1 (AT1) Capital 
Qualifying _,:,,_ddttional ,ier 1 Ca~tta l Instruments 
Instruments issued l:•y Consolidated Banf.in£ and Finan1;ial Subsidiaries cf th e Banf; and 
held t:.o 7hird Parties 
Tot al Adjustments to AT 1 Capil al 
ln-,estmant in O\": n Shares 
Others (specifYi 
Tier 2 Capital after Acljusfm enrs 
Tier 2 Capital 
Qualifying T ier 2 Cap ital Instruments 
Re·,aluaticn Gains 

Loan Loss Pro ·:isions 
Instruments issued t;1 Consolidated Banl;ing and Finandal Sutsid1aries of ihe Sank and 
hel: b)1 Thir~ Parties 

Total Adjustments to Tier 2 
ln·: estment in O·::n Shares 
Others (specif{ : 
CET1 Capital 

Total Tier 1 Capital 

Total Capifal 
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Reporting Period 

Dec 31, 2013 

1'1 ,201 ,930 

11,152,001 

4A1 o.~51 

702.90E 

3:?,929 

39,929 

3,328 

1·1.201. s,:30 

·11,20·1 ,!no 

1 ·1 ,20 :-,2:-e. 

C,:,rnp<1ris,-,r1 
Rf;,..:,rtin9 P -:-rit .. :J 

Ot?c ~i. 2018 

~-~ I o.~~-t 
~" 1,5oc 

·1.17:c ,4C! 

';,, 7:.2 ,2 1} 

12.025 

13,0}S· 
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ir, Ll'.R 'IJOO 

Tom i Risk lNeighfod Assets (R1NA) 

P.1/•iA;; iar Cred i! Ri~k 

R' . .-•:"-, icr r.1arf:t ! Risf: 

R•.:.,-,:.,, isr Or,cratloMI Ri,f.: 

CET1 Capital Ra,io (including Capital Conse,, ,a,ion euifo r. Coun,erc,·clica t 
Capital Buffe1· & Surcl13,ge on D-Sl8s) ('":) 
cf \·: h:cti: Ca1:ital C:ons5r·,aticn E!uiier •.'.:,: 

cf -.·:hie.ii: C,;unltrc.,.-clica l Buifer (%; 

o f w hich: Cai:;ttal Surcharg" en D-SIBs (%: 

Tola! Tie r 1 Capita l Ratio(''.·<) 

Total Capit al Ratio (including Capital Conservation Buffer. Counterc,•clical 
Capital Butter & Surcharge on 0-SIBs) ('.,) 
o i ·,;h ich: Car,iial Ccnser·:ation Bu ift r i'%; 

c i 1·:hich: Ccunterc;'clical Buffer (%:: 

ci 1'.'hich· Car,nal Surcharge on C-SIBs (,,, ) 

Re,porting Perk,d 

Dec 31, 2019 

2e,040,S.71 

21:109.21 8 

:?.831,7f5 
'>C C C O/ ...... . ...... ,·c 

t.88%: 

"; 0 CCCI ..,..,,..,,,: ,c 

1.88% 

C,::imr.•ijti:zon 
P,~~•arting Pt?-rk,J 

0-:-i:: :31, ;?(II& 

2 1.27 ~-779 
1.732 ,8'17 

~.132.2~ l 

2f .EO '1, 

2.-C.&0% 

2i?.~0% 

Risk Weighted Assets increased by LKR 900 mn mainly driven by increased market risk exposure. 

Market risk increased as a result of consideration of interest rate risk associated with Government 

Securities under Trading category/ Fair Value through Profit & Loss which started to report on the 

Branch Balance Sheet after re-establishment of FIC business from 1st January 2019 onwards. 

Tier 2 Capital under Loan Loss Provisions was implemented from Q2 2019 onwards as per the 

Explanatory Note issued by Central Bank of Sri Lanka on 18 July 2019. Stage I and Stage 2 Expected 

Credit Loss on Loans & Advances based on SLFR 9 was considered here. 
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Basel III Computation of Leverage Ratios 

inLKR '0OO 

Tier 1 Capit al 
Tot al Exposures 

On-Balance Sheet Items 

(excluding Deri•.>ati','es. and Securtties Financing Transactions, 
but in cluo in g Co llatera I} 
Derivative Exposures 

Securtties Financing· Transaction Exposures 

other Off-Balance Sheet Exposures 

Basel Ill l ever-age Rat io('%) (Tier 1_;ro tal E:,:posu re) 

Reporting Period 

Dec 31, 2019 

11,20-J.S·:?O 

321.103 

20.0i:% 

c ,:irnp.!Jfi$1:,r, 
F;,:-por(ir,g P12-dod 

D~G ::.1, 201::: 

Ml.A. 
M/A 

fl/fa. 

M.1.:::.. 

NI.A. 

M/A 

N/A 

Leverage Ratio under Basel Ill was implemented w.e.f O 1.01.2019 as per the Banking Act Direction 

No 12 of 2018. 

The ratio uses Tier I capital to judge how leveraged a bank is in relation to its consolidated assets. As 

per Q4, 2019 results, Branch has 20.06% of Tier 1 capital on the Balance Sheet out of its total 

exposure. 
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Basel III Computation of Liquidity Coverage Ratio (All currency) 

inLKA'COCI 

11-?m 

Total Stock or High-Ounlir,' liquid Assets (HOLA) 

Totnl A!ljustecl Le•,el 1A 1\ssets 

Level 1 Assets 

Total Adjusted Le•.•el 2A Assets 

Le'lel 2A Assets 

Tcital Adjusted Le•1el 28 1\ssets 

Le\·el 28 Assets 

Total Cash Outno•.•,<s 

Deposits 

Unsecured 1Nholesale Funding 

Secured Fun,j lng Transactions 

Undrawn Portion or Committed (Irrevocable) Facilities and Other 
contingent Funding Obligations 
,i>.dditional Requirements 

Total Cash lnOows 

Maturing Secured Lending Transactions Backed by Collateral 

Committed Faci lities 

Other Inflows t;y Counterparty which are Maturing within 30 Days 

Operational Deposits 

Other Cash Inflows 

Liquidity Co,•erage Ratio(\, ) ( Stock ol High Oualil\' Liquid 
Assetsrrotal tlet Cash Outflows o-.•er the tlext 30 Calendar Days)' 
100 

Total 

38,575.381 

45,565 

10,661.822 

27.868,473 

11,1'.<5,079 

7.172.536 

1.672,604 

2.289.940 

o~c31, 2019 

Tot.:.I 

11.0S8,02B 

11,038,028 

11.038,028 

14,267.369 

5,065 

12.381,63<1 

635.945 

645,325 

20.9N,63.5 

18,577.456 

2,337,179 

310.85 

32. 624 .2•13 

323.401 

10.186.~07 

22.113>93S 

8.003.400 

5,612.253 

2,306,412 

84.730 

3.335,63Ji 

S,335.6,3.3 

S.335.633 

9,es5.312 

35,933 

9,173,86~ 

550.335 

93.6'.,'0 

12.610,71)1 

,~:.5~1. 25."3 

a 9,1q3 

338.17 

Total Stock of High-Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA) increased by 33% as of 31 December, 2019 due to 

increase in investments in Govt. securities. 

Total Cash Outflows increased by 24% as of 3 1 December, 2019 as a result of increase in the current 

account deposits base & DBSG sho1t term borrowings. 

Uote : Calculation basis or Total Net Cash Flow 

I~ Torat Cash !nr.ows are greaisrma.175% or Total Cash Outflows 

If, Total Cash !nnows are not greater than 75% or Total Cash 01:tr.ows 

Toial Net Cash Ot.:rrl0t'\'S = To:at Cash Outn0\\'S - 75% • Total Cash Oc;iti0\~'S 

Total Nee Cash Ouct:or,·s = Total Cash Outi'i'm·1s • Toial Casn Inflows 
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Main features of Regulatory Capital Instruments 

Descript ion of t ile Capital Instrum ent 

Assigned Capital 
C-6 Col6mt·o, bein,; a t:rancll ci C:eutscl1e Banf;.-'".G FranUurt, i~ r.ro·,ided 
assigned car: itsl le: support tcti1 tus iness re~uirements and maintain minimum 
regu latcry capita l l'e~uirernents It is conseouentl•_. c,~·. ern e::! c:: tile !a·,: s and 
r,:;gu laticns of tl1e Central Banh Gi Sri Lanhi. 

.Amount Recc~;ni,,e::: in R,;;9.ulate:r:,•· Capital (in LKR 000 as ;; t the P,F.pe:1·ting Cate:: 

.Accounting Clas,,iiication 

Reser·:e Fund 

, his represe nts accumulated annual transier of =· % cf prciits sfter ts:-< as 
re~u ired und er Sec.ticn 20 ( I } of the Banf:ing .-'".Ct tk 30 of H83 . 
.Amount Rec,,gnised in Regulatcry Capita l (in LKR ·ooc: as st i11e ReI:orting C-ate :: 
.Accounting Class ifica tion 

Retained Earnings 
'Th is represe nts all unremitled /audited profits cf CB Cclcmtc 
A.mount Recognise::: in Re,;u latcry Capita l (in LKR ·c:01) ss ai the Rer,crting Cate:: 

.''-.CCounting Clas s iii,: aticn 

Accumulated Other Comprehensi·.,e Income (OCI} 

•his repres F. nis reser·:F.s c1·ea te::: en changes in Fair\.'a!ui; cf A -,• ailal::le-fc r- Sale 
instruments, .-'".cturial loss en cefined l::enefit plans and relate::: taxes. 
A.me uni Reco9nised in Regulatory Capital (in LKR ·ooc as at th e Repcrting C·atc:: 
_.,:,._ccountin,;; Clas sifi,:aticn 

General and other Disclosed Resef'tes 
This repres ents all amcunts due- to CB Grcup •,•:hich cannot l::e pai::l ::Jue ic the 
threshol::: imposed by the Central Bank oi Sri Lanf:a. Unpaid amcunts h8\'E been 
transferred tc a ·special Reser,·e \':tth ::!ue appro·.al from the regulai,) rs .. 

. A.mcunt Recognised in Rs:t;;ulatcry Car, ital l_in LKP. ·OOO as at the Rer,crting [,ate:: 
fa.Ceo u n ting C.la s s i iica tic n 
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Dec 31, 2019 

4,410,451 

Equity 

702,90:­

Equity 

2,30:-, 422 

Equity 

Equir/ 

3,743,2'13 
Equity· 

Dec 31, 2018 

4,41 o,4a ·1 

Equity 

541,:-03 

Equit~' 

1,125,4:-2 

Equity 

(10,4B3} 

Equir/ 

Equit:-' 
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RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS (RWA) 

Summaiy discussion on adequacy/meeting current and future capital 
requirements 

(a) Overview of DB Colombo's capital planning and assessment process: 

Capital management represents a fundamental risk management process at DB Colombo as effective 

management of the capital base ensures the overall financial stability of the firm through a forward­

looking adequacy assessment which provides protection to absorb the potential impacts of material 

unforeseen and potentially adverse events on DB Colombo's operations and its overall financial profile. 

DB Colombo focuses on long-term stability, positioning itself to build and invest in market-leading 

businesses, even in a highly stressed environment. 

DB Colombo's capital plan is an integral patt of the overall strategic plan which also contains the 

liquidity, funding plan and the risk and capital demand plan. The overall strategic plan translates 

individual business lines strategies and strategic decisions (which clients should be served with which 

products in which regions?) into financial results. The strategic plan is based on assumptions regarding 

the future development of the banking market and revenue pools, expected client behaviours and needs 

and DB Colombo's relative strengths and capabilities to serve the clients in a competitive environment. 
The strategic plan is developed annually with a 5-year planning horizon and holds detailed P&L and 

-balance sheet infonnation. 

The Branch Management Board (BMB) defines the local Business and Risk Strategy (BRS), including 

the Risk Appetite, that are aligned to DB Colombo strategic plans as well as are in line with local 

regulatory requirements. The BRS articulates strategies by business units and risk types as well as any 

IT or infrastructure investment required to support business strategies. These reflect discussed strategic 

priorities, strategic initiatives and organisational structural changes (infrastructure capacities, human 

resources and_ outsourced activities, etc) that are necessary to achieve the objectives and ensure 

compliance with current and upcoming regulatory requirements. 

The BRS translates DB Colombo's long-term strategy into measurable short to mid-term financial 

targets which aims at identifying optimal growth options considering the risk involved and the 

allocation of available capital resources to promote sustainable perfonnance. 

The planning process allows DB Colombo to: 

Set earnings and key risk and capital adequacy assessment in line with the Bank's strategic focus 

and business plans; 

Assess DB Colombo's capital adequacy with regard to internal and external requirements (i.e. 

regulatory and economic capital); and 

Ensure alignment with the Group plan and achieve a harmonised and pro-active capital planning 

with the Group strategies DB Colombo local BRS plans is linked with DB Group general divisional 
planning assumptions. 

(b) Material risk exposures in line with strategic plan; 

We face a variety of risks as a result of our business activities; these risks include credit risk, market 

risk, business risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and reputational risk as described in the following 
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sections below. Our risk identification and assessment processes utilize our three lines of defense 

(3LoO) operating model with the first line identifying the key risks and the second line complementing 

and aggregating identified risks into our global risk type taxonomy and assessing identified risks for 

their materiality. Operating processes are in place across the organization to capture relevant measures 

and indicators. The core aim of all processes is to provide adequate transparency and understanding of 

existing and emerging risk issues, and to ensure a holistic cross-risk perspective. We update the risk 

inventory at least once a year or at other times if needed, by running a risk identification and 

materiality assessment process. 

We categorize our material risks into financial risks and non-financial risks. Financial risks comprise 

credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and business (strategic) risk. Non-financial risks comprise 

operational risks and reputational risks. For all material risks common risk management standards 
apply. 

Credit risk, market risk and operational risk attract regulato1y capital. As part of our internal capital 

adequacy assessment process, we calculate the amount of economic capital for credit, market, 

operational and business risk to cover risks generated from our business activities taking into account 

diversification effects across those risk types. Furthermore, our economic capital framework embeds 

additional risks, e.g. reputational risk and refinancing risk, for which no dedicated economic capital 

models exist. We exclude liquidity risk from economic capital. 

Risk management function identifies the relevant risk types by taking the Group Risk Taxonomy as 

benchmark. DB Colombo also reviews the local regulations and other related sources to ensure that 

evety relevant risk type is identified. 

(c) Current and future capital needs, anticipated capital expenditure and desirable capital level; 

The BRS translates DB Colombo's long-tenn strategy into measurable short to mid-term financial 

targets which aims at identifying optimal growth options considering the risk involved and the 

allocation of available capital resources to promote sustainable performance. 

The planning process allows DB Colombo to: 

Set earnings and key risk and capital adequacy assessment in line with the Branch's strategic focus 

and business plans; 

Assess DB Colombo's capital adequacy with regard to internal and external requirements (i.e. 

regulatory and economic capital); 

The strategic plan developed in the BRS has to comply with all regulato1y minimum requirements as 

well as with other targets and expectations set Group. Therefore, at the beginning of the strategic 

planning process, targets are set for various Key Performance Indicators (KPis) which the strategic 

plan has to meet. These KPls include key risk metrics (CETI ratio, Total capital ratio, ECA ratio, LCR 

and SNLP) as well as profitability and efficiency metrics (e.g. cost-income ratio). 

When determining the plan targets for these KPI's and the trajectory over time, DB Colombo's risk 

appetite serves as a safeguard that DB Colombo's capitalization/funding composition meet regulato1y 

minimum requirements senior risk staff is heavily involved in the assessment and review of the BRS. 

Risk expe1is engage with the business to understand and validate business strategies and associated risk 

taking and limits. Additional regulato1y driven KPis outside the risk appetite are considered for both 

capital (e.g.CCB requirements) and liquidity. DB Colombo constantly analyses the external 
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environment in which it operates and assesses the implications on the bank. Changes in regulato1y 

directives /consultation papers issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka are scrutinized and the results 

of these assessments then inform the selection of relevant KP Is for target setting. 

DB Colombo calculates and monitors its capital adequacy position against both Basel Pillar I and 

Pillar 2 targets under the ICAAP framework prescribed by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka. Under Pillar 

2, DB Colombo assesses the capital requirements in terms of Economic Capital (EC) Adequacy under 

ICAAP. 

DB Colombo assesses capital adequacy requirements on both a Pillar I and Pillar 2 basis. 

Pillar 1: Regulatory capital adequacy is measured by CETl ratio, Total Tier I ratio and the Total 

Capital Ratio - which includes the capital conservation buffer. The objective is to be at or above DB 

Colombo's target capital ratio and to ensure that DB Colombo is adequately capitalised for regulatory 

purposes on a forward-looking basis. 

Pillar 2: Internal capital adequacy is measured by the Economic Capital Adequacy (ECA) Ratio. The 

DB Colombo ICAAP is designed to provide an assessment of capital needs on a forward-looking basis. 

The ICAAP framework and policies of DB Colombo are aimed at achieving the following capital 

management objectives: 

ensuring that the Branch is adequately capitalised for economic purposes on a forward-looking 

basis; 
maintaining an optimal capital structure that takes into consideration shareholder interests; 

promoting the efficient use of capital; 

linking and aligning the business strategy, risk and return dimensions through the annual strategic 

plan process; and 
ensuring appropriate monitoring through the qua1terly Risk & Capital Profile repo1t and a robust 

governance framework. 

The ICAAP is pa1ticularly designed to provide an outlook on Economic Capital demand and thus 

represents a formal basis for the assessment of capital needs. The results serve as a benchmark against 

which actual capital development is compared by the Branch Management Board (BMB). 

(d) Discussion on possible internal and external capital sources; 

Responsibility for management of the capital supply resides with the Local Assets and Liabilities 

Committee (ALCO). It ensures compliance with regulato1y and group-internal capital requirements. If 

a potential capital sho1tfall ( or risk of shortfall) is identified, mitigating action is considered in 

coordination with DB Group ( e.g. retention of profits, issuance of subordinated debt, capital 

injections). Treasury ensures, in close alignment with the local BMB, local Finance and Group Tax the 

most efficient and sufficient capital mix from a Group as well as local (internal) perspective. 

The Group Investment Committee is mandated by the Group management board to review all capital 

requests for subsidiaries and branches. 
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(e) Assessment of the adequacy of bank's capital commensurate with all material risks and other capital 
needs in relation to its current and future activities; 

DB Colombo subjects all risk types covered under its EC concept, as well as liquidity risk, to regular 

stress tests. At Group level, the Stress Testing Forum is responsible for aligning scenario definitions 

between DB Group and legal entities according to the Group Stress Testing Policy. 

Stress testing is an integral part of DB Colombo's risk management and links to all other risk 

management practices: 

The key risk appetite metrics are tested under stress with a dedicated escalation in case of a breach 

of the defined thresholds. 
The risk identification process leads to a risk inventory of relevant risks which are also considered 

under stress. 

The standard risk measurement models are the basis for many of the stress testing models e.g. EC 

models. 
The planning process is also influenced by the stress test results: capital and liquidity plans are 

regularly tested under stressed conditions to assess the resilience of DB Colombo's strategy against 

the risk appetite. 
The stressed key risk appetite metrics are also reported and monitored and form the basis for the 

risk management and mitigation. 

Stress tests provide a tool to ensure capital adequacy even in future stress scenarios. For this, DB 

Colombo is assessing the impact of reasonably likely stress scenarios on its EC demand, its capital base 

and its liquidity position. Stress tests are considered a management information tool to decide if in line 

with risk management and recovery governance if recovery measures may be necessary to improve 

capital and liquidity position. 

General contingency plan for dealing with divergences and unexpected events such as raising additional 
capital, restricting business activities or using risk mitigation techniques: 

Recovery & Resolution Planning 

The Group Recove1y Plan (GRP) aims to outline how DB would restore its financial strength and 

viability during potential extreme stress situations which threaten DB's capital and liquidity position. 

The plan is based on a clear governance structure and well-defined recovery indicators that ensure 

timely and effective decision making and communication within DB and, inter alia, with the 

supervisory authorities. In achieving this objective, the GRP seeks to ensure the continuity and minimal 

disruption to DB's critical economic functions (CEFs) and other important dimensions of DB's 

organisation. A wide range of potential recovery measures can be applied to mitigate severe impacts on 

DB's capital and/or liquidity position, as required. All recovery measures are comprehensively and 

consistently documented. 

The Group recovery plan is designed to ensure that DB Colombo can face extreme financial crisis and 

that it meets all its contractual and regulatory requirements. 
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Credit Risk under Standardised Approach: Credit Risk Exposure and 
Credit Risk Mitigation ( CRM) Effect 

in LKR ·coo 

Ass er Class 
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c;dims Si!curt?.J i::y P.es1j,sni1ll Prcr.ert:,· 

Claims Securn:l t::l Ccmmer,:ral R-:ut 
Estok 

HiQh ~r-ns!: C.?l::9ori'!:.: 

C3sh !ltms an::! Other ,.::..~sel5 
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E:<posures tefore Crc~it 
Ccn·:orsicn Factor (CCFJ and 

CRl,1 
Ex~osur,s ~ost CCF and 

CRl,I 

On- Balanec Off. Balance 
On- Bolonce Off- Salance Sheet Shee1 

She• t Amount Sheet Amount Amount Amount 

1.: 20?.2 1~ 

2;;;,30.: 

l 1.:.1 E,: I Jt. l&O 

'1.0"c.eiO 

f .705. H O 

Dec 21 , 2015 
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(%) 

RWA. 

2<: J,Jos 
11 < l ei; 

R1NA 
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(%) 

~"' . " 
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RVb::.. anc! R1,\r.;l. Censtt;• 
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120.~.!.i 

:?.22, .'1:S 

Rl/✓A 

den say 
(.%) 

7S~-~ 

Credit Risk Exposure on Central Government and CBSL has increased by 26% due to increase in investments in Sri Lanka 

Development Bonds, continuous increase in Treasury bond po11folio over the period and placements in Standing Deposit Facility 
with Central Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL}. 

Credit Risk Exposure on Banks has decreased by 34% in Q4 20 19 because of the low level o f investments in placements w ith local 
banks. 

Credit Risk Exposure on lending to COJllorates and reta il claims (Small and Med ium Enterprises} have increased by 16% & 22% 

respectively as at December 3 I, 201 9. 
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Credit Risk under Standardised Approach: Exposures by Asset 
Classes and Risk Weights 

in LKR'OOO 
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Market Risk under Standardised Measurement Method 

in LKR ·ooo 
Item 

(a) RVV/J. for Interest Rate Risk 

•3eneral lnierest Rate Fiisk 

1\; l1let Long or Short Position 

(ii ) Horizontal DisallO'i•.'ance 

(iii) 'v"ertical Disallo-..1-/ance 

(i/: Options 

Specific Interest Rate Risk 

(b) RWA for Equity 

(i} General Equity Risk 

(ii } Specific Equity R.isk 

(c) RWA for Foreign Exch ange & Gold 

Capital Charge for fularket Risk [(a) + (b) + (c)] • CAR 

RWA. amount 

0Ec31 , 201 9 

14 7 .409 

'147-409 

'147 409 

240.052 

3.099 1388 

C·ec 3-1, 2018 

205 772 

1.732 8'17 

Market risk increased as a result of consideration of interest rate risk associated with government securities under trading category. 
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Operational Risk under Basic Indicator Approach 

Th~ 8:t~i~ l11d iciitor ApproJch 

The Stancl3rdised 1\pproJch 

Ccrr.oratr; Fin,rnc~ 

-r,,c1:-;t snc Sales 

Pay<r.::ni and S'c-lllcm<?nl 

..... gen::.y Scr.-lces 

Asset l,ianagement 

Retail Croi:tra~e 

Relatl 3Jnting 

Ccn-.mertial 2anl.:mg 

Th e Alternative: St.:lndardised 
1\pproach 

Ccq:crate Fi,urnct: 

-r:l:1n9 ;:rn~ Sal::s 

Paymcn1 and Setll; m::nl 

.A.gene:: Ser.•1c1:~ 

..:..;set 1,1.:inagement 

Retarl Srol ernge 

P.et,1ll Banf:ing 

eommercisl aon!:ing 

Capital Chilrges f o r Opera,tonJI 
Risk (LKR'000) 

- he Basic fndicatcr .::.,i;;:roach 

-he- Stan:Jar:!istj Approach 

'7hi.! .:. 1ternefr,·e Stan{!urd1Jed .u..;:prcach 

R1~k V~eigMed Amount h."r 
0pera1ional Risk (Ll(P. 'Q00) 
~h'! 8:'l~ic Indicator .:i.i::prr.iach 

7 11: St<tn~ard15ed Acprodch 

l h: .::.tto:rnafr.•,; Sl::rndarcise~ ,:.:.i:r,roacn 

Cupital 

Gro:.s lncom~ (LKR•000I .:a~ ~l 

ns:r: 31. 2 0 19 

Ch.:ugc- Fi11 nd 
F.iuto, Fo1Ctnf __ v_c_•_•~ _v_,_·•-·=- - ~ v_c_,_·~ 

l~~: ?2.:~,S~~ '.: . 11:'.? ,7':2 '!. 110:: ~"1 

I
. , • 
.:.t 

12% 

11' i iJ.0j: 

1;;,, o.o:<: 

.:.7£,67 1 

102 

C.i11il ,"ll 

Chorgc Fi11cd 
F.>cl ur fac tor 

1 ~ C',~ 

.:sc.n, 

G r o:.s Inco me (LKR •OOO) u :; ;u 
n,~c 31 2:0 l fl 

1st 2n d 3rd 



Oeulsche Bank AG, Colombo branch 
, ·. :··.1,:,,.;;t, LINKAGES BETWEEN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND REGULATORY 

EXPOSURES 

LINI<.AGES BETWEEN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND REGULATORY EXPOSURES 
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of Financial Statement Categories with Regulatory Risk Categories -
Bank only and Explanations of differences between Accounting and 
Regulatory exposure amounts 
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, 1 "l( i ,·. LINKAGES BETWEEN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND REGULATORY 
EXPOSURES 

Description of systems and controls to ensure that the valuation estimates are prudent and 
reliable: 

Financial Instruments carried at Fair Value 

Valuation Methods and Control 

The Group has an established valuation control framework which governs internal control standards, 
methodologies, and procedures over the valuation process. 

Prices Quoted in Active Markets - The fair value of instruments that are quoted in active markets are 
determined using the quoted prices where they represent prices at which regularly and recently 
occurring transactions take place. 

Valuation Techniques - The Group uses valuation techniques to establish the fair value of instruments 
where prices, quoted in active markets, are not available. Valuation techniques used for financial 
instruments include modelling techniques, the use of indicative quotes for proxy instruments, quotes 
from recent and less regular transactions and broker quotes. 

For some financial instruments a rate or other parameter, rather than a price, is quoted. Where this is 
the case then the market rate or parameter is used as an input to a valuation model to determine fair 
value. For some instruments, modelling techniques follow indust1y standard models, for example, 
discounted cash flow analysis and standard option pricing models. These models are dependent upon 
estimated future cash flows, discount factors and volatility levels. For more complex or unique 
instruments, more sophisticated modelling techniques are required, and may rely upon assumptions or 
more complex parameters such as correlations, prepayment speeds, default rates and loss severity. 

Frequently, valuation models require multiple parameter inputs. Where possible, parameter inputs are 
based on observable data or are derived from the prices of relevant instruments traded in active 
markets. Where observable data is not available for parameter inputs, then other market information is 
considered. For example, indicative broker quotes and consensus pricing information are used to 
suppo1t parameter inputs where they are available. Where no observable infonnation is available to 
suppo1t parameter inputs then they are based on other relevant sources of infonnation such as prices 
for similar transactions, historic data, economic fundamentals, and research infonnation, with 
appropriate adjustment to reflect the terms of the actual instrument being valued and current market 
conditions. 

Valuation Adjustments - Valuation adjustments are an integral pa1t of the valuation process. In 
making appropriate valuation adjustments, the Group follows methodologies that consider factors 
such as bid-offer spreads, counterparty/own credit and funding risk. Bid-offer spread valuation 
adjustments are required to adjust mid-market valuations to the appropriate bid or offer valuation. The 
bid or offer valuation is the best representation of the fair value for an instrument, and therefore its 
fair value. The carrying value of a long position is adjusted from mid to bid, and the canying value of 
a short position is adjusted from mid to offer. Bid-offer valuation adjustments are determined from 
bid-offer prices observed in relevant trading activity and in quotes from other broker-dealers or other 
knowledgeable counterparties. Where the quoted price for the instrument is already a bid-offer price 
then no additional bid-offer valuation adjustment is necessary. Where the fair value of financial 
instruments is derived from a modelling technique, then the parameter inputs into that model are 
normally at a mid-market level. Such instruments are generally managed on a portfolio basis and, 
when specified criteria are met, valuation adjustments are taken to reflect the cost of closing out the 
net exposure the Branch has to individual market or counterpa1ty risks. These adjustments are 
determined from bid-offer prices observed in relevant trading activity and quotes from other broker­
dealers. 
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EXPOSURES 

Where comp_lex valuation models are used, or where less-liquid positions a_re being valued, then bid­
offei· levels for those positions may not be available directly from the market, and therefore for the 
close-out cost of these positions, models and parameters must be estimated. When these adjustments 
are designed, the Group closely examines the valuation risks associated with the model as well as the 
positions themselves, and the resulting adjustments are closely monitored on an ongoing basis 
Counterparty Credit Valuation Adjustments (CV As) are required to cover expected credit losses to the 
extent that the valuation technique does not already include an expected credit loss factor relating to 
the non-performance risk of the counterpaiiy. The CY A amount is applied to all relevant over-the­
counter (OTC) derivatives, and is determined by assessing the potential credit exposure to a given 
counterpa1iy and taking into account any collateral held, the effect of any relevant netting 
arrangements, expected loss given default and the probability of default, based on available market 
information, including Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads. Where counterpa1iy CDS spreads are not 
available, relevant proxies are used. 

The fair value of the Group's financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (i.e., OTC 
derivative liabilities and structured note liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) 
incorporates Debt Valuation Adjustments (DV A) to measure the change in the Group's own credit 
risk of the financial liability. For derivative liabilities the Group considers its own creditworthiness by 
assessing all counterpa1iies' potential future exposure to the Group, taking into account any collateral 
posted by the Group, the effect of relevant netting arrangements, expected loss given default and the 
probability of default of the Group, based on the Group's market CDS level. The change in the 
Group's own credit risk for structured note liabilities is calculated by discounting the contractual cash 
flows of the instrument using the rate at which similar instruments would be issued at the 
measurement date as this reflects the value from the perspective of a market paiiicipant who holds the 
identical item as an asset. 

When determining CVA and DVA, additional adjustments are made where appropriate to achieve fair 
value, due to the expected loss estimate of a particular arrangement, or where the credit risk being 
assessed differs in nature to that described by the available CDS instrument. 

Funding Valuation Adjustments (FVA) are required to incorporate the market implied funding costs 
into the fair value of derivative positions. The FY A reflects a discounting spread applied to 
uncollateralized and partially collateralized derivatives and is detennined by assessing the market­
implied funding costs on both assets and liabilities. 

Where there is uncertainty in the assumptions used within a modelling technique, an additional 
adjustment is taken to calibrate the model price to the expected market price of the financial 
instrument. Typically, such transactions have bid-offer levels which are less observable, and these 
adjustments aim to estimate the bid-offer by computing the liquidity-premium associated with the 
transaction. Where a financial instrument is of sufficient complexity that the cost of closing it out 
would be higher than the cost of closing out its component risks, then an additional adjustment is 
taken to reflect this. 

Valuation Control - The Group has an independent specialized valuation control group within the 
Finance function which governs and develops the valuation control framework and manages the 
valuation control processes. The mandate of this specialist function includes the performance of the 
independent valuation control process for all businesses, the continued development of valuation 
control methodologies and techniques, as well as devising and governing the formal valuation control 
policy framework. Special attention of this independent valuation control group is directed to areas 
where management judgment forms part of the valuation process. 

Results of the valuation control process are collected and analyzed as pa1i of a standard monthly 
reporting cycle. Variances of differences outside of preset and approved tolerance levels are escalated 
both within the Finance function and with Senior Business Management for review, resolution and, if 
required, adjustment. 
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For instruments where fair value is determined from valuation models, the assumptions and 
techniques used within the models are independently validated by an independent specialist model 
validation group that is part of the Group's Risk Management function. 

Quotes for transactions and parameter inputs are obtained from a number of third paity sources 
including exchanges, pricing service providers, firm broker quotes and consensus pricing services. 
Price sources are examined and assessed to determine the quality of fair value information they 
represent, with greater emphasis given to those possessing greater valuation certainty and relevance. 
The results are compared against actual transactions in the market to ensure the model valuations are 
calibrated to market prices. 

Price and parameter inputs to models, assumptions and valuation adjustments are verified against 
independent sources. Where they cannot be verified to independent sources due to lack of observable 
information, the estimate of fair value is subject to procedures to assess its reasonableness. Such 
procedures include performing revaluation using independently generated models (including where 
existing models are independently recalibrated), assessing the valuations against appropriate proxy 
instruments and other benchmarks, and performing extrapolation techniques. Assessment is made as 
to whether the valuation techniques produce fair value estimates that are reflective of market levels by 
calibrating the results of the valuation models against market transactions where possible. 

RISK MANAGMENT 

Risk Management Approach 

DB Colombo's risk management framework 
The scope of the risk management framework is the foundation of the internal capital adequacy 
assessment process (ICAAP) which is embedded in all risk processes and risk decis ions of DB 
Colombo across businesses and infrastructure functions. DB Colombo's ICAAP framework follows 
the general ICAAP framework of DB Group. 

The risk appetite expresses the aggregate level of risk that DB Colombo is willing to assume within its 
risk capacity to achieve strategic objectives and business plan as defined by a set of minimum 
quantitative and qualitative statements. Risk capacity is defined as the maximum level of risk DB 
Colombo can assume given the capital and liquidity base, risk management and control capabilities, 
and regulatory constraints. The thresholds for key risk appetite metrics are fully integrated into DB 
Colombo' s risk management processes: the thresholds are considered in the planning process, and are 
subjected to stress testing. Threshold breaches, are subject to a dedicated governance framework 
triggering management actions. The risk identification and assessment process is performed annually 
or ad-hoc if required and results in a risk invento1y. Subsequently, all material risks are measured as 
the basis of regulatory and internal capital demand quantification. DB Colombo distinguishes between 
pillar I regulato1y models to quantify risk weighted assets (RWA) and pillar 2 internal models to 
quantify internal economic capital (EC) requirements. While RW As only cover credit, market, and 
operational risk (OR), the internal EC model framework covers all material risks. As part of the 
planning process, long-term targets of DB Colombo are articulated, its business lines, for the next 5 
years. These targets are defined in key performance indicators (KPI) which, besides others, also cover 
the key risk appetite metrics. 
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The Strategic and Capital Plan translates DB Colombo's long-term strategy into measurable sho1t to 
mid-term financial targets and enables intra-year performance management. The Strategic and Capital 
Plan ensures alignment of earnings, financial position and capital targets including risk appetite with 
the strategy of DB Colombo and provides the basis for ongoing Performance Management. 

Risk Governance 

When managing risks DB Group considers risks holistically. DB follows an integrated (centralized) 
risk management approach that ensures group-wide consistency in risk management standards 
overseen by a dedicated Group Enterprise Risk Management function, while allowing for adaptation 
to local or legal entity specific regulato1y requirements. In order to enable additional controls and/ or 
to address regulato1y requirements additional dimensions such as regional and business (Business 
Division/ Business Unit) may be considered. 

Overarching standards and minimum requirements with regards to policies, procedures and processes 
are set on Group level. The other dimensions may fu1ther define more specific requirements while 
remaining consistent with the Group standards. 

Risk is supported by key global hubs: Credit Risk Management - Deutsche Bank, India, Market 
Risk Management - Deutsche Bank, India, Operational Risk Management - DB APAC Risk, Group 
Enterprise Risk Management Function, and Head Office - Gennany provides centralised Risk 
coverage to DB Colombo. DB's Hubs include staff from relevant Risk-types ensuring effective risk 
management and capitalise on the intellectual and strategic synergies when housing risk-type subject­
matter-expertise together. 
Liquidity Risk Management (LRM) is a governance function of LRM team and Branch Treasury 
manages liquidity risk within LRM set parameters and within ALCO framework. 

Organizational set up of risk management 

Branch Management Board (BMB) 

The Branch Management Board (BMB), exercises strategic control and supervision of DB Colombo. 
It monitors DB Colombo's risk and capital profile regularly. BMB is responsible for defining and 
implementing comprehensive and aligned business and risk strategies, as well as ensuring well 
defined risk management functions recommended by the relevant Risk Groups and operating 
processes are in place to ensure that DB Colombo's overall performance is aligned to its business and 
risk strategy. Based on the recommendations of the relevant Risk Groups risk strategy is approved by 
the Branch Management Board (BMB) annually and is defined based on the DB Colombo risk 
appetite and strategic and capital plan in order to align risk, capital and perfonnance targets. 

For risk-related topics, the risk management committees directly established by the Branch are 111 

particular the Branch Management Board (BMB) and Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) 

Branch Management Board Asset and Liability Committee 

l=====::r··•=·~=r•===~ ::====~=i:.=·t=.~=/:.i=i=,,=,•===:' !=I ====c=lt=• •=·: ===~ :====;="=r ""='l=,1=1_;.i=· '=-'~=~===j 
Chief Country Officer Monthly Treasurer Eight Meetings per Annum 
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Overview of functional committees with risk-focus at DB Colombo 

• The Branch Management Board (BMB) and the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO), 
identifies, controls and manages all risks including risk concentrations of DB Colombo. It is 
responsible for risk policy, the organisation and governance of risk management as well as 
ensuring the oversight of the execution of risk and capital management including 
identification, analysis and risk mitigation, within the scope of the risk and capital strategy 
(Risk & Capital Demand Plan) approved by the Management Board: The Branch 
Management Board (BMB) and Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) are responsible for 
ove·rsight on risk po1tfolios and policies. 

• The Branch Management Board (BMB) oversees, governs and coordinates the management 
of non-financial risks of DB Colombo and establishes a cross-risk and holistic perspective of 
the key non-financial risks of DB Colombo. It is tasked to define the non-financial risk 
appetite tolerance framework, to monitor and control the non-financial risk operating model, 
including the Three Lines of Defence principles and interdependencies between (i) Business 
Divisions and Control Functions and (ii) different Control Functions. 

• The Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) has responsibility for the alignment of risk 
appetite, capitalisation requirements and funding needs of DB Colombo with Group-wide, 
divisional and sub-divisional business strategies. It steers efficient capital consumption by 
determining capital availability in support of divisional business portfolios, capital earmarked 
for fresh investments, as well as other uses. 

An overlap in membership between these committees facilitates a constant and comprehensive 
information flow. 

Country Chief Operating and Risk Officer 

Sri Lanka/ Deutsche Bank AG, Colombo Branch's chief risk officer (COO/CRO) suppo1ted by DB 
Group Risk has Branch-wide, responsibilities for the effective management and control of all credit, 
market and operational risks. CRO maintains dialogue with the local regulators, seeking both to 
understand current and future expectations as well as influence regulators to suppo1i the best outcome 
for risk, oversees the development and execution of local objectives, plans and policies and seeks to 
improve the Branch's competitive position and performance amongst its peers. 
CRO repo1ts into the Branch Management Board (BMB) of DB Colombo, and as country COO 
repo1ts into the Regional Management, thus ensuring enterprise & group-wide management of risks. 

Risk management by risk types 

Risk type functions set risk specific methodologies, principles, policies and models in order to 
manage, limit, control and mitigate the different risk types. Risk type functions include all financial 
(i.e. market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk) and several non-financial (operational & reputational 
risk) risks. 

Risk Management beyond Risk Functions 
Risk views of Independent Control Functions e.g. Regulation, Compliance and Anti Financial Crime 
(AFC), Finance, Legal, Human Resources (HR), are integrated into the overall risk management 
framework via joint risk management principles and committees. These independent functions must 
be informed of all significant business developments, initiatives, new products and operational 
changes by the business divisions and infrastructure functions and must be provided access to 
personnel and material to enable them to identify and assess material system and control risks. 
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Risk identification & assessment 

The primary purpose of the risk identification and assessment process is to identify and assess all risks 
that DB Colombo is exposed to according to their relevance and adequacy of the risk management 
framework in place. The underlying risk inventory is essentially structured into three key e lements: 
I . identification and assessment of al I the risks; 
2. approval of the risk inventory, and 
3. embedding of these risks into the risk management practices. 

The process is carried out on an annua l or an ad-hoc basis if required by the Branch Management 
Board (8MB) which then involves the respective 1st and 2nd LoD in the identification and 
assessment. 
The risk identification and assessment process is an integral patt of DB Colombo's risk management. 
Pa1ticularly, it is aligned with the risk appetite framework as follows: The risk appetite is a1ticulated 
on a universal level in terms of capital and liquidity ratios and supplemented by risk type specific risk 
appetites 

Key risk Types 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk arises from all transactions where actual, contingent or potential claims against any 
counterpaity, borrower or obligor (which is referred to collectively as "counterparties" ) exist, 
including those claims that DB Colombo plans to distribute. 

The below dimensions are the key drivers for credit risk: 

---.... ' t~lt:;1~ •l'-'~l!'l' ~~i\W~.•1Af@I) ------ ----------=-l 
Counterparty risk 

Country risk 

Industry Risk 

Product risk 

Market Risk 

Risk thot counterparties fail to meet contractual obligations 

Risk that DB may suffer a loss due to possible deterioration of economic conditions; 
political and social upheaval: nationalisation and expropriation of assets; government 
repudiation of external indebtedness: exchange controls or currency depreciation or 
devaluation in any given country. 

Risk of adverse developments in lhe operating environment for a specific industry 
segment leading to a deteriorntion in tl1e finoncial profile of counterparties operating in 
that segment and resulting in increased CR across this portfolio of counterparties. 

Risk driven by the underlying structure and economic dependencies of the product in 
question and con include factors such as tenor, recovery expectations and likelihood 
of having an exposure at the time of o default. Also includes ·setUement risk' arising 
from the non-simultaneous transfer of cash or securities due to the setUement or 
clearance of trades. 

Market risk arises from the uncettainty concerning changes in market prices and rates (including 
interest rates, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and commodity prices), the correlations among 
them and their levels of volatil ity. Four different risks are considered by Market Risk management: 
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Traded market risk 

Non-traded market 
risk 

Traded default risk 

Interest rnte risk in 
the bank book 

Liquidity Risk 

RISK MANAGMENT 

Risk tl,at involves taking positions in debt, equity, foreign exchange, other 
securities and commodities as well as in equivalent derivatives. 

Risk arising from market movements in the banking book and from off­
balance sheet items. 

Risk t11c.1t arises from defaults and rating migrations relating to trading 
instruments. 

Risk to present vc1lues arising from c1dverse movements in underlying 
interest rntes in the banking book. 

o, 
E 
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Liquidity risk is defined as the risk arising from the potential inability to meet all payment obligations 
when they fall due or only being able to meet these obligations at excessive costs. The objective of the 
Group's liquidity risk management framework is to ensure that the Group can fulfil its payment 
obligations at all times and can manage liquidity and funding risks within its Board-approved risk 
appetite. The framework considers all relevant and significant drivers of liquidity risk, whether on­
balance sheet or off-balance sheet. 

Operational Risk 

Operational Risk means the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 
and systems or from external events, and includes legal risk. Operational risk excludes business and 
reputational risk. 

DB Colombo manages Operational Risk (OR) based on a Group-wide consistent framework which 
enables DB Group to determine the OR profile in comparison to the risk tolerance, to systematically 
identify OR themes and to define appropriate risk mitigation measures and priorities. 

Non-Financial Risk Management ("NFRM") is the Risk function for the Non-Financial Risk types of 
the Bank including Operational Risk. It owns the overarching Operational Risk Management 
Framework (ORMF). 

Interest Rate Risk in Banking book 

IRRBB is the current or prospective risk, to both the Bank's capital and earnings, arising from adverse 

movements in interest rates, which affect the Bank's banking book exposures. This includes gap risk, 

which arises from the tenn structure of banking book instruments, basis risk, which describes the 

impact of relative changes in interest rates for financial instruments that are priced using different 

interest rate curves, as well as option risk, which arises from option derivative positions or from 

optional elements embedded in the Bank's on- and off-balance sheet items. 

The Bank measures the impact of interest rate risk in the banking book on the Bank's economic value 

as well as on the Bank's earnings. Our Group Treasu1y division is mandated to manage on a fiduciary 

basis the interest rate risk centrally, with Market & Valuation Risk Management acting as an 

independent oversight function. As per DB global policy, only Corporate and Investment Bank (CIB) 

is allowed to run market risk. The majority of the Group interest rate risk arising from non-trading 

asset and liability positions, has been transferred through internal transactions to the Treasury, subject 

to banking book value at risk limits. Treasury hedges the transferred net banking book risk with CfB 

trading books. CIB interest rate risk is managed on the basis of trading book VaR as reflected in 

trading portfolio figures. However, there may be small residual FX or interest rate risk that remains on 
overnight basis while covering and facilitating client flows. 
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DB Colombo Risk Appetite 
DB Colombo's risk appetite consists of minimum quantitative metrics (key risk appetite metrics incl. 

per risk type) and qualitative statements, monitored and repo1ted regularly, these components are 

fundamental components of the Bank's risk management. 

Qualitative Statements 
DB Colombo's qualitative risk appetite is built on the following qualitative statements which are 

aligned with the statements applicable on DB Group level: 

I. Risk is taken within a defined risk appetite, which is actively managed and monitored in a timely 

manner, in order to maintain a robust risk profile and capital adequacy. 

2. Maintain stable funding and strategic liquidity to ensure that business is conducted within the 

liquidity risk appetite. 

3. Avoid a ny undue concentrations within the po1tfolios considering multiple dimensions. e.g. 

counterpa1ty, region/ country, industries, products/ asset classes and business lines. 

4. Promote balanced risk adjusted perfonnance and be fully responsible for accepting well 

compensated risks within risk appetite. 

5. Ensure that any business activity is suppo1ted by appropriate processes and controls to minimize 
operational risk. 

6. Minimize negative reputational, environmental and social impacts of bus iness activities. 

Key risk appetite metrics 
DB Colombo assigns seven key risk appetite metrics that are sensitive to its material risks. These 
metrics are: 

Common Equity Tier I (CETI) ratio 

Total capital adequacy ratio 

Economic Capital Adequacy (ECA) ratio 

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) 

Stressed Net Liquidity Position (sNLP) 

Funding Matrix (FM) 

Net Stable funding ratio (NSFR) 

To select the above mentioned metrics, following principles have been applied: 

Principle 1: Metrics are embedded in risk management processes and practices, are managed and 
monitored via associated governance frameworks so that they are fully integrated into day-to-day risk 
management. 
Principle 2: M etrics are clearly and unambiguously defined as well as fully compliant w ith regulatory 
requirements. In particular, the significance of a metric in representing the financial health of the 
organization and its relationship with other metrics has to be transparent and meaning ful. 
Principle 3: Risk appetite metrics are assessed in regular stress-testing processes. Stress test results 
are also monitored and subject to an escalation process in case of specific threshold breaches. 
Principle 4: Metrics are re levant to the Branch's activities and are sens itive to the material risk types 
the Branch is exposed to. 
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A traffic light concept is used to monitor where DB Colombo is positioned in relation to its risk 
appetite (amber threshold) and its risk capacity (red threshold). 

Monitoring of risk appetite 
Ongoing tracking and monitoring of the actual risk profile vs. risk appetite for all risk appetite metrics 
in DB Colombo are captured in the qua1terly 'Risk, Capital and Profile (RCP)' report. The RCP is 
presented to the Branch Management Board (BMB). 

Escalation mechanism 
In the event that the Bank's desired risk appetite is breached under either normal or stress scenarios, 
an escalation governance matrix as predefined locally is applied so these breaches are highlighted to 
the Branch Management Board (8MB). As such, the Branch Management Board (BMB) has to 
review and decide if fu1ther escalation to the Group and/ or mitigating actions are required to bring 
the risk profile back to the desired risk appetite. The risk appetite framework is approved by the 
Branch Management Board (BMB). 

Risk culture 
We promote a strong risk culture where employees at all levels are responsible for the management 
and escalation of risks. We expect employees to exhibit behaviors that support a strong risk culture in 
line with our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. To promote this, our policies require that risk­
related behavior is taken into account during our performance assessment and compensation 
processes. We have a principles-based assessment of risk culture, in pa1ticular focusing on risk 
awareness, risk ownership and management of risk within risk appetite. Assessment results are 
incorporated into existing risk repo1ting, reinforcing the message that risk culture is an integral part of 
effective day-to-day risk management. 

A strong risk management culture helps to reinforce the Branch's resilience by ensuring a holistic 
approach to the management of risk and return throughout the organisation. DB Group sets and 
oversees the risk culture framework and standards for DB Colombo; however, the management of risk 
is the responsibility of all employees. Divisions and functions across DB are responsible for 
embedding DB Colombo's risk culture standards. 

Three Lines of Defence (3LoD) 
We operate a Three Lines of Defense ("3LoD") risk management model, in which risk, control and 
repo1ting responsibilities are defined. 

The I st Line of Defense (" I st LoD") refers to those roles in the Branch whose activities generate 
risks, whether financial or non-financial. 

The 2nd Line of Defense ("2nd LoD") refers to the risk type controller roles in the Branch who 

facilitate the implementation of a sound risk management framework throughout the organization. 

The 2nd LoD defines the risk appetite and risk management and control standards for their risk 

type, and independently oversees and challenges the risk taking and risk management activities of 
the 1st LoD. 

The 3rd Line of Defense ("3rd LoD") is Group Audit, which is accountable for providing 

independent and objective assurance on the adequacy of the design and effectiveness of the systems 
of internal control and risk management. 
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Risk measurement 

Overview of DB Colombo's risk measurement practice 
Besides the standardized approach used to fulfil pillar I requirement, and in consistence with DB 
Group's approach, DB Colombo takes into account a comprehensive variety of risks that result of the 
bank's business activities, respecting a more economical approach (Pillar 2 Framework) on top of the 
regulatory approach. DB Colombo considers the pillar 2 model framework to be more adequate for 

__ risk management and steer[ng of the bank given the respective Economic Capital (EC) captures the 
· portfolio specifics and- risk management practices vs. the minimum requirements of the generically 

applicable regulatory models. 

DB Colombo's internal risk measures are based on DB Group economic risk quantification 
methodologies and governance. DB Group uses different methodologies for the assessment of risks 
that provides qualitative as well as quantitative assessments. 

The following principles define bank's internal risk measurement practice 

All relevant risks are measured quantitatively or qualitatively 

All measurement approaches meet high quality standards, are appropriate for the type of risk 
measured and provide sufficient transparency. 

- All measurement approaches are subject to a rigorous validation routine at Group level, in order to 

ensure they are fit for purpose in an independent review and quality assurance process. 

In implementing these principles, Risk has established a dedicated organization for model 
development bundling model expe1tise across risk types. Accountability for proper measurement 
approaches is lying with DB global Heads of the respective risk type who are also members of DB 
Group Risk Committee (GRC). 

Risk Reporting and Monitoring 
DB Colombo's risk repo1ting is aligned throughout the organisation to suppo1t DB Colombo's risk 
management framework and in particular the risk management processes and activities. The DB 
Colombo Risk & Capital Profile Report is presented to the Branch Management Board (BMB) on a 
qua1terly basis. It comprises an overview of the current profit and loss, risk, capital and liquidity 
status of DB Colombo, also incorporating information on regulatory capital and economic capital 
adequacy. Relevant stress testing results are also included in this report on a regular basis. 
Senior DB Colombo risk/executive committees also receive supplemental regular reporting (as well as 
ad-hoc repo1ting as required), if deemed relevant by the CRO/Treasurer of DB Colombo or if required 
due to Group policies. Reporting as such includes but is not limited to 

The quarterly Risk & Capital Profile (RCP) report; 

- The monthly standard MIS containing credit portfolio information 

The daily risk performance status repo1t on market risk; and 

The ALCO repo1t on capital, funding and liquidity of the Branch, as well as liquidity stress testing 
(where relevant). 

Stress Testing governance and processes 

Benchmark stress tests 
Benchmark stress tests are generally based on severe macroeconomic downturn scenarios calibrated 
to an approximately 20% likelihood of occurrence over a period of twelve months. Although the 
scenario probability is expected to stay constant, the actual assumptions used in the scenario depend 
on the macroeconomic and financial conditions and outlook at the time of running it. A representative 
scenario run in the past was the 'European recession scenario' assuming for example that a toxic 
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combination of weaker than expected gross domestic product (GDP) growth, ongoing political 
instability in the European Moneta1y Union (EMU) periphe1y and renewed stress in the financial 
system cause a vicious circle, leading to even deeper recession in EMU. The regular group-wide 
macro benchmark stress tests are performed on the quarter-end portfolios (four regular stress tests per 
year). 

As part of the Legal Entity ICAA P Program DB Colombo receives on a qua1terly basis the results of 
the stress tests based on the benchmark scenario applied on group level. . . 

Credit risk stress testing 
Credit risk stress tests of economic capital and also local regulatory demand are based on Group 
Credit Risk Stress Test methodology (G lobal Downturn or another macroeconomic stress scenario). 
The results are provided by Group on a qua1terly basis in a standard template. In general, legal entity 
stress test can be performed using the group-allocated view or the standalone view. In the fonner case, 
one considers transactions of the legal entity towards DB group as risk free, whereas in the latter case, 
on ly transactions within the legal entity are considered as risk free. Deviations from the provided 
credit risk stress tests required to reflect local specifics or local regulato1y requirements have to be 
approved by the Group. 

The stress on local credit risk regulat01y capital is calculated locally. For this purpose, the specifically 
calculated rating migration matrix (based on the Global Downturn Scenario or another 
macroeconomic stress scenario) provided by Group is applied to the local rated po1tfolio. The 
migration matrix is an output from the Group Credit Stress Test (GCST) which is the macroeconomic 
downturn (as mentioned above) applied on the bank's credit portfolio using the internal EC model to 
calculate rating downgrade impact. By apply ing regu latory risk weights to the exposure of the derived 
portfolio, stressed RWA are calculated. 
For non-rated portfolios DB Colombo defines adequate credit risk stress tests in c lose coordination 
with the central ICAAP team and the respective Group function. 

Liquidity risk stress testing 
DB Colombo is fully integrated into the Group's liquidity risk management framework, and as such 
perfonns liquidity stress tests on a regular basis. The stress test framework is derived from DB's 
global stress testing framework, and adjusted to cover loca l market peculiarities, where necessary. 
Liquidity stress test results are computed by Liquidity and Treasury Repo1ting and Analysis (L TRA) 
team based on the standards described in the Group Liquidity Stress Testing Methodology. Stress 
models and parameters are adjusted to cover local market and product specifications, which are 
reviewed and validated by APAC Liquidity Risk Management (LRM) in its capacity as an 
independent risk unit and approved at the local ALCO. Stress tests results are discussed regularly in 
the local ALCO, where local Branch Management Board (8MB) members are a lso members of 
ALCO. Liquidity stress testing mode ls (includ ing a ll applicable assumptions) are reviewed at least 
annually to ensure that all stress parameters are suffic iently severe and remain relevant to DB 
Colombo. Any changes in liquidity stress testing mode ls/ assumptions are subject to ALCO and 
APAC LRM (Liquidity Risk Management) team's approval prior to the implementation. 

Market risk stress testing 
Stress testing is a key risk management techn ique, which evaluates the potential effects of extreme 
market events and extreme movements in individua l risk factors. It is one of the core quantitative 
tools used to assess the market risk of the Bank's positions and its prima1y application is within the 
EC framework. The scenario-based approach in stress testing is complementary to statistical model 
approaches as for VaR. Group M RM performs several types of stress testing to capture the variety of 
risks: individual business-level stress tests, MRM portfolio stress testing (e.g. Po1tfol io Stress Testing 
(PST), Event Risk Scenarios (ERS), and Group-wide stress testing). 
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Operational risk stress testing 
The Branch is fully integrated into the Group's Operational Risk Management Framework, and as 
such perfonns Operational Risk stress tests on a regular basis. The local stress test framework is 
derived from DB's global stress testing framework. 
Group Operational Risk translates group operational risk stress impact into DB operational risk 
factors for EC and respective RC which are applied to the Branch's local EC and RC figures. The 
stressed operational risk factors for EC and RC are calculated at least on an Annual basis by 
translating the macro economic assumptions of the global downturn scenario into expert base_d 
'"vorkable' operational risk assumptions. 

Credit Risk Mitigation Techniques 
Credit risk is generally mitigated at DB Group level. DB Colombo employs the different techniques 
available for the management of credit risk in line with the strategy established at DB Group level. 
DB Colombo takes into account the local laws / local market practice for the use of credit risk 
mitigants. DB Colombo may also apply guarantees or other instruments to transfer credit risk to DB 
AG or other legal entities within DB Group. 

Mitigation of credit risk on counterparty level 
In addition to determining counterparty credit quality and risk appetite, DB Colombo also uses 
various CR mitigation techniques to optimize credit exposure and reduce potential credit losses. CR 
mitigants are applied in the following forms: 

Comprehensive and enforceable credit documentation with adequate terms and conditions. 

Collateral held as security to reduce losses by increasing the recovery of obligations. 

- Risk transfers, which shift the probability of default risk of an obligor to a third party 

- Netting and collateral arrangements which reduce the credit exposure from derivatives and repo-
and repo-style transactions. 

Collateral 
DB Colombo regularly agrees on collateral to be received from or to be provided to customers in 
contracts that are subject to CR. Collateral is security in the form of an asset or third-party obligation 
that serves to mitigate the inherent risk of credit loss in an exposure, by either substituting the 
borrower default risk or improving recoveries in the event of a default. While collateral can be an 
alternative source of repayment, it generally does not replace the necessity of high quality 
underwriting standards and a thorough assessment of the debt service ability of the borrower. 
DB Colombo segregate collateral received into the following two types: 

Financial and other collateral, which enables us to recover all or part of the outstanding exposure by 

liquidating the collateral asset provided, in cases where the borrower is unable or unwilling to fulfil 

its primary obligations. Cash collateral, securities (equity, bonds), collateral assignments of other 

claims or inventory, equipment (i.e., plant, machinery and aircraft) and real estate typically fall into 
th is category. 

- Guarantee collateral, which complements the borrower's ability to fulfil its obligation under the 

legal contract and as such is provided by third parties. Letters of credit, insurance contracts, expo1t 

credit insurance, guarantees, credit derivatives and risk pa1ticipations typically fall into this 
category. 

DB Colombo's processes seek to ensure that the collateral that is accept for risk mitigation purposes is 
of high quality. This includes seeking to have in place legally effective and enforceable 
documentation for realizable and measureable collateral assets which are evaluated regularly by 
dedicated teams. The assessment of the suitability of collateral for a specific transaction is pa1t of the 
credit decision and must be unde1taken in a conservative way, including collateral haircuts that are 
applied. There are collateral type specific haircuts in place which are regularly reviewed and 
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approved. In this regard, "wrong-way" risk characteristics are avoided where the borrower's 
counterparty risk is positively con·elated with the risk of deterioration in the collateral value. For 
guarantee collateral, the process for the analysis of the guarantor's creditworthiness is a ligned to the 
credit assessment process for borrowers. 

Risk transfers 
Risk transfers to third parties form a key part of the overall risk management process and are executed 
in various forms, including outright sales, s ingle name and p01tfolio hedging, and securitizations. Risk 
transfers are conducted by the respective business units, in accordance with specifically approved 
mandates. 

Concentrations within CR mitigation 
Concentrations within CR mitigations taken may occur if a number of guarantors with similar 
economic characteristics are engaged in comparable activities with changes in economic or industry 
conditions affecting their ability to meet contractual obligations. DB Colombo uses a range of 
quantitative tools and metrics to monitor CR mitigating activities. These also include monitoring of 
potential concentrations within collateral types suppo1ted by dedicated stress tests. 

Contingency Funding Plan is applicable to DB Colombo and contains infomrntion on governance, 
funding risks and countermeasures to deal with liquidity stress, which is covered within the Liquidity 
Policy. Market related as well as DB specific (idiosyncratic) events can lead to a temporary or longer­
tenn disruption of DB's access to funding . To safeguard DB's liquidity position under moderate, 
severe idiosyncratic or combined stress, DB Colombo has established a Contingency Funding Plan 
(CFP). The CFP suppo1is the effective operational management of a stress situation by providing a 
clear menu of options for safeguarding the Branch's funding and liquidity position, and operational 
procedures for executing those actions. 

In addition to the above, the objectives of the CFP are to: 

Clearly articulate the criteria for invoking the CFP; 

Establish the protocols for reviewing and executing selected CFP countenneasure(s) in a stress 
scenario; 

Provide the overall governance structure for the invocation, execution, and monitoring of the CFP; 
and 

Establish procedures for testing the CFP. 

In general, the Branch's business model is sufficiently flexible to adjust to structural changes in 

market and funding conditions within a time frame of about eight weeks. 

If the stress event extends beyond an eight-week horizon, additional strategic countermeasures can be 

mobilized, such as reducing the funded balance sheet and increasing stable funding sources where 

possible. 

Testing the CFP 

The Local Treasurer is responsible for ensuring the execution of a CFP test exercise. However, shou ld 

Deutsche Bank AG Colombo experience an actual or anticipated liquidity stress and the local ALCO 

meet and invoke the CFP then there shall be no need to carry out a test of the CFP. 

In the absence of an actual or antic ipated liquidity stress, Deutsche Bank AG Colombo shall carry out 

testing of its contingency funding plan on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness and operational 

feasibility. Among other things, the test will cover activation of the call tree and hence the ALCO, 
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preparation of internal management repo1ts, confirmation of key system availability and convening 

and ad-hoc ALCO. 

The Local Treasurer is responsible for ensuring that the CFP and supporting documentation 1s 

rev iewed and updated to include " lessons learnt" following completion of a test exercise. 

· Operational Risk Mitigation techniques 

The Branch mit igates the assessed risks to a level where the residual risk fits into the defined risk 
appetite. Issues are identified, mitigating actions clearly tracked and are suffic ient to reduce the 
res idual risk to within risk appetite. Where within appetite, further mitigation can be temporarily 
delayed following a defined risk acceptance process inc luding the review and challenge by the risk 
control functions who have a veto authority. 

Identified and assessed operational risks can be further reduced by performing mitigation activities, 
e.g. by improving the control environment, by transferring risks (i.e. insurance), or by ultimately 
reducing/ ceasing the business activity. The transferring of risks us ing insurance activities is managed 
and governed by Corporate Insurance Deukona (CID). 

Mitigation activities which are not already monitored by another resolution monitoring process, such 
as findings management are captured, recorded and governed within the issue management process. 
These self-identified issues address control gaps and deficiencies which have not already been 
addressed elsewhere (e.g. audit and regulatory findings or actions) and could result in an OR event. 

The Group proactively identifies and addresses control deficiencies and gaps through the issue 
management process. For critical issues (and significant optionally), the risk control functions opt-in 
to review and challenge the mitigation plan and may exercise a veto where the planned mitigation is 
insufficient to bring the residual risk back within risk appetite. 

If the residual risk (incl. after the completion of mitigation activities) is within risk appetite -
qualitatively and quantitatively - a related issue can be risk accepted for a certain time frame and not 
mitigated fu,ther during this time. Ifresidual risks remain s ignificant but are considered applicable for 
OR acceptance, the risk acceptance process as defined in the ORMF is followed. Risk acceptances 
will unde rgo independent challenge and risk control functions have a veto authority. 

Contingency plans to handle failure and s ituations: 

Business Process Disruption Risk is the risk of failure in the business' ability to resume relevant 

business activities after disruptions affecting staff, infrastructure (buildings, IT infrastructure & 

applications) and/or vendors (NFRM Risk Type Taxonomy v3. l). The Branch is required to ma intain 

an appropriate leve l of availability for its services in the event of operational disruption. Business 

Continuity Management (BCM) describes the set of activities that the Branch conducts to prepare for 

and, more impo,tantly, recovery from such an event. BCM activ ities are designed to limit inadequate 

recovery and thus mitigate 'Business Process Disruption' risk. They are by nature iterative and 

cyclical. The Branch's BCM framework, including the Business Continuity Management Policy - DB 

Gro up, is derived from the existing regulation g lobally and industry standards, pa1ticularly ISO 2230 I 
(2012) and its ' Plan-Do-Check-Act' cycle (per the BCM Lifecycle). 

Testing bus iness continuity capabilities is a required component of the Branch's BCM program. The 

Business Continuity Document (BC Document) records the effect of operational disruption and the 

associated plan to recover from it. It consists of: Business Impact Analysis (BIA), including process 

or functional structure, technology requirements and dependencies; Recovery Objectives to meet the 
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relevant risk appetite(s); Recovery Strategies (i.e. the plan) across all impact types and including 

appropriate recovery capabilities for each. Business Recovery Solution Test validates that the 

Recovery Strategies given in the BC Document across all impact scenarios are effective and 

suppo1ted by the appropriate resources. Awareness Training ensures all staff within a Recove1y Unit 

are aware of their business continuity response mechanism and recove1y strategies, as given in the BC 

Document. Call Tree Test confirms the abi li ty to communicate with staff in the event of disruption, 

via either a mass notification tool or manual call cascades. Training and Testing requirement is 

completed annually. 

Market Risk Mitigation Techniques 
It is the respons ibility of each trading desk and business unit to manage their risk exposures, adhere to 
the approved exposure limits and hence to mitigate market risks appropriately. This can be achieved 
by using different hedging techniques to reduce relevant exposure. The ultimate respons ibility for 
implementing any required hedging strategy lies with individual business unit management or, in the 
case of macro-hedges, with central management. Market Risk Management (MRM) can undertake a 
review of the hedging strategies that are put in place in order to ensure that the risks of the underlying 
exposures and the hedging positions are fully understood and adequately represented in the systems. 

Risk Management Related to Key Risk Exposures 

i) Credit Risk 
a) Breakdown of exposures subject to credit risk by major types, geographical areas, 
sectors and residua l maturity. 

(a) (i) Total gross credit risk exposures broken down b;• major t-,'pes of credit 

exposure. 

In TLKR 
Balances ·,·:ith Central bank of Sri Lanka 
Balances with Banks & Financial Institutions 
Placements with Banks 
Group balances receivable 
ln·Jestment in Government Securities 
Other investments 
Loans and .A.d•,•ances 
Total c n-balance sheet t!ems 

Letters of credit 
Guarantees 
Acceptances 
Derivati',es (net} 
Usance lm~•ort bills 
Undrawn credit lines 
Other 
Total c ff-t a lance sheet items 

Source : Audited account;;. 

201:? 
as at 2.-1 Dec 

119 

7,676,845 

7:1 ,2:-8 
:-,:-81,934 

20,487,879 
42,33:? 

14.c-43. 02:-
~e.2EG. 777 

3-,71S,10:, 
7,!?30,312 

3.a.:)?40 
(:-9, 172} 
707,537 

1:-,77€-,274 

20 16 
a!> at J·I Cec 

2,607,:-27 
16,211 

3,200,511 
6,041,:-58 

1 : -,296, 140 
1,600 

11.:?62.225-
3S: l 47.87E 

1,o: . .;,2ss 
8,342,955 

77E.B42 
1,12& 

632,2·10 
11 ,E:-E ,433 
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{a) (ii) Ge9gr:,phic distribution of exposures. broken do'."lns in significant nre3s by t✓oes of credit exposure. 

.:.s .1t ~-Bt Cci:- ~019 iOIJI $n .:.s,a F'i.1cifli: (excl llcnh i !..JM Afnc3 -: 
In TLKR Centrnl P •/,:'estcrn P l ant,1 Sri LJ/'11:J} A.martca 1.11:~1'= Eas1 Eurcct: Olhcrs 
Balances wlh Central bank of Sri Lanka 7,576.6.;S 7,07S..~.!:, 
Balances with Banks & Financial lnstdutions 2'1.S:?.:? , .~57 41,607 
Placements with Banks ,:.1.2:s iS1,2:B 
Group balances recei•,able t ,007,723 ES0,391 513,820 
tnveslment in Go·,ernment Securities 20,<27,8i9 20 . .!S7,e.7e 
Other ifwestmenls .;2,339 .;2,335 
Loans and Advances 14.6.:3,02: I ~.€'1:?,.02~-
Tot!! cn~talance shel!t rtems .!~,.51 I. l ~S ~3.'= 11 .'1~~ .!.IJ:?2.z:;; c-::1 .~.:; g~::.42i 

Letters of credit 3,ilS. lOS :?..n s.10:. 
Guarantees 1,1£11,S:!0 1,166,:,30 .!.3.;3.EE: 2,413, 117 
.O.cce.tances :?SS.9-10 26$,9~0 
Derlvalr,•es (gross) (:-9, 172) (SS,172) 
Usance lm~ort buls r 707.S37 707,~-37 
Undrawn credit tines 15,776.27• 15,770.27.; 
Other 
Totnl c ff.batance sheet ttemi 21 fi~.;I 3 21.,~7 ~.21 ~ .;.z~3.s-;s 2.418. 117 
Total Ezccsure £,:.~s:.?:;i ::: .. 2i ~.3~Si e.~7-.:.~21 E-:.-1.9.;5' ~- ~'~-~~4 

.:..~ al ?l ~l Dec 20 16 Tot31 : r1 ...:: siJ Pacific te:-:cl llorth S LaI,n Africa &. 

r In TLKF. Central P ·,\' cstern P Lani.a Sri Lnnka·; A.m~r1C3 f,1i~~!c East Euroce Cllh<rs 
Balances with Central bon~ cl Sri Lanka 2,607,527 2 ,60i,S2i 
Balances with Banks S. Financial Institutions i ,i30 1.0i:2 7.•12 
Placements wnh Banl:s 3,200,611 ~-.200,€'11 
Group talances recer,able 3,7:~.1.!9 1,0~3.:?~S- 1.2s:-.o•o 
ln-.'estmant In Go\•ernment Secur~res 1:-,2~8. 140 1 S,2S8: l~O 
Other investments 1,EOC 1.EOO 
Loans an:, Adv~nces <.1<3 11.ei S.O~ 1U62.22S 
ictel on-ta lance sheet rtem! ~- 1.;~ ~2-.cs: .sc.! 3-2-.090.107 ?.7CC.07~ 1.02.:.~~e 1.2~-2 . .::2 

Letters of cre~lt 1,054,22.a 1,0:4.226 
Guarantees 1.•18.22s 1.~1a.22e 3.83-4,6~6 €4.033 3.02€.038 
A.cce~tences 776,S•2 77E,S.:2 
Cerr.-etr,es .;gross) 1,126 1,126 
Usance Import bnls r 8n.210 832.210 
Undrawn credit fines 11,€!:6.~33 11,6~6.0:33 
Other 
"iclsl cH-t:t1lance sheet rtems 1: .r~s-.12~ i5.7?S:. 12: ~ 62.!.6!:C .s:;.03.3 3.02.=.c30 
lctal E:-:r.csure- .:.1.:.:? ~5.e-2~ .CB9 .:.B..E2S.22-:? 7 ~-9f -~~= l.03•.431', €.!.0~2 ,.283.<SC 
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(a} (iii} Sector wise distribution of exposures. broken down by major types of credit exposure - as per Bank Supervision categories 

2 I s t Ccctml!t r 2C 15:­
ln TLl(R 

Agriculture&. Fishing 
f,1anufacturing 
tourism 
Transpcr1 
Ccnstruction 
Trading 
Telecommunications 
Financial&. Business Ser·,•ices 
Professicna~ Scientific&. Tech nical 
O1her 

~1st Ce cemtcr LC 15 
In TLKR 

Agriculture &. Fishin·g 
l,lanufacturing 
Tourism 
Transport 
Construction 
ire ding 
Telecommunications 
Financial&. Business Ser,ices 
Other 

Tclsl 

Sills; ci 

t :.:.changc 

8 iif;; cf 
Excl1ange 

O•,•erCrafts 

2,65:. 
3,:-4s.s:.s 

5$2,227 
200AS5 

2.3Sl.37t. 
3,82:-, 180 

11,4':~.11~ 

Overe!rafts 

1<,.;·10 
2,1S4,S-E4 

5:,5, 100 
·1ss.~E2 

3,69~-.335 
1,016 

1,S21,B·t9 

B.ZSI ,£CE, 

~xr-crt 
Finance 

E;-:r,cn 
Finan c;:; 

Trai:h:­
F1ranct 

1.€~2: 1 ss 

, rade 
Flnani:.c 

2.2:B.136 

331.372 

2.~~-!?.~ I 0 

!;uf'phcr 
finance 

22!?,7:4 

~ui:-pher 
finar:ce 

907,181 

SCi, '181 

Other 

114,93~ 

7S,S25 

Other 

12·1,6: 6 

82,274 

2c2-.; 1.o 

,otul 

2,0~.s 
5,.;3i,7c-i 

:,52,227 
200..;ES 

2,t.55·,308 
4,919,501 

ss:,:?-7~ 
75,520 

Tc!al 

1~,.;10 
S,355-,883 

5:5; t 00 
156.352 
121,5:-S 

~.026,708 
1,018 

1,~-21,S·IS 
B2,274 

11.se2.22e 

(al (ivl Residual contractual maturity breakdo\'m of the \'thole credit portfolio, by major types of credit exposure 

2 I-C6,:;·-·1s, 21 -Dec-1 f 
In Tlkr :v,:-e Utlisatic n/E:-:pcsure Tctal Lillis a tic n/E:•:pc sure Total 

< 1 year On-balance sheet 38,502,4:f-9 35,313,663 
Off-Balance Sheet 10,39'2,B01 48,&SS,200 H,890,6:-S- :-3,209',342 

1 year- S y ears On-balance sheet 10,594,1 : -9 3,742,980 
Off-Balance Sheet 1.S67,4€-5 ·12,151,62:- 3,:-02, 189- 7,245-,169 

> 5 years On-balance sheet 64,1 :.9 8-5,213 
Off-Balance Sheet 15l47:,,729 ·15,: -39,BBB 1,271,004 1,3:-7,217 

b) Description of policies, process, methods and key definitions on impairment/classification of 
exposures subject to credit risk. 

(As per SLFRS9 - adopted for Published Accounts and Audited Financial Statements) 

Impairment of Loans and Provision for Off-Balance Sheet Positions 
The impairment requirements of SLFRS 9 apply to all credit exposures that are measured at amortized 
cost or FVOCI, and to off-balance sheet lending commitments such as loan commitments and 
financial guarantees. For purposes of the impairment policy below, these instruments are referred to 
as ("Financial Assets"). 
The determination of impainnent losses and allowance moves from an incurred credit loss model 
whereby credit losses are recognized when a defined loss event occurs under LKAS 39, to an 
expected cred it loss model under SLFRS 9, where a llowances are taken upon initial recognition of the 
Financial Asset, based on expectations of potential credit losses at the time of initial recognition. 

Staged Approach to the Determination of Expected Credit Losses 

SLFRS 9 introduces a three stage approach to impairment for Financial Assets that are not credit­
impaired at the date of origination or purchase. This approach is summarized as follows: 
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Stage I: The Group recognizes a credit loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected 
credit losses. This represents the portion of lifetime expected credit losses from default events that 

are expected within 12 months of the repo1ting date, assuming that credit risk has not increased 

significantly after initial recognition. 
Stage 2: The Group recognizes a credit loss a llowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected 

credit losses for those Financial Assets which are considered to have experienced a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. This requires the computation of ECL based on 
lifetime probability of default, lifetime loss given default and lifetime exposure at default that 

represents the probability of default occurring over the remaining lifetime of the Financial Asset. 

Allowance for credit losses are higher in this stage because of an increase in credit risk and the 
impact of a longer time horizon being considered compared to 12 months in Stage I . 
Stage 3: The Group recognizes a loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 

losses, reflecting a Probability of Default of I 00 %, via the expected recoverable cash flows for the 

asset, for those Financial Assets that are credit-impaired. The Group's definition of default is 
aligned with the regulato1y definition. Financial Assets that are credit impaired upon initial 
recognition are categorized within Stage 3 with a carry ing value a lready reflecting the lifetime 

expected credit losses. The accounting treatment for these purchased or originated credit-impaired 

("POCI") assets is discussed further below. 

Significant Increase in Credit Risk 

Under IFRS 9, when determining whether the credit risk (i .e., risk of default) of a Financial Asset has 
increased significant ly s ince initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and suppo1table 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effo1t. This includes quantitative and 
qualitative information based on the Group's historical experience, credit risk assessment and 
forward-looking information (including macro-economic factors). The assessment of s ignificant credit 
deterioration is key in determining when to move from measuring an allowance based on 12-month 
ECLs to one that is based on lifetime ECLs (i.e., transfer from Stage I to Stage 2). 
The Group' s framework for determining if there has been a s ignificant increase in credit risk aligns 
with the interna l Credit Risk Management ("CRM") process and covers rating related and process 
related indicators. 

Credit-impaired Financial Assets in Stage 3 

The Group has a ligned its definition of credit- impaired under IFRS 9 to when a Financial Asset has 
defaulted for regulatory purposes, accord ing to the Capital Requirements Regulation under Art. 178. 
The determination of whether a Financial Asset is credit-impaired and therefore in Stage 3 focusses 
exclusively on default risk, without taking into consideration the effects of credit risk mitigants such 
as collateral or guarantees. Specifically, a 
Financial Asset is credit-impaired and in Stage 3 when: 

The Group considers the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group. Determination 

may include forbearance actions, where a concession has been granted to the borrower or economic 
or legal reasons that are qua litative indicators of credit impairment; or 

Contractua l payments of either principal or interest by the obligor are past due by more than 90 
days. 

For Financial Assets considered to be credit-impaired, the ECL a llowance covers the amount of loss 
the Branch is expected to suffer. The estimation of ECLs is done on a case-by-case basis for non­
homogeneous portfolios, or by applying po1tfolio based parameters to individual Financ ial Assets in 
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these portfolios via the Group's ECL model for homogeneous po1tfolios. This estimate includes the 
use of discounted cash flows that are adjusted for scenarios. 
Forecasts of future economic conditions when calculating ECLs are considered. The lifetime expected 
losses are estimated based on the probability-weighted present value of the difference between the 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group under the contract; and the cash flows that the Group 
expects to receive. 
A Financial Asset can be classified as credit-impaired in Stage 3 but without an allowance for credit 
losses (i.e., no impairment loss is expected). This may be due to the value of collateral. The Group's 
engine based ECL calculation is conducted on a monthly basis, whereas the case-by-case assessment 
of ECL in Stage 3 for non-homogeneous portfolio has to be performed at least on a qua1terly basis. 

Purchased or Originated Credit-Impaired Financial Assets in Stage 3 

A Financial Asset is considered purchased or originated credit-impaired if there is objective evidence 
of impairment at the time of initial recognition. Such credit-impaired Financial Assets are termed 
POCI Financial Assets. POCI Financial Assets are measured to reflect lifetime expected credit losses, 
and all subsequent changes in lifetime expected credit losses, whether positive or negative, are 
recognized in the income statement as a component of the provision for credit losses. POCI Financial 
Assets can only be classified in Stage 3 over the life of the Financial Asset. 

Write-Offs 

The Group reduces the gross carrying amount of a Financial Asset when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recove1y. 
Write-offs can relate to a Financial Asset in its entirety, or to a po1tion of it, and constitute a 
derecognition event. The Group considers all relevant infonnation in making this determination, 
including but not limited to: 
- Foreclosure actions taken by the Group which have not been successful or have a high probability of 
not being successful 
- Collateral liquidation which has not, or will not lead to fu1ther considerable recoveries 
- Situations where no further recoveries are reasonably expected 
Write-offs can take place before legal actions against the borrower to recover the debt have been 
concluded, and a write-off does not involve the Group forfeiting its legal right to recover the debt. 

Collateral for Financial Assets Considered in the Impairment Analysis 
SLFRS 9 requires cash flows expected from collateral and other credit enhancement to be reflected in 
the ECL calculation. The following are key aspects with respect to collateral and guarantees: 
- Eligibility of collateral, i.e. which collateral should be considered in the ECL calculation; 
- Collateral evaluation, i.e. what collateral (liquidation) value should be used; and 
- Projection of the available collateral amount over the life of a transaction. 

Critical Accounting Estimates - The accounting estimates and judgments related to the impairment of 
Financial Assets is a critical accounting estimate because the underlying assumptions used can change 
from period to period and may significantly affect the Group's results of operations. 
In assessing assets for impairments, management judgment is required, pa1ticularly in projecting 
future economic information and scenarios in pa1ticular where circumstances of economic and 
financial unce1tainty, when developments and changes to expected cash flows can occur both with 
greater rapidity and less predictability. The actual amount of the future cash flows and their timing 
may differ from the estimates used by management and consequently may cause actual losses to differ 
from reported allowances. 
For those non-homogeneous loans in Stage 3 the determination of the impairment allowance often 
requires the use of considerable judgment concerning such matters as local economic conditions, the 
financial performance of the counterparty and the value of any collateral held, for which there may 
not be a readily accessible market. 
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The determination of the expected credit losses in Stages I and 2 and for homogeneous loans in Stage 
3 is calculated using statistical expected loss models. The model incorporates numerous estimates and 
judgments. The Group performs a regular review of the model and underlying data and assumptions. 
The probability of defaults, loss recovery rates and judgments concerning ability of borrowers in 
foreign countries to transfer the foreign currency necessary to comply with debt repayments, amongst 
other things, are incorporated into this review. 

Impairment/classification of exposures subject to credit risk (loans and advances only) 
Adopted for Regulatory financials submitted via web-based returns. 

(a) Specific provisions for loan losses are made as follows: 

In accordance with the Direction issued by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka on 08th May 2008, 
Direction No 3 of 2008 "Classification of Loans & Advances, Income Recognition & Provisioning" 
specific provisions on NPA are made as follows. 

Category ofNPA credit quality 
Substandard 
Doubtful 
Loss 

Minimum specific provision requirement 
20% 
50% 
100% 

The Bank does not have any specific provisions as per reporting date. 

(b )General Provision 

Direction issued by the Monetary Board of the Central bank of Sri Lanka on 27th September 20 IO in 
terms of Section 46(1) of the Banking Act, No. 30 of 1988, as amended, requires all licensed 
commercial banks to reduce the rate of general loan loss provisioning by 0.1 % per quarter, 
commencing l st October 2010, to achieve a general loan loss provisioning of 0.5% of total 
outstanding on-balance sheet performing loans and advances by 31st December 2011. Since this date, 
a rate of 0.5 % has been applied in determining general loan loss provisions in the regulatory 
financials. 

c) Breakdown of exposures subject to credit risk (both on and off-balance sheet) in to impaired 
and non-impaired (as per financial reporting) with related details on collateral/cash flows, 
impairment allowances, write-offs and net exposure, by type-wise and age analysis-wise. 
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(c) (i) & (d) (i) MaKimum amount of eKposu,c- (before deducting the value- of collatcrall .. description of collatcr..:ril.. lnforma1ion about credit qu,iJlity 
of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired and information about credit quality of financial assets. 

In 'fU(F: D<'!crip11on 
3l!t O~C"•:!rnl:-1?1 201$ Gro ss .:-::oo!tJI~ C:oltm•:.al M"t .:-i oos1Jr.:- '=lf cvtlat..-r.Jl 0 ,:-;;.;licHion oi Cri'dlt 1Jw:,lit11 

Balances ~ith Ctntrat B ank. of S1i Lanka 

Balances with Banks & Fin,1ncial Institutions 

Pl,1c~N\ts .... 11h BJnU 

Group b,1J,1nces 1eoelvable-

lnvestment in Government Secutities 
Other investments: 

loans .lnd Advancl's 

Lttltrs of ereidit 

Gu.lrantees 
Acceptances 
Ottiu.ll.i11es (net) 
Uunct Import biils 
Undr.wn crt dit ~nes 

7,676,645 

67,697 

75\258 
5.58l93• 

20,497,879 
42,339 

14,643,025 

-l~.260.7;1 r 

3,715,105 
7,930,312 
365,9*0 
(5s.1n1 

707,537 
15.ns.274 

7,676,645 

67,697 

751,258 
5,581,934 

20,497,879 
42,339 

14,643,025 

3,715.105 
7,930,312 
365,940 
(59,172) 

707,537 
15,776.274 

nla 

nla 

nla 
nla 

Refer Note· 

SovtreignRisk. 
92X ol exposure with AAA to A· rated counterparts a,nd 8½ of t 11posure wilh 
BBB• lo BBB- rated coun1e1pa11s 

100-/. of e)tp()sure with AAA to BBB• loca\19 rated countt1rpatts. 

Credit 1isk. Hposure of Group Reoeiu.ab~s 
Soutrelgn Risk. 

Regulatory manda1ed inuestm~nts In lanJ',a Cfe,M 6: CRIB. subject to credit risk 
5.9X ol ei:poswe wilh AAA to AA- .1nd 2½ of erposure with A• to A• locani reated 
coun1etpa1ts. The othNs .1re classified as unrati"d as no local r.1tings have bt"-en 
issutd.H~ver an art perfo,rning as .Jit period end. 

Reier Note• Total credit equivalent of off bis e=posures is: LKR 5.7 bio, of 1"hlch 5J-/. o f the 
exposure is with AAA to 888- counterparts. AU performing u i1t pe1iod end. 

Other 
j -~,c,'oi,ut,,-=-,0,.r1"',,1b.,.,~,,.T•ee'r"',""e""•'-. "',.,·t"',::·,1:'I•,...tc:•,...•cc•°,im;s::::::::: ::::12~~"' .~*!,~~.5}.s"·:oss"",..._· -_-_-_-_-_-:..-_-_-_-_..,_,2TI,•J.•"'.:::;3"°5::a,"'~::.a1~6= 

lnTU:F: 

31st D E-c~mbo:r 2013 

Balances with Central Bank. ol Sri Lanka 

B alances 1itith Banks & Financi.1I Institutions 

Placements i,,ith Bc11nk.s 

Group bc11lc11nce-s receivable 

Investment in Government Securities 
01her investments 

Loans and Adv.tnces 

Total on-balance, sho:~t lt~ms 

Letters of credit 

Guar.antees 

Acceptances 

D~riu•Hues (net) 

Us.tnce Import biils 

Undra\<1n credit lines 

Other 

Note" 

2,607,527 

16,211 

3,200,611 

6,041,558 

15,298,140 

\600 

11,982,229 

39.IH .876 

1,054,286 

8,342,955 

776,842 

1,126 

832,2IO 

11,656,433 

22.653,352 

2,607,527 

16,211 

3,200,611 

6,041,558 

15,298,HO 
1,600 

11,982,229 

1,054.286 

8,342,955 

776,842 

1,126 

832.210 

11,656,433 

22.663,t',52 

D-:-t~ription 
ol cotl<1t~1jl 

nl• 

nla 

nla 
nla 

Refer No te · 

O t<-:.;,:1iptic-r, of 1: redit Qualit1J 

Sovereign Risk. 
66X of exposure with AAA to A- rated counterparts .and 34X of exposure with 
BBB• to BBB- rated counterp.11ts 

100½ of exposure with AAA to BBB-local/g rated counterparts. 

Credit risk exposure of Group Receivables 

Sovereign Risk. 

Regulatory mandated investments in Lank.c11 Clear G: CRIB. subject to credit risk 
classil/ed as unrated as no local ratings ha•Je been issued.However all cire 
peirorrning .as at period end. 

Refer Note• Total c,edit equlv.ale-nt of off bis exposures is LKR 5.8bio. of which 8.7X of the 
exposurt is with AAA to A· counterparts .1nd 39X of the e)lposure is with 888• to 
BBB, counterpc11ts. All performing c11s cit period end. 

Collaterals held are in the form of Parent Co. Guarantees and Stock Mortgage s and since collaterals are provided for the combined f acili1y !i.e. on bis+ off bs). it cannot be split 
accordingly to arrive at net eHposure. Specific collaterals eHist only for staff loans. 

d) Breakdown of exposures subject to credit risk (both on and off-balance sheet) in to 
performing and nonpei-forming (as per regulatory reporting) with related details on collateral 
value, specific provision, write-offs and net exposure, by type-wise and age analysis-wise. 

Please refer combined table under c). 

Below table provides analysis of exposures subject to impairment under both financial and regulatory 
reporting. 
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Gress Out 
Net exposure Met e:q:·csure 

Impairment as ~er Impairment as per as per as I:er 
standing 

financial re I:crting r egulatoIy roe~crtin g financial re~ ulator, 

In • LKP. 
balance re~crting re~ crting 

31st C·ecember 2C i S Specific Collective Spec ific Collective 

Balances \·:ith Central Bank of Sri Lan 7,676,64:, 7,676,645 71676,645 
Balances with Banl:s & Financial lnstit 67 ,697 -57,6si7 €-7,097 
Placements with Banks 7:-1,2:-8 7:-1,25-8 7:-1,258 

Gropup balances recei·: acle : -,:-8'1 ,934 :-,:-e.1,s-2 . .:; :-.:-81 ,934 

lm•estment in Go~·ernment Securities 20,497,879 20A97,S79 20,497,879 
Other in•,•estments 42,339 42,339 42,339 
Loans and Advances 14.543.02:- 3.32S 73,21 =· 14.639-.69:. 14.:-69.809 
7 ctal on-balance s heet rtems 49,260.777 3.329 73.21 =· .;~.25-7.448 49.187.5€2 

Letters of credit 3,71:-,10:, 3,71:-,10:, 3,71:•,10:, 
Guarantees 7,930 ,312 7,930,312 7,930,312 
Acceptances ~=-,~40 3-5E-,940 36:-,940 
Deri-,•afr,•es (net} (:-9, 172} (: -9,172} (S9, 172} 
Undrawn credit lines 707,:-:?7 707,S.37 707,:,37 
Usance Import bills 1 : ., 776,274 1:.,77€-,274 1:-,776,27.; 
Other 
Tela ! cii-balance s heet items 28.43:-.995 28.43:-.995 28.43:-,995 

Gress Out 
Mel e:q:osure Mel exposure 

Impairment as ~er lmi;airment as per as per as r-er 
standing 

financial rer.orting regulate I')' re~crting iinancial regulatory 
In TLKR balance 

rer-orting rer-crting 
~1stOecember2013 Specific Collecfr1e Specific Collective 

Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lan 2,607,527 2,607,S27 2,607,:-27 
Balances with Banks & Financial Instil 15,211 16,211 15,211 
Placements with Banks 3,200,611 3,200,611 3,200,6 '11 
Gropup balances receivat;le 6,041 ,:-SS 6,041,S-S8 6 ,041 ,S-SS 
Investment in Go·.,ernment Securities 1 S,298,140 1 S-,298, 140 1 : -,298, 140 
Other in·restments 1,500 1,600 1,500 
Loans and Advances 11,982.229 : -.00:, S9.911 11 ,977,22.; 11,922.318 
Total en-bala nce sheet it€n1S 39,147.876 : -. 00:- 59.91 1 39.142.872 3S-.087,95S-

Letters of credit 1,054,285 1,0S4,286 1,054,285 
Guarantees S,342,9S-:. 8,342,9:-5 8,342,9SS 
Acceptances 776,842 776,842 776,842 
Deri•1ati·1es (net} 1,126 1,126 1,126 
Undrawn credit lines 11,6!:-o,433 11 ,656-,433 11,0~.6,433 
Usance Import bills S32,210 832,210 832,210 
Other 
Tctal cfi-balance sheet items 22.€53.852 22.663.8:-2 22.663,852 

e) The extent of non-performing loans, that are not considered to be impaired and the reasons 
for this. 

NIA 

ii) Mad.:et Risk 
a) Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate sensitivity gap analysis for contractual and behavioral 

maturities - local and major currencies 
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Sensitivity oi Assets and L1allilit1es 
\(.urrenc:,• . LKR m..;, ; 
A!" al 3.1 Cet 2C I~ 

l!c .::.sc.ets 3nt OBS uitc I - ; ) : e .,;, I· 2 s , , . • < ' - i · IC 10 - I ~ II:. ::r. Q·.•~f ::C rlcr. Tclal 
I ntt1llh /,IG11lh5, Uo11U1!i l,icnlhs :' t!MS Y~ 3.IS ·,·c,us " ears ~• ears ·,tus , 1:ars ! :!f S ·~ ears Sens~r.t 

1 Cash on Hano ?J " 
2 lle~osls ,•,~h CBSL 7,677 7.Ei7 
3 Balances jue from HO!Am ialesl6ranches 

Balances due from Olher Ban•:s 7~0 ;~c 
ln·.·eslments 1,100 5~ 2:?~ ?,,;is s.oe; 11 Ci: 

s Bills of f;.cchonte one Promissory tlch!S 
7 O\•erdratts cS: ;e: eo: 1.?70 1,903 1.50? 1,503 ~ I?:· 
e Loans and U..d·.•ances ,c. 82 s I 13 20 1~ 22 21 27 ;! ,:;.: 
9 Ucn Performiio Lcilns 
10 Fixed Assets 131 I; I 
II Net nter-tranch lransacltcns 
12 Accrued l<llerest 150 I:(, 

13 Other Assets ?SS 26~ 
I! Reverse Rei:os ·~ FR4s 
lo S'.0.'BPS 

17 Futures 
JB Options 
15 FX FWD Contracts- BUY !:13 l.~9S 1.e1& 

lci~I ;;;ea 2.<7; 112& : coc E.s.::: ,: I ;.2:: IE t !?20: ?I 27 ·~= s ~:F.. ~ 1.705 
L1:ittl1MS anc OS $ 

1 Demand Deposrts 7.1~0 I l~C 
2 Savi'l~s Deposils 1?1 13 1 12-1 ~63 328 ~1S 1~Z 328 €~1 ::.f ,it 
3 Time Oepcsits I.BB• 72 ss.: 1,frl :'.: 

Olher Deposh 
Balonces due lo HO;Arru .. 1es.t!!ranches •o cc 

s Balance due to other Bon~s 
7 Certificate of Ceposils 
B Other Borrowings 
5 llet lnter-branc.h lrans3Clions 3,106 Z 1,;i 

10 BWs Payatle 
II lnlerest Pa1••ble 30 ~c 
12 Pro,•;,ions (Others) ~33 

,,, 
13 Cap~al ~.ooe ?,fl)t 
I! Reserves •. 155 < 19~ 
I~ Retained Earnings ... Current year Profrts 1,5C8 1 ~ae 
IS Subordinate Debts 
17 Olher (Specify) 
IS Repcs 
·IS FR"-s 
20 Futures 
21 Swaps 
22 Collons 

Teto! 2 Ci5 2C.! 1~1 I c,~.; 2:!f. :::~ :2c 1.2s.:. :::; I& Su ::: c~ 
G•c i-, ·- :: c; ? 2.Ct:i: '!, 1.1!: 5;:,7 1~1S) 1.:~~ i"l.257:, l.Z:I;~ 21 27 :: r 11t~2C~ c .. c,g, 

Upte 1-:! '!. ~ = .J! 1 - :: 2 -'! : - .: ! - ':, :-7 t - IC ·10 - ts 1: -1C O·,er 2C lt(lr, Teto! 
1 1n.-:11th IJcnln~ l.lcnths. J.h:nlhs v e.irs "~us •tears ··•ears ·teJrs vtors ·"?~tMS ·~·eaa ·•ears Senslr:e-

Unes of credit conlf'Nttec! to rlstiuti::ns and 
olher borrowers 
Unutilise:! portion c1 o~•erd'ran.. leans anc! 
a;Svances 72 72 
Letters of crcdil.lguaranteesl acce.tances 10.:. e~~ 007 J5 I 19 S7 26 ~ C7~ 
Repo/Bi ls redisccunIed/S\·1aps/F0rward 
canlrads (LKR noainst Other currencies: 1.2€S l .2l~ 3.772 1.0~1 r ~o~ 
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Sensitivity of Assets ancl l ial)ilities 
(Currenq 1 - USC rr.tc ;, 
.i:.s Jt ?,t Cec 201= 
!!(' ..:.ss-els ant! C :"S JJpto i -~ ~-= 5 -12 1- ::: 2 -3 :? . ; .:. €, ~ - ;' 7 - IC IC. 1: 15 • 2C o·,cr::c Men l cl;:sl 

1 month r.1cn1t1s l,lonths 1,lcnlhs l ears Years ":/tars ': t'U S ·:'E-ars -.,,:3rs / cars v i:;ars Years Sensitr.'C 
1 Cash on Hand 0.0 oc 
2 Oe~oslts wih CBSL 
z Balances due from HO/Affiriat,s,"ilranches 21.i 21 ; 

Balances due from Olher Banks 
tnveslments 20.0 30.0 ;c C 

6 Bills of Exchange an::! Prcmlssor,- t!otes 
7 o-.. erjralts o.s 0.9 o.s I.S 2.! 2.~. 2.! l<.C 
6 Loans and Ad·.·ances 13.3 I:., 
s llon Performin; Leans 
10 Ft<e~ fa.ssets 
11 Itel Inter-branch Transactions 
12 Accrued Interest 
13 Other Assets 0.6 (. <· 
1< Re·.·ese Re~os 
1~ FRAs 
16 Swaps 
17 futures 
18 O~ticns 
13 FX FWD Contracts- BUY 7.0 6.8 20.5 S.~ ~~ a 

"ictal " 1 6 7.7 21.~ i .~ 2.2.:: ~ - ~ 2: 22.e. 1~S 2-
Uat ilrties anC OSS 

t Demand Oetosits 10.9 IC.~ 
2 Sa·, ini;s Ceposlts 0.1 0. 1 0.1 0. 1 0.3 0.3 0.3 I.~ 
3 Tane Deposits 

Oiher Ce~os~s 
Balances due tc HO/AffdiatesJBranches oi.so 30.0 S-7.~C 

6 Balance due lo other ean~s 
j Certifocate of Cepcsl s 
8 Olher e0rr0·.·1ings 
s Itel lnter-tronch Transactions 

·10 Bilis Payable 
11 Interest Pa1atle 1.1 1.1 
12 Pro-.,tSSOns • income tax 
13 Capitol 7.2 7.2 
1, Reser:ves 2.0 :?.O 
15 Retained Earnings 1.0 3.< < 8 
16 Subordinate Debts 0.7 0.7 
17 Other ( FCBU(USC) GLLP,'PV) 
16 Repos 
19 FRAs 
20 Futures 
21 Swaps 
21 Octicns 

Tctal €7.E C.1 1.0 ~-.t' ~c.:. 0.1· 0.3 21.9 12! .. ~ 
G i1 0 1:;: .. 7) 7.~ 20.G ;,_; 2.2 ,o:?.:- 2.: (C.?,} • = L • • C.7 ·12-.0 

U~lc ! - ~- 2, . s $ -12 1 • 2 2 -Z ' . .:. - ~ ::, -: 7 . 10 IC · ·t f 1::-• .:0 Ovfr 2C ltcn Total 
1 mcnth l,lcnlhs 1.tcnlhs I.tenths .. r'ears ·ye~rs V ears Y cus Ytars '-• tars Y ears " 1!:ars Years Sens'ti·:e 

Lines of credit et:mmlted to inst~utions an:! 
other torrowers 
Unutilised i:orticn of o·,erdraft. lcans and 
ad•,ances 
Letters of creddlguarantees.:acce~tences 13.8 9.~ 10.3 2.3 2.1 0.8 ~-S .: .!.:: 
Repc!Bills re:! isccunte~waps/f or.01ard 
contracts (USD eoeinsl Other currencies~ 2.8 7.0 s-.i 

b) Equity Position Risk - Type, carrying value, fair value, realised gains/(losses) and unrealised 
gains/(losses) for the reporting period and amounts included in capital adequacy calculation. 

NIA 

c) Foreign Exchange Risk - Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities (both on and off-
balance sheet) broken down by maturity bands, illustrating currency-wise maturity gaps, c umulative 
maturity gaps and net open posit ion. 
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eanr-: . Deutscl1e Banf; '-,G - Col,Jm~•) 9rancl1 
t-.s at enc •)f · 21 st Decem ; er. 2019 

Sp,)l 

RISK MANAGMENT 

For,,varc:(a) I lei 
N:t Position Cverall 

in >J tl1er exp-Jsure in 

i.li•J 
cv.,,rall 

~\1;osur~ 
CurrenC•i t.ssets LiaOililiE:s l·lel ~.ss : ts Lta~ililias Hel Cpen e,,:11ange resr::er.tive in Sri Lanf:a11 

US Dollars 
Pound Sterling 
Euro 
Japanese Yen 
Indian Rupee 
Australian Dollar 
Canadian Dollar 
Other Currencies 
SGD 
CHF 
SEK 
MYR 
HKD 
THB 
CNH 
T•Jlal E,sp,JSUE: 

• ('.<: • (2:• 
104.9 119.3 

0.1 0.1 
8.9 8.5 
2.1 3.6 

0.2 0.1 
0.0 0.0 

, . .: :•=('.!rr31 ' (~' r \ ;;",; 

(14.3) 41 .3 14.0 
0.0 
0.4 0.0 0.0 

(1.4} 307.5 302.7 

0.0 
0.0 

Total capital run-:!s as 1:er 111,, latest au,:ite,~ financial statements (f) 

Fositi-:,n 
(7 )=(:"}•(t3~ ' ,:a· 

27.3 13.0 
0.0 

(0.0) 0.3 
4.8 3.4 

0.0 
0.0 

C•Jnlrar:ls 
• (9: 

fur;ign ,:urri;:nc~-
, (10} ' 

13.0 
0.0 
0.3 
3.4 

0.0 
0.0 

0.0 
0.0 
0.1 

0.0 
0.0 
0.1 

Total e:<p,Js1Jre as % of t,Jtal capital fun,:!s as per 111a l3test audited financial statements (sl1vulc not exceect 30%) 

For foreign cu1Tency denominated gap analysis, please refer USO table under Liquidity risk. 

iii) Liquidity Risk 

Rupees 
(1 1} 
2.349.6 

0.2 
69.2 

5.7 

1.1 
1.5 

0.2 
0.2 
1.1 

0.8 
0.1 
1.5 

2.~3 1 
12.002 

Liquidity risk is the risk arising from our potentia l inability to meet all payment obligations when they 
come due or only being able to meet these obligations at excessive costs. 

The objective of the Liquidity Risk Management (LRM) function is to ensure that Deutsche Bank 

(DB) can fulfil its payment obligations at all times. All relevant and significant drivers of liquidity 

risk, on balance sheet as well as off-balance sheet, must be taken into account. Prices of all asset and 

liability types need to reflect their liquidity risk characteristics and the Bank's cost of funding. 

a) Trend in key liquidity ratios including, SLAR, LCR, net loans to total assets, loans to customer 
deposits, liquid assets to short term liabi lities, commitments to liquid assets and NSFR. 

Ratios: 2 ·1-['.::c-lS 2C1£' 
Q·t 0 2 Q:? 0 4 

Statutory Liquid Assets Ratio (Sl t,,R} 
- C·omestic Banf;ing unit '10:-% 84~~ 8:-% 77"/'c 79~·C 
- Off-Shore Banf,ing unit CCD,' 

.,., ICI a,e,a,'c 171% 12°,-c 81% 
Liquidity Co·terage Ratio (LCR} 
-All Currenc~' 338% : -38% 322% 30$% ~-11 % 
- Rupee 725~•;; 828% :..s901c 432%, 3·89'%1 
Met Stabl:: Funding Ratio 1:t,ISFR} MIA 154% 131% 120% 1?0% 
Met loans to total assets -ca.r Lv IC 3""' . ,. 3-0, L. IC 

--oar L..., ,c 2e1% 
Loans to customer deposits 7B0/0 73% 8j~•C ....... a, 

(Ole 88%, 
Liquid assets tc short term liabilities 141% 130% 117% 11:-% 118% 
Commitments to Li::iuid assets 3c0, .. : , c :.2~ .. , 40% 38% 45°,'c 

b) Currency-wise (local and major cu1Tencies) maturity gaps of assets and liabilities (to cover 
both on and off-balance sheet assets and liabilities). 
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l•Jlatunties of Assets ancl Liabilities (lvlAL) 
iCurrency - LKR mic ;• 
.::.sat :.i Cec 2C IS-

Heads cf .Lcccunts U,:-lo 
f-/o Item l n1cnll1 

- Inflows 
1 Cash on Hand 33 
2 Oepostts ·,·:tth CBSL 7,023 
3 Balances due from Hea:l Office, Affiiates an:l Own branches 
4 Balances due from Other Banl:s 750 
C ln.,estm:nts (I-let cf pro·:isions} 1,100 
c BiUs of Exchange 
i Overdraft 58S 
8 Loans and Ad·,ances 3:,4 
!l NPLs 

10 Net Inter-Branch Transactions 
11 Other .t..ssets 3! 
12 Lines of credtt committed from instttutions 
13 Reverse Repo 
1~ Accrued Interest 5 
1: , Fi.<e: Assets 
16 lnterbranch recei·,ables 
ti FX f 1;,o Contracts- BUY 

lctal (a'i g_ge . .:; 
C Outflcv,s 

Demand Deµostts ·t ,432 
~ Sa•,.ings Deµostts 131 
3 Balances due to Hea:l Office;Affiliates/Own Branches 40 
4 Balances due from Other Banl;s 
5 Time and Other Depostts ·t ,8~ 
c Certificates of Depostts, Borrowings & Bonds 
7 Met Inter-branch Transactions 1,675 
s Bills Payable 
9 Interest Payable 30 

10 Prc'.'isions other than for lean lesses and depreciation in the 
,•aloe of investment portfofio 

11 Other Liabirrties 39 
12 Lines cf c redtt committed to insrnuticns 

13 Unutilized portion of o ... erdraft, Loans and Ad·,•ances 8 
14 Letters of Credtt; Guarantees/Acceptances 3"' ~. 
1~- Repo/Bills Rediscounte:l,'Swaps/Fcrward contracts 1,2::S 
16 Capttal & Reser.•es . 
1i Retained Earnincs + Current '.'ear Ercftts 

Tctal ib} 7.CE-5' 
Gae= ra :. - i'b~· 2.9"l5 
Cumulatr.1c- Gae, 2.S-15 
Cumulati·ie Liabilities 7.C6S-
Cumul3ti·..-e Gao as a% c f Cumulafr,e Liabilities 41% 
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l.lcnt~s 

11: 

9~ 

58: 
~2 

113 

:-23 
2.=cs 

1,432 
131 

72 

80 

6 
€~~ 

1,234 

:,,ECO 
( i .0St4) 
·t.820 

10.c-€& 
·17% 

:!• - e. € - !: S- - 12 1 · 2 ~ - 5 O\~e-r 5 
l,l cnths r.!cnths l,!cnlh,; Years ":,.ears 'Fears 

6: 6 0 60 
.. ~c• .:a. 240 

"?C L,- 2,787 642 ~.0~5 2 

585 EBS 58: 1,903 1,;02- 1,903 
9 1 ·ts 3S 13:-. 

27~ S7 

31 
131 

1,295 
2.~-!~- ~--~2-2 ·I,~~-: i .200 ·1.,e::. 2.4~e. 

1,074 i1S 716 1,iSO 
131 13-1 131 C-Si 6S7 6~•7 

3 95~ 

1,232 

6 133 174 

5 C ~- 14 14 15 
607 3C1 76 20 

3,772 1,031 
7,806 

1,:-68 
f .. ::,9C 1.222. ~-.:34 1.eso Ei l 11.<22 

,·3-_1:.~,i 2.30& ·1.s~r, :-.121 1.2,10 16.9~-=-: 
( 1.:.:::~.:- 6E2 1.1 14) 4.2Ci" : -,:-21 i2-. .1~-4:• 
1:-,2::-£> 11.4e.2 1.CEE- Z2-.04S 22.7'17 ~-=•.1 :?-Si 

-f:% !:-% -~-%- 1e% 22-% -IC% 
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r•,,laturities of Assets and Liabilities (MAL) 
(Currenc:-' - USD mlc ; 
;,..~ st 2, I Dec 2CH: 

He~::!E cf ~.i::ccunts Upt,; 
lie. Item 1 111cnth 
,.::.. lnffc,.-,s 

Cash on Hand 0.0 
2 Deposits with CBSL 
3 Balances due from Head Office, Affiliates and O·,·,•n branches 21.7 
~ Balances due from Other Banl:s 
5 ln·:estm~nts (Met cf ~ro·..-isicns} 20.0 

" Bills of Exchange 
7 O·:erdralt o.s-
s leans and Ad·.-ances 12.!? 
g liPLs 

10 l·let Inter-Branch Transactions 
1·1 Other Assets 0.S. 
12 Lines of credit committed from institutions 
13 Other 
14 FX FWD Contracts- BUY 7.0 

lclal (J i 5.4.-i 
B Outflc\".'s 
1 Dem·and Deposits 2.2 
2 Sa\•lngs Deposits 0 
3 Balances due to Head Office/AffilialeslOwn Branches ""C c, ..... 
-1 Balances due from Other Banl;s 
5 Time De~osits 
6 Certificates of Oe~osits, Bo rrowings I'.. Bends 
7 Net Inter-branch Transactions 
8 Bills Payable 
9 Interest Payat,le 1.1 

Prc·:isicns ether than for loan losses and depreciation in the value cf 
10 in•,•estment pcrtfofio 
11 Other liatiltties 0.7 
12 Lines. of credit committed to institutions 

'13 Unutilized portion of O\•erdraft, Loans and Advances 
1.; Letters of Credit1 Guarantees/Acceptances 13.S 
·ts Repo/Bills Rediscounted.lSwaps!Fcrward contracts 
·10 Cai:rtal & Reser.-es 
17 Retained Earninos •current •:ear ercfrts 

,eta! , t,J e:.2. 
Gao = (a 'i - (bi (2.C.9~ 
Cumulative Ga D (20.9~ 
CumulaUve Lisbilities 8~-.3 
Cumulative Gsr.- as J % "i CumulatI·.'e Liabilities -2f-% 

'l - 3 ~-S E, - 9 9 - 12 I - 2· 2-- ~ 
l,lcnths l,!cntlis t,l o111hs l,lonll1s ' 'ears Years 

30.0 

0.!f o.s o.e 0.9 2.5 2.5 

8.8 20.~ S.5 
7.7 Zl.4 €,,.; r. '-, .. 2-2.~ 2.S 

2.2 U: 1.1 1.1 
0 0 0 0 0 0 

30.0 

S.S 10.3 2.2· 2.e 
2.S i.O 

1A 3.4 
14.i' :C0.4 3-.~- 4.6 2-~-.2 G,2, 
l7.C) 1.C 2.£· (3.. 7 ) (c.7 '.• 2:.2 

(27.S'.· 12.6.~\ {22,.Sr:, (27.::.:, i2.3.3'.· r2.e-. I'. 
1 CC.O I 2C.4 122,.S 12S~ 1e-1.s le:1.S 
-28~.; -22~·i: -H~% -,"")Cl - , , ,c -1e.% -·12-~~ 

c) Measurement tools/metrics that assess the structure of balance sheet, as well as metrics that project 
cash flows and future liquidity positions, taking into account off-balance sheet risks which specific to 
the Branch. 

At the country level, DB Colombo ALCO expresses its tolerance for liquidity risk by reviewing and 
approving the annual funding plan and liquidity risk drivers (LRDs) for effective liquidity stress 
testing and by setting and approving liquidity risk limits, in line with the tolerance/risk appetite 
applied and approved by LRM on an annual basis or more frequently if required. DB Colombo ALCO 
acknowledges the stress testing results, which is pe1formed on a daily basis and this assesses the sho1t 
term liquidity risk tolerance. This is reported to the ALCO at its regular meetings. The Funding 
Matrix addresses the long-term liquidity risk of the DB Colombo. Funding Matrices for all major 
currencies shall be prepared on at least monthly basis and repotted to the ALCO. 

Funding Matrix (FM) is constructed to determine and analyse the structural funding profile on the 
longer end. For this purpose, all funding relevant items are analysed and bucketed according to their 
contractual or modelled maturity over a time horizon of above one year out to year I 0. From the 
cumulative term profile, the excess or shortfall of term liabilities and assets in each time bucket can be 
determined, serving as input for the discussion of potential action to fund the balance sheet. 

The FM is compiled on a monthly bas is and is distributed by Liquidity and Treasury Repo1ting and 
Analysis (L TRA) to relevant stakeholders. 
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d) Key metrics that management monitors liquidity, including, but not limited to, concentration limits 
and sources of funding (both products and counterparties), liquidity exposures and funding needs at 
the level of individual legal entities, foreign branches and subsidiaries, taking into account legal, 
regulatory and operational limitations on the transferability of liquidity. 

Monitoring of Liquidity Risk Limits and Concentrations 

Several tools and metrics are used to measure and manage liquidity and funding risk at DB Colombo 
level. 

• The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR): The Liquidity Coverage Ratio is a pre-defined regulatory 
stress metric. CBSL's Bank Supervision Department implemented Basel III liquidity standards on 
liquidity coverage ratio for licensed commercial banks and licensed specialized banks effective 
from I April 2015. Banks shall comply with the minimum requirement of 60%, and the minimum 
requirement will be enhanced annually by 10% from OJ January 2016 to reach 100% by I January 
20 I 9 for all currency and LKR. Also CBSL expects banks to closely monitor LCR by significant 
currency . . 
LCR is repo1ted to ALCO by local Finance on an on-going and monthly basis for regular 

monitoring. LCR is also repo1ted to ALCO via weekly Liquidity Dashboard (LOB) to regular 

monitoring and compliance. Detailed trend analyses and LCR forecasts based on projected cash 

flows are discussed on at least qua1terly basis at ALCO by Treasury, to ensure Branch complies 

with regulatory LCR requirements where Branch has sufficient liquid funds to fulfil its payment 
obligations at all times. 

• Intra-group funding lines and utilisation: DB Colombo obtains funding lines from DB Group 
when required. Intra-group funding is governed by the Credit Risk Management ("CRM") cross 
border funding limit process and daily Intra-group utilization report is distributed by L TRA to 
Treasury, LRM, and CRM via email for monitoring purpose. 

• Local liquidity stress testing: local stress testing for liquidity risk is performed on a daily basis and 
assesses the short term liquidity risk tolerance of DB Colombo. The stress testing gives the 
analysis of the DB Colombo's ability to withstand predefined stress events. 

• Liability Diversification Target: External liabilities are raised through Deutsche Bank AG, 
Colombo Branch. The ALCO approves the funding plan on an annual basis. Large fund (Top IO 
depositors) providers: max. 30% for warning level, 35% for trigger level of the balance sheet 
Compliance with the threshold is monitored via the ALCO. In case the above concentration ratio 
is exceeded, ALCO will review whether funding alternatives are required. 

• Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR): Furthermore Central Bank of Sri Lanka issuing Banking Act 
Direction 08 of 2018 on 21 Nov 2018, implemented Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) under 
Basel III liquidity standards for licensed commercial banks (LCBs) and licensed specialized banks 
(LSBs) effective OJ January 2019. Banks are expected to comply with the minimum regulato1y 
requirement of 90% effective O 1 Jan 2019 and the minimum will be increased to I 00% effective 
01 July 2019. For monitoring purposes, NSFR results will be reported by local Finance to ALCO 
and same will be repo1ted via regular Liquidity Dashboard repo1ts and ALCO meeting materials 
from 2019 onwards to ensure ongoing compliance. 

The DB AG Colombo ALCO receives status repo1ts on limit utilisation, stress testing, funding 
diversification and other liquidity risk indicators in the form of a Liquidity Dashboard. Warning and 
trigger levels are defined for selected risk indicators to ensure timely and appropriate action is taken 
in line with the Contingency Funding Plan. 
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Key liquidity ratios and figures are monitored in the ALCO report on a regular bas is and form basis of 
the quarterly Risk Capital Profile (RCP) report. 

Liquidity risk concentrations can be found along products, regions, currencies, tenors and clients, and 
may arise from DB Colombo's potential inability to meet all payment obligations when due, or to 
on ly meet these obligations at excessive costs. 

Treasury may decide to temporarily reduce limits in the event of contingency s ituations to reduce 
potential liquidity risk. Additi onal local contingency measures form part of a local contingency plan. 

iv) Operational Risk 

a) Major operational viz. system or human, failures and financial losses incurred by the bank due to such 
failures during the reporting period. 

There have been no major operational viz. system or human, failures and financia l losses incurred by 
the Branch due to such failures during the repo1ting period. Two OR Loss events were re po1ted during 
the period with total Gross Loss of EUR 16.03k. 

b) Details of activities that have been outsourced together with parties and basis for payment for such 
services. 

Deutsche Bank is involved in Outsourcing which involves procurement of activities, functions or 

processes from vendors in connection with the execution of banking transactions, financial services 

or other typical activ ity of a DB Legal Entity which would otherwise be carried out by the outsourcing 

DB Legal Entity. DB Colombo also is benefitting from services provided via other DB entities within 

DB Group. 

With respect to activities outsourced locally, a few non-core activities have been outsourced to third 

party vendors. Such activities are performed within the DB Colombo premises under the supervision 

of DB Colombo staff excluding cash pick-up, document archival, and processing of payroll which are 

handled o utside DB Colombo premises. 

With reference to locally perfonned activities by third pa,t ies, payments are made on the basis of 
duties performed and rates have been negotiated between the Branch and vendors. Payments are 
based on the scope of work delivered. 

c) Details of du e diligence tests of third party service providers. 

Deutsche Bank Colombo Branch carries out due diligence tests on the third patty service providers 
globally/ regionally for the activities handled at the Regional Smart Sourcing Cente rs located in major 
Hubs. 
With regard to locally outsourced activities, necessary due diligence tests are carried out on an annual 
basis covering corporate records, shareholder information, bus iness contracts, legal and financial data, 
management/ staff review, litigation, a udit, filing, insurance, business continu ity etc. 

v) Interest Rate risk in the Ba nking Book (IRRBB) 

As per DB global policy, only Corporate and Investment Bank (CIB) is allowed to run market risk. 
The majority of the Group interest rate risk arising from non-trading asset and liability pos itions, has 
been transferred through internal transactions to the Treasury, subj ect to banking book value at risk 
limits. Treasury hedges the transferred net banking book risk with CIB trading books. CIB interest 
rate risk is managed on the basis of trading book VaR as reflected in trading po1tfolio figures. 

133 



Deutsche Bank AG, Colombo branch 
, ' 1;: •,J J : ,:.;t_hr.-•1:-~~; ~~ . . , ')1! (>:.- ·Hii<•1 : l ,1J 1 ·, RISK MANAGMENT 

However, there may be smal l residual FX or interest rate risk that remains on overnight basis while 
covering and facilitating client flows. 
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